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Corporate Profile
公司簡介

Binhai Investment Company Limited   Incorporated: Bermuda
   

 100%

Winstar Venture Limited   Incorporated: BVI
Winstar Venture Limited   

 100%

Binhai Investment Hong Kong Limited   Incorporated: Hong Kong
   

Shareholding
 

100%
Tianjin Binhai Xinda Real Estate Company Limited   Incorporated: Tianjin

   

100%

Incorporated

100%
Tianjin TEDA Binhai Clean Energy Group Company Limited Tianjin

100%
Tianjin HuaTai Xinda Gas Company Limited Tianjin

100%
Tianjin Taigang Gas Company Limited Tianjin

100%
Tianjin BinNing Gas Company Limited Tianjin

80%
Tianjin BinMing Gas Company Limited Tianjin

100%
Tianjin Bintou Xinzhi Technology Company Limited Tianjin

51%
Tianjin Taihe Heating Company Limited Tianjin

100%
Beijing Airport Wah Sang Gas Company Limited Beijing

90%
Sanhe TEDA Gas Company Limited Hebei Province

85%
Zhuozhou Binhai Gas Company Limited Hebei Province

100%
Qinhuangdao TEDA Gas Company Limited Hebei Province

100%
Tangshan Binhai Gas Company Limited Hebei Province

100%
Tangshan TEDA Gas Company Limited Hebei Province

Binhai Investment (Tianjin) Company Limited   Incorporated: Tianjin
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98%
Jizhou Binhai Gas Company Limited Hebei Province

100%
Anxin TEDA Gas Company Limited Hebei Province

99.82%
Qingyuan Binhai Gas Company Limited Hebei Province

100%
Zibo Jin Bin Gas Company Limited Shandong Province

100%
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100%
Dezhou Binhai Gas Company Limited Shandong Province

80%
Qingdao TEDA Gas Company Limited Shandong Province

100%
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100%
Zhaoyuan Binhai Gas Company Limited Shandong Province

100%

100%

Yishui Binhai Gas Company Limited Shandong Province

100%

Rizhao Binhai Gas Company Limited Shandong Province

100%

100%

Yizheng TEDA Gas Company Limited Jiangsu Province

100%

Nanjing Binhai Gas Company Limited Jiangsu Province

100%

Nanjing Lvyuan Gas Company Limited Jiangsu Province

Nanjing Jinping Gas Company Limited Jiangsu Province

100%
Yizheng Jin Bin Gas Company Limited Jiangsu Province

100% Fengxian Binhai Gas Company Limited Jiangsu Province

Gaoan TEDA Gas Company Limited Jiangsu Province

Liuyang Binhai Gas Company Limited Hunan Province

Hainan TEDA New Energy Company Limited Hunan Province

100%

100%

Zhaoyuan TEDA Gas Company Limited Shandong Province

100%
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公司簡介

90%
Deqing Binhai Gas Company Limited Zhejiang Province

100%
Haiyan Tian Tai Gas Company Limited Hunan Province

100%
Taicheng Clean Energy Group Company Limited Zhejiang Province

100%
Shenzhen Binhai Energy Company Limited Guangdong Province
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Financial Highlights
財務摘要

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023
Changes

HK$’000 HK$’000 Percentage

Revenue 6,197,801 6,406,681 -3%
Gross profit 569,477 748,979 -24%
Profit for the year 209,261 263,422 -21%
Profit for the year 

attributable to owners 
of the Company

 

199,775 256,612 -22%

HK cents HK cents Percentage

Earnings per Ordinary 
Share

— Basic  14.6 19.0 -23%
— Diluted  14.6 18.9 -23%

Percentage Percentage
Percentage 

point

Gross profit margin 
(Note) 9.2% 11.7% -2.5

Profit margin for the 
year (Note) 3.4% 4.1% -0.7

     



9Annual Report 2024  9Annual Report 2024 

Financial Highlights
財務摘要

• • 

• • 
 

As at 31 December

2024 2023
Changes

HK$’000 HK$’000 Percentage

Current assets 1,121,309 1,875,411 -40%
Total assets 7,749,788 8,590,782 -10%
Total equity 2,304,146 2,320,551 -1%
Current liabilities 3,022,671 4,051,960 -25%
Total liabilities 5,445,642 6,270,231 -13%

Percentage Percentage
Percentage 

point

Average finance costs  
(Note) 5.3% 5.5% -0.2

Return on average 
equity (Note) 9.0% 11.5% -2.5

     

Note:

Definitions

•	 Gross profit margin •	 Average finance costs
Gross profit divided by 

Revenue
Weighted average interest 

expenses divided by Weighted 
average borrowings

•	 Profit margin for the year •	 Return on average equity
Profit for the year divided by 

Revenue
Profit attributable to owners 

of the Company during the 
year  d iv ided by Average 
e q u i t y  a t t r i b u t a b l e  t o 
owners of the Company
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Chairman’s Statement
主席報告

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Binhai 
Investment Company L imi ted ( the “Company” ) ,  I  am 
delighted to present the annual report of the Company 
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year 
ended 31 December 2024. The Group recorded a revenue 
of approximately HK$6.20 bil l ion for the year ended 31 
December 2024 (2023: HK$6.41 billion), which represented 
a decrease of approximately 3% compared with previous 
year. Profit of the Group amounted to approximately HK$209 
million for the year (2023: HK$263 million), representing a 
decrease of approximately 21% from previous year.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

In 2024, China recorded a 5% economic growth, which was 
marked by a stable economic and progressive landscape. 
The sustained effects of domestic macroeconomic policies 
continued to materialize, driving a robust upturn in natural 
gas consumpt ion. The annual  apparent consumpt ion 
surpassed the 400-billion-cubic-metre threshold, reaching 
426.05 billion cubic meters, representing an 8% year-on-
year increase, according to the data from the National 
Development and Reform Commission. The international 
natural gas market was influenced by a combination of 
multiple factors, including global economic slowdown, high 
inventory levels in Europe and the United States, and the 
weakening marginal impact of geopolitical factors on the 
international energy market. These factors have struck an 
overall balance between the supply and demand of natural 
gas, with narrowing price volatil ity. Due to the reduced 
external disturbances and steadily-growing natural gas 
supply, the domestic natural gas market featured an overall 
loose supply and demand situation, with its pricing declining 
year-on-year. Confronting complex and volatile business 
climates both domestically and globally, the Group adopted 
agi le operat ional strategies and pursued a diversi f ied 
development roadmap to enhance growth quality. The 
Group has been selected as one of the “Double-Hundred 
Enterprises” by the State-owned Assets Supervision and 
Administration Commission of the State Council for the 
fourth year in a row and was awarded the “Outstanding” 
grade of the local “Double-Hundred Enterprises” for 2023.

62.0 64.1
3%

2.09 2.63
21%

5%

4,000
4,260.5 8%
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Chairman’s Statement
主席報告

In 2024, total gas sales of the Group reached a record high, 
exceeding 2.51 billion cubic metres, of which, piped natural 
gas sales reached 1.71 billion cubic metres, a year-on-year 
increase of 6%. Such sales volume was primarily attributable 
to the sales of natural gas to domestic and industrial users 
through gas pipeline. In terms of the gas passing through 
service business, the business involves transporting gases 
for clients mainly through gas pipeline networks and charges 
passing through fees. During the year, gas passing through 
reached 0.80 billion cubic metres, a year-on-year increase 
of 32%. Among total gas sales, the proportion of industrial 
and commercial customers exceeded 85%, indicating a 
clear advantage in customer structure. Besides, the Group 
also offers construction and gas pipeline installation service, 
which mainly involves constructing gas pipelines for its 
clients and connecting such pipelines to the Group’s main 
gas pipeline networks. The Group then charges construction 
and gas pipeline installation service fees from industrial and 
commercial customers, property developers and property 
management companies. The number of regular customers 
from the construction and installation of gas engineering 
works of the Group increased by about 70,000 year-on-year, 
with an aggregate number of customers amounting to about 
2.44 million in 2024, fully demonstrating the excellence of 
the Group in market expansion and operating efficiency.

Over recent years, China has been actively promoting its 
natural gas storage and transportation infrastructure. The 
commissioning of major projects such as the West-East Gas 
Pipeline Route IV and the China-Russia East Route, along 
with the completion and operation of numerous Liquefied 
Natural Gas (LNG) terminals across the country, has put the 
“National Unified Pipeline Network” drive on a faster track. 
This has optimised the gas transmission and distribution 
network and delivered more flexible resource allocation and 
better mutual support capabilities of the pipeline system. 
Against this backdrop, the Group has refreshed its efforts in 
the optimisation of the upstream and downstream industrial 
chain as one of its development priorities during the “14th 
Five-Year Plan” period. The Northern China operating region 
of the Group is strategically located at a natural gas hub. 
Gas pipel ines have achieved interconnection with four 
major LNG receiving stations around the Beijing-Tianjin-

25.1
17.1

6%

8.0
32%

85%

7.0
244

(LNG)

LNG
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Chairman’s Statement
主席報告

Hebei region. In the upstream segment of the industrial 
chain, other than using “three barrels of oil” (i.e. CNPC, 
SINOPEC and CNOOC) as the main gas source, the Group 
has also successively signed gas purchase contracts with 
multiple new gas suppliers within the year, including Beijing 
Gas Group (Tianjin) Natural Gas Sales Company Limited, a 
subsidiary of Beijing Gas Group Co. Ltd., HCIG New Energy 
Supply Chain Management Co. Ltd., a subsidiary of China 
Suntien Green Energy Corporation Limited, and Yonghe 
Guoxin Gas Sales Co. Ltd., a subsidiary of Shanxi Huaxin 
Gas Sales Co. Ltd. These efforts have created a more 
diversified and competitive composition of gas sources and 
have enabled the Group’s resource pool in Northern China 
to take shape, robustly sustaining future business growth 
and resource integration.

During the year, the Group made significant progress in 
developing the industrial chain terminal market, leveraging 
the coordinated management of its own resource pool. 
The Group has signed contracts for several major projects, 
including the Suntien’s Rolling-one Steel Natural Gas Supply 
Project, Kunlun Jinre Thermal Gas Incremental Project, and 
Huaneng Power Plant Natural Gas Incremental Project. The 
successful development of these projects demonstrates the 
Group’s ability to upgrade and expand its customer base 
in a multi-dimensional manner, which will help the Group to 
scale-up its gas sales volume, thereby further enhancing 
the Group’s brand position and influence in the natural gas 
market.

The Group’s va lue-added serv ice business has seen 
sustained growth, with gross profit increased year-on-year 
by 9.6% to HK$54.7 mill ion and a four-year compound 
annual growth rate of approximately 42%. The business 
mainly consists of four sub-businesses, namely smal l 
installations, kitchen appliances sales, insurance sales and 
non-residential paid maintenance. During the year, the Group 
established a specialized operating company for the “Gas+” 
value-added service business. In August 2024, the Group 
officially launched the value-added service brand “Taiyuejia 

( )”, marking a new development stage of the value-
added service business. The brand, centering on the core 
philosophy of “Peace of Mind, Joyful Living, and Quality 

9.6% 5,470
42%

+
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Chairman’s Statement
主席報告

Products”, aims for a high reputation and outstanding cost 
performance to deliver one-stop smart home solutions 
that are safe and convenient. Taiyuejia has integrated and 
operated the value-added services segment, manufacturing 
and sel l ing kitchen appliances, gas security products, 
and other related items. In addition, the Group has forged 
cooperation with North China Municipal Engineering Design 
& Research Institute Co., Ltd. to strictly control product 
quality and safety performance at the source for users’ 
safety. This has enhanced the market competitiveness of 
our products. With the continuous improvement of domestic 
users’ demand for gas safety, products under the Taiyuejia 
brand will continue to iterate and upgrade based on the 
dual goals of safety and quality, and will grow into a new 
business module of the Company in the future to assist the 
Group to further enhance its strength and profitability as a 
whole.

The Group has harvested remarkable results in scientific 
research and innovation. Specifically, Binhai Investment 
(Tianjin) Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company 
participated in the organisation and initiation of the group 
standard of the Technical Specification for Load Analysis 

of Integrated Energy Planning and Design (
), which cemented the Group’s 

importance in the industry. Another subsidiary of the 
Company, T ianj in Bintou Xinzhi  Technology Co.,  Ltd. 
(“Bintou Xinzhi”) has obtained the qualification certification 
for Nat ional High-tech Enterpr ise (NHE), accelerat ing 
the transformation and market-oriented progress of R&D 
outcomes, and continuing to inject continuous momentum 
into the sustainable and sound development of the gas 
industry. Bintou Xinzhi has also been included in the 2024 
fifth batch of national technology-based small and medium-
sized enterprises in Tianjin. Tianjin TEDA Binhai Clean Energy 
Group Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, has 
been honored with the title of “Top 100 Leading Enterprises 
in Tianjin”. Its project “Non-Residential Gas Safety Intelligent 

Service Platform ( )” was 
honored with the Excellence Award for Quality Improvement 
Projects in Binhai New Area, Tianjin. These achievements 
have manifested the solid strength and huge potential of the 
Group in scientific research and innovation.
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Chairman’s Statement
主席報告

(OECD) 4.5%
5%

(CNPC)
4,485

6.2%

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2025, the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development (OECD) forecasts a growth 
rate of 4.5% for China’s economy. Meanwhile, the National 
People’s Congress has proposed an expected growth target 
of roughly 5%. Guided by the national policy of “seeking 
progress while maintaining stabil ity, promoting stabil ity 
through progress, striving for innovation while safeguarding 
integrity and establishing the new before abolishing the old”, 
the Group will continue to implement more proactive fiscal 
policies and moderately accommodative monetary policies. 
By combining these policies and enhancing their synergies, 
the Group provides strong support for the continued steady 
growth of China’s macroeconomy. The Group believes that 
with the government’s multi-pronged approach, steady 
growth in the macroeconomy will continue to consolidate 
the fundamenta l  demand for  c lean energy,  inc luding 
natural gas. According to forecasts by China National 
Petroleum Corporation (CNPC), China’s natural gas demand 
is expected to reach 448.5 billion cubic metres in 2025, 
representing a year-on-year increase of 6.2%. The Group 
will pay close attention to geopolitical risks and market 
conditions to ensure sound development of the Company.

The Group has a lways been committed to becoming 
an advocate and supplier of integrated energy in China, 
focusing on providing industrial and commercial users as 
well as urban residents with a full range of safe, reliable 
and environmentally friendly energy solutions. Delivering 
premium services, the Group seeks to expand its footprint, 
build consensus, and increase customer loyalty and service 
offerings for the sound and sustainable development of the 
enterprise. In 2025, the Group will continue to deepen its 
core business of gas supply and focus on the growth in the 
revenue of its main business. Leveraging our increasingly 
integrated upstream-downstream industry chain,  the 
Group has been optimising its procurement strategies to 
improve cost management efficiency and expanding its 
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Chairman’s Statement
主席報告

end-user customer base in alignment with evolving market 
landscapes. Thanks to the new terminal projects put into 
production one after another and declining gas procurement 
costs, the Group anticipates steady restorative growth in 
profitability in the future. In addition, the Group will continue 
to work on the development of value-added service business 
by diversifying and expanding our product offerings and 
services. We anticipate that this business segment will be 
among the key drivers for the Group’s performance to reach 
new heights in the future.

The Group will fulfil its mission of green development while 
seeking robust business growth and will proactively respond 
to the nation’s clean energy development strategy and the 
“Dual Carbon Target”. The Group will continue its efforts 
in scientific innovation and embrace energy transformation 
opportunit ies to systematical ly push forward the “Dual 
Carbon” initiative and create a green and low-carbon value 
chain for great contributions to the sustainable development.

With the support of the shareholders of the Company (the 
“Shareholders”) and governments at all levels, the Group 
will seize the development opportunities and strive to win 
the decisive battle in the final year of the “14th Five-Year 
Plan” period. We will deliver solid and stable operating 
results to our investors and create long-term value for our 
Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, I hereby extend my sincere gratitude 
to the Shareholders, customers, staff, business partners 
and other stakeholders for their strong support towards the 
Group.

On behalf of the Board
Binhai Investment Company Limited

Zhang Wang
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 21 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論與分析

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the sales of piped 
natural gas and the provision of construction and gas 
pipeline installation service and gas passing through service.

Sales of Piped Natural Gas

In 2024, the Group achieved steady growth in its piped 
natural gas business under the national policy of protecting 
the use of natural gas. The National Development and 
Reform Commission of Mainland China has revised the 
“Measures for the Administration of Natural Gas Utilisation” 
to provide the industry with guidance and regulations on the 
utilization of domestically produced and imported natural 
gas in China, of which promoted the efficient use of natural 
gas and stimulated demand of natural gas across various 
sectors.

The Group seized the favorable opportunity of increasing 
demand and strived to strengthen the sale of piped natural 
gas. During the year, the Group had secured significant 
gas purchase contracts with several new gas suppliers and 
entered into strategic agreements or projects related to 
the supply, purchase, or utilization of natural gas, aimed at 
expanding natural gas resource pools, strengthening market 
presence, enhancing cost control, and fostering long-term 
cooperative relationships to support business growth and 
development in Mainland China, particularly in the Northern 
China region. These measures helped to enhance the 
Group’s competitiveness and market share in Tianjin and 
Hebei provinces which provided strong support for future 
business growth and resource integration.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論與分析

In 2024, total gas sales of the Group reached a record high, 
exceeding 2.51 billion cubic metres, of which, piped natural 
gas sales reached 1.71 billion cubic metres, a year-on-year 
increase of 6%. Such sales volume was primarily attributable 
to the sale of natural gas to domestic and industrial users 
through gas pipeline. Among total gas sales, the proportion 
of industrial and commercial customers exceeded 85%, 
indicating a clear advantage in customer structure. For 
the year ended 31 December 2024, consumption of piped 
natural gas by domestic and industrial users amounted to 
approximately 11,588 x 106 and 48,591 x 106 megajoules 
respectively, as compared to 11,528 x 106 and 45,006 x 106 
megajoules respectively for the year ended 31 December 
2023. During the year, the Group’s revenue from sales 
of piped natural gas amounted to HK$5,802,391,000, 
representing a decrease of HK$47,751,000 or approximately 
1% compared to the amount  o f  HK$5,850,142,000, 
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Construction and Gas Pipeline Installation Service

The Group constructs gas pipel ines for its cl ients and 
connects such pipelines to the Group’s main gas pipeline 
networks. The Group then charges construct ion and 
gas pipeline installation service fees from industrial and 
commercial customers, property developers and property 
management companies. These services are integral to the 
Group’s operations, ensuring seamless gas distribution and 
expanding its network reach.

However, in 2024, the growth of the Group’s construction 
and gas pipel ine instal lat ion service was signi f icant ly 
hindered by the challenges within the real estate market. 
The sector experienced a downturn due to a combination of 
factors, including insufficient domestic demand, weakened 
external demand, and ongoing structural adjustments in the 
industry. These market conditions constrained opportunities 
for new construction projects and led to a decline in demand 
from property developers and related clients. Nonetheless, 
the Group remains committed to refining its strategies 
to nav igate market volat i l i ty  and is act ive ly pursuing 
opportunities for recovery and expansion in the construction 
and gas pipeline installation segment.

25.1
17.1

6%

85%

11,588 
x 106 48,591 x 106

11,528 x 106

45,006 x 106

5,802,391,000

5,850,142,000
47,751,000 1%
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論與分析

The number of regular customers from the construction 
and installation of gas engineering works of the Group 
increased by about 70,000 year-on-year, with an aggregate 
number of customers amounting to about 2.44 mil l ion 
in 2024, fully demonstrating the excellence of the Group 
in market expansion and operating efficiency. As at 31 
December 2024, the aggregate length of city medium-
pressure gas pipeline networks was approximately 3,976 
kilometers, representing an increase of 85 kilometers from 
the length of 3,891 kilometers as at 31 December 2023. 
While the aggregate length of city high-pressure and sub-
high-pressure gas pipeline networks was approximately 
657 kilometers, representing an increase of 8 kilometers 
from the length of 649 kilometers as at 31 December 2023. 
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of the 
Group from construction and gas pipeline installation service 
amounted to approximately HK$327,021,000, representing 
a decrease of HK$177,850,000 or approximately 35% 
compared to the amount of HK$504,871,000 recorded for 
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Gas Passing Through Service

The Group transports gases for clients through gas pipeline 
networks and charges passing through fees. Natural gas is 
the primary energy source utilized in the Group’s gas passing 
through service. As a clean and efficient energy resource, 
natural gas plays a critical role in addressing environmental 
pollution by significantly reducing carbon emissions and 
other harmful pollutants compared to traditional fossil fuels. 
Its inherent advantages, such as safety, reliability, and cost-
effectiveness, make it an attractive option for both industrial 
and residential use across the country. Furthermore, natural 
gas has emerged as a cornerstone in global clean energy 
strategies, contributing to the transition toward sustainable 
and environmentally friendly energy systems. This aligns 
with the nation’s efforts to combat climate change and 
promote greener energy solutions, solidifying its importance 
in the development of clean energy initiatives in Mainland 
China. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the volume 
of gases transported by the Group for its clients amounted 
to 800,857,356 cubic metres and gas passing through 
service income amounted to approximately HK$68,389,000, 
representing an increase of approximately HK$16,721,000 
o r  32% compared  to  the  amount  o f  approx imate l y 
HK$51,668,000 recorded for the year ended 31 December 
2023.

7.0
244

3,976

3,891 85

657
649 8

327,021,000

504,871,000 177,850,000
35%
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68,389,000

51,668,000 16,721,000
32%
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論與分析

Property Development

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held a piece of land 
under development of approximately 15,899.6 square 
metres located to the east of Central West Road, west of 
Central Road, north of Xi San Road and south of Xi Er Road 
in the Tianjin Airport Economic Area in the Binhai New Area 
of the PRC, under land use rights for commercial use for a 
term of 40 years from 31 December 2009.

In view of the Group’s current strategic direction which 
focuses on the development of the gas business, the Group 
plans to dispose of the above property under construction.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2024 was approximately HK$569 million (2023: HK$749 
mil l ion) and the gross profit margin for the Group was 
approximately 9% (2023: 12%). The decrease in the gross 
margin is predominantly attributable to the reduction in gross 
profit from construction and gas pipeline installation service.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2024 was approximately HK$203 mill ion, 
representing a decrease of approximately HK$16 million or 
7% compared to approximately HK$219 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2023.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 was approximately HK$200 
mil l ion, as compared to approximately HK$257 mil l ion 
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in 
profit attributable to owners of the Company was mainly 
attributable to the decrease of gross profit for the year 
ended 31 December 2024.

Basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 
2024 was HK$14.6 cents, as compared to HK$19.0 cents 
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group f inanced its l iquidity requirements primari ly 
through cash f low generated from operating activ it ies 
and proceeds from interest-bearing bank loans and other 
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2024, the total borrowings of the Group 
amounted to approximately HK$3,329,524,000 (2023: 
HK$3,905,630,000) and the cash and bank deposits of the 
Group amounted to approximately HK$415,125,000 (2023: 
HK$946,324,000), which included cash and cash equivalents 
of  approx imate ly  HK$384,045,000, term deposi ts of 
approximately HK$19,973,000 and restricted bank deposits 
of approximately HK$11,107,000. As at 31 December 2024, 
the Group had consolidated current assets of approximately 
HK$1,121,309,000 and its current ratio was approximately 
0.37. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a gearing 
ratio of approximately 56%. This ratio is calculated as net 
debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total 
borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings 
and lease liabilities as shown in the consolidated statement 
of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents and 
term deposits. Total capital is calculated by adding total 
equity and net debt. To effectively manage the Group’s 
liquidity risks, the Company is reviewing the existing loans 
of the Group to be repayable in 2025 and will negotiate with 
potential funding parties, when appropriate, to secure more 
competitive interest rates to refinance its borrowings under 
the current financing arrangements.

3,329,524,000
3,905,630,000

415,125,000
946,324,000

384,045,000
19,973,000

11,107,000

1,121,309,000
0.37
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Borrowings Structure

As at 31 December 2024, the total borrowings of the Group 
amounted to approximately HK$3,329,524,000, of which 
20% were denominated in USD and 80% denominated 
in RMB (2023: HK$3,905,630,000, of which 23% were 
denominated in USD, 74% denominated in RMB and 
3% denominated in HKD). Syndicated borrowing was 
denominated in USD and RMB, USD tranche carrying 
interest at the rate of 2.35% plus SOFR per annum, and 
RMB tranche carrying interest of 6% per annum. Secured 
borrowings from PRC banks were denominated in RMB 
and carried interest rates from 3.20% to 5.00% per annum. 
Unsecured borrowing from bank was denominated in RMB, 
carrying interest rates from 2.8% to 2.35% plus Hong 
Kong InterBank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) per annum. Other 
secured borrowings carry interests at the rates ranging from 
3.80% to 4.15% per annum. 22% of the borrowings are in 
fixed interest rate and 78% of the borrowings are in floating 
rates. As at 31 December 2024, short-term borrowings and 
the current portion of long-term borrowings amounted to 
approximately HK$1,071,352,000, while the remainder were 
long-term borrowings falling due after one year or above.

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group 
as at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 31 to the 
consolidated financial statements. The net loan proceeds are 
for refinancing the indebtedness and for financing general 
corporate funding requirements of the Group.

Directors’ Opinion on Sufficiency of Working Capital

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded  
its current assets by approximately HK$1,901,362,000.  
The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern largely 
depends on the sufficiency of financial resources available 
to the Group. The Directors are of the view that the Group 
wil l have sufficient working capital to meet its f inancial 
obligations as and when they fall due in the next twelve 
months from 31 December 2024.
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Exposure to Exchange Rate Fluctuations

The majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated 
in the functional currency of the respective group entities. 
Part of the deposits and bank borrowings of the Group are 
denominated in HK Dollars and US Dollars which expose 
the Group to certain foreign currency risks. For the year 
ended 31 December 2024, net foreign exchange loss for 
the financing activities amounted to approximately HK$27 
million.

The Group has adopted var ious measures to manage 
exchange rate fluctuation risks. In June 2024, to repay its 
previous loans, the Group drew down a syndicated loan of 
approximately US$85 million and RMB220 million, securing 
more favorable interest rates compared to prior loans. Given 
the higher volatil ity of the exchange rate between RMB 
and US Dollars compared to that between RMB and HK 
Dollars, the Group has strategically reduced its borrowings 
denominated in US Dol lars to mit igate the impact of 
exchange rate fluctuations.

The Group does not currently have a foreign currency 
hedging policy. However, the management of the Company 
has been monitoring foreign exchange risks and will consider 
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the 
need arise.

Treasury policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management 
approach towards i ts t reasury pol ic ies and remained 
steadfast in its commitment to prudent capital and cash 
flow management to maintain a strong and healthy liquidity 
position for the year ended 31 December 2024.

27
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Charge on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2024, 50% of the equity interest 
of T ianj in TEDA Binhai Clean Energy Group Company 
Limited (“Tianjin Clean Energy”) were pledged amounting 
to approximately HK$639,807,000 as security for other 
borrowing. In addition, as at 31 December 2024, the Group 
had restricted bank deposits of HK$11,107,000 (2023: 
HK$10,925,000). The net carrying amount of pipelines 
and equipment as at 31 December 2024 amounting to 
approximately HK$638,256,000 were pledged as security for 
the other borrowings. Details of the Group’s borrowings are 
set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any 
significant contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did 
not hold any significant investments.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND 
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were 
no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and 
associated companies by the Group.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL 
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group currently does not have any future plans for 
material investments or capital assets.

639,807,000
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11,107,000
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 1,746 employees 
(2023: 1,752 employees). For the year ended 31 December 
2024, the salaries and wages of the employees of the Group 
amounted to approximately HK$208 million (2023: HK$222 
million) and among these, approximately HK$53 million were 
recorded in research and development expenses (2023: 
HK$58 million).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company recognizes that the Group’s success depends 
on the contributions of its employees, whom the Company 
considers invaluable assets to the Group. The Group is 
committed to offering competitive remuneration packages 
while fostering a fair, inclusive, and safe working environment 
for all employees. The Group prioritizes work safety and 
occupational health by adhering to laws and regulations, 
implementing a comprehensive safety management system, 
and foster ing a culture of safety through training and 
performance assessments. Further information is set out 
in the “Environment, Social and Governance Report” of the 
Company (“ESG Report”), which has been published on the 
same date of this Annual Report.

The remunerat ion of  the employees of  the Group is 
determined by reference to the market rates, and the 
performance, qualification and experience of the relevant 
employee. In addition, a discretionary bonus based on 
individual performance during the year is distributed to 
reward the contributions of employees to the Group. The 
Group provides training opportunities and other benefits to 
its employees, including pension insurance, unemployment 
insurance, injury insurance, medical insurance, maternity 
insurance and housing fund, etc. Further information is set 
out in our “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual 
Report and the ESG Report.

Furthermore, a share option scheme was adopted by the 
Company on 13 January 2021 as an incentive and award 
plan for directors, senior management personnel and eligible 
employees of the Group. Details of which are set out in the 
section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” of the Directors’ 
Report.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance 
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 
2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
PRACTICES

The Board is in charge of the management of the entire 
business of the Group and assumes overall responsibility for 
the leadership and control of the Group, collectively being 
responsible for promoting the success of the Group through 
giving instructions and supervising its business. The Board 
believes that good corporate governance practices would 
strengthen investors’ confidence, facilitate the development 
of the Group, and increase transparency of the operation 
of the Group, all of which are in the long-term interest of 
the Group and the Shareholders. For the year ended 31 
December 2024, the Company had ful ly complied with 
the code provisions set out in Part 2 of the Appendix C1 
(Corporate Governance Code) of the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

 

C1
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C3

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY 
DIRECTORS

The Company adopted a code of  conduct regarding 
securi t ies transact ions by Directors on terms no less 
exacting than the required standard of dealings as set out 
in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors 
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) under Appendix C3 
to the Listing Rules. Trading of securit ies by Directors 
shall be approved by the chairman of the Board and shall 
be conducted in accordance with the time frame and the 
number of securities approved.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries 
by the Company, that they have complied with the required 
standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code and 
the Company’s code of conduct regarding secur i t ies 
transactions by Directors throughout the year ended 31 
December 2024.
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COMPANY’S CULTURE

The Company is committed to developing a culture that is 
built on its purpose, value and strategy set out below:—

—	 Purpose :  To  become a  comprehens i ve  ene rgy 
advocator and operator in mainland China;

—	 Value: Continuously promote and provide high-quality 
clean energy services to its customers, actively expand 
corporate scale, improve quality of operations, and 
achieve mutual benefit and harmonious development 
with its Shareholders, investors, customers and the 
government;

—	 Strategy: Intensively cultivate the main business of 
natural gas, all-round optimization of the upstream and 
downstream industrial chain, and accelerate the study 
on the layout of comprehensive energy and smart 
energy.

THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises ten 
Directors including three executive Directors, namely Mr. 
ZHANG Wang (Chairman), Mr. WANG Xin (Vice Chairman) 
and Mr. GAO Liang (General Manager), three non-executive 
Directors, namely Mr. ZHANG Chang Liang, Mr. SHEN Hong 
Liang and Mr. YU Ke Xiang, and four independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P. , 
Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin, Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW and 
Dr. TANG Lai Wah. Detailed information of the Directors is 
set out in the section titled “BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION 
OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” herein.
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I t  i s  a  pr inc ip le  under  the CG Code that  the Board 
should have a balance of skills, experience and diversity 
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the 
Company’s business, and should ensure that the directors 
devote suff ic ient t ime and make contr ibut ions to the 
Company that are commensurate with thei r  ro le and 
board responsibilities. It should ensure that changes to its 
composition can be managed without undue disruption. 
It should include a balanced composit ion of executive 
and non-executive directors (including independent non- 
executive directors) so that there is a strong independent 
e lement on the board which can effect ive ly exerc ise 
independent judgment. Non-executive directors should be of 
sufficient caliber and number for their views to carry weight.

There are no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships among the Board members (including 
between the Chairman and the General Manager).

The Company has established the following mechanisms to 
ensure that independent views and input are available to the 
Board:—

—	 the Board shall ensure the appointment of at least three 
independent non-executive Directors and at least one- 
third of its members being independent non-executive 
Directors; and

—	 the Board and its committees may seek independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense on 
matter in connection with the discharge of their duties 
and responsibilities.
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The Board is responsible for the overall management of 
the Company, undertaking the responsibility to lead and 
administer and to promote the success of the Company 
through providing direction and supervision. All the Directors 
are bound by their duties to act in the interests of the 
Company to make an objective decision. The Board is 
responsible for the major affairs of the Company, including 
the approval and supervision of all major policies, overall 
strategies, risk management and internal control systems, 
material transactions ( in part icular transactions which 
may involve a conflict of interests), financial information, 
appointment of Directors and other material financial and 
operat ional  matters.  The management is responsib le 
for the Group’s day-to-day management, administration 
and operations. Material transactions to be entered into 
by the Group are subject to approval of the Board. The 
management has an obligation to supply the Board and its 
committees with adequate information, in a timely manner, 
to enable it to make informed decisions. The Company has 
formalised the functions reserved to the Board and those 
delegated to the management and review such arrangement 
periodically.
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A total of seven Board meetings were held during the year 
ended 31 December 2024 to discuss and decide on the 
Company’s major strategies, important business matters, 
f inancial  issues, change of auditor and other matters 
set forth in the Company’s bye-laws. A summary of the 
Directors’ attendance at such meetings is as follows:

Executive Directors

Number of 
meetings 
attended/

Number of 
meetings held Attendance 

percentage

Mr. ZHANG Wang (Chairman) (appointed on 23 December 2024) N/A N/A

Mr. HU Hao (Chairman) (resigned on 23 December 2024) 5/6 83%

Mr. WANG Xin (Vice Chairman) 5/7 71%

Mr. GAO Liang (General Manager) 7/7 100%
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Non-Executive Directors

Number of meetings 
attended/Number of 

meetings held
Attendance 
percentage

Mr. ZHANG Chang Liang (appointed on 21 August 2024) 2/2 100%

Mr. SHEN Hong Liang 4/7 57%

Mr. YU Ke Xiang 7/7 100%

Mr. WANG Gang (resigned on 25 March 2024) 0/1 0%

   

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Number of meetings 
attended/Number of 

meetings held
Attendance 
percentage

Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P. 7/7 100%

Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin 7/7 100%

Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW 6/7 86%

Dr. TANG Lai Wah 7/7 100%
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

CG Code C.1.4 requires that all directors should participate 
in continuing professional development, develop and update 
their knowledge and skil ls in order to ensure that they 
contribute to the Board with comprehensive information 
and  as  and  when  requ i red .  The  Company  sha l l  be 
responsible for arranging and funding appropriate training, 
placing appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and 
responsibilities of directors of the listed company.

Record of training received by each Director during the year 
ended 31 December 2024 is summarized below:

Directors Contents of the training

Mr. ZHANG Wang (appointed on 23 December 2024) A

Mr. HU Hao (resigned on 23 December 2024) B, C

Mr. WANG Xin B

Mr. GAO Liang B

Mr. ZHANG Chang Liang (appointed on 21 August 2024) A

Mr. SHEN Hong Liang B

Mr. YU Ke Xiang B

Mr. WANG Gang (resigned on 25 March 2024) –*

Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P. D, E

Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin F, G

Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW H, I

Dr. TANG Lai Wah J, K

  

C.1.4 

:
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A.	 Attended the di rector t ra in ing of  “L ist ing Rules” 
provided by Woo Kwan Lee & Lo

B.	 Attended “Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 
2024 Special Training” provided by the Company

C.	 Attended “2024 Safety Production Conference”

D.	 A t t e n d e d  “ S t r e a m l i n i n g  E S G  R e p o r t i n g  w i t h 
Technology” organized by the Chamber of Hong Kong 
Listed Companies

E.	 Attended a seminar on “Introduction to Shanghai’s 
B u s i n e s s  E n v i ro n m e n t  R e f o r m ”  o r g a n i z e d  b y 
Association of China-appointed Attesting Officers

F.	 A t tended Annua l  Con fe rence  o rgan ized  by  the 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants

G.	 Attended Independent Non-executive Director Forum 
organized by KPMG

H.	 Attended a seminar on “Enhancing Board Effectiveness: 
Roles,  Funct ions and Responsib i l i t ies of  Board, 
Committees and Directors” provided by Reed Smith 
Richards Butler LLP

I.	 Attended a seminar on “ESG Overview, Regulations 
and Guidelines” provided by Tianjin Port Development 
Holdings Limited

J.	 Attended a seminar on “Duties of Directors and Codes 
on Takeovers and Mergers” by CFN Lawyers

K.	 Attended “ADF Annual Conference” organized by 
Accounting Development Foundation

*the Company did not receive any training record from Mr. WANG 
Gang prior to his resignation on 25 March 2024.

A. 

B. 2024
(ESG) 

C. 2024

D. 
ESG

E. 

F. 
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On 21 August 2024, Mr. ZHANG Chang Liang was appointed 
as a non-executive Director and on 23 December 2024, Mr. 
ZHANG Wang was appointed as an Executive Director. The 
newly appointed directors have received a comprehensive, 
formal and tailored induction on appointment. Mr. ZHANG 
Chang Liang and Mr. ZHANG Wang obtained the legal 
advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 
19 August 2024 and 23 December 2024 respectively and 
both Mr. ZHANG Chang Liang and Mr. ZHANG Wang have 
confirmed that they understood their obligations as Directors 
of the Company.

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND 
GENERAL MANAGER

Currently, Mr. ZHANG Wang is the chairman of the Board 
(“Chairman”) and Mr. WANG Xin is the vice chairman (“Vice 
Chairman”). Mr. GAO Liang is the general manager (“General 
Manager”) .  The Chairman and the Vice Chairman are 
primarily responsible for leading the Board and ensuring the 
effective operation of the Board, while the General Manager 
is primarily responsible for the day-to-day operations of 
the Company. Such distinction between the respective 
roles and responsibilities of the Chairman, Vice Chairman 
and the General Manager is set out in the Company’s bye-
laws and the “Regulation on Operation of the Board and its 
Committees” of the Company.

TERM OF OFFICE AND RE-ELECTION

Independent non-executive Directors have a term of office of 
two years and non-executive Directors have a term of office 
of three years, both subject to retirement by rotation and re- 
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in 
accordance with the Company’s bye-laws.

3.09D
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GENERAL MEETINGS

The Company held an annual general meeting (the “2024 
AGM”) and a special general meeting (the “SGM”) in 2024.

At the 2024 AGM, a separate resolution was proposed by 
the Chairman in respect of each separate issue, including 
the re-election of each of Mr. GAO Liang, Mr. YU Ke Xiang, 
Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin and Mr. WANG Xin. The representative 
of the external auditor of the Company attended the 2024 
AGM.

At the SGM held in December 2024, independent non- 
executive Directors were available to answer questions at 
the SGM for approval of the renewal of continuing connected 
transactions with Tianjin TEDA Investment Holding Co., Ltd. 
(“TEDA”) and setting new annual caps under the Sinopec 
Gas Supply agreement with China Petroleum & Chemical 
Corporation Natural Gas Branch Company (“Sinopec Gas”).

The chairman of the 2024 AGM and the SGM had explained 
the procedures of conducting a poll during such meetings. 
All resolutions proposed at the 2024 AGM and the SGM 
were voted by way of poll. All the votes casted at the 2024 
AGM and the SGM were properly counted and recorded.
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The fo l lowing table sets out detai ls of  the Directors’ 
attendance of the general meetings of the Company for the 
year ended 31 December 2024:

Directors

Annual general 
meeting 

attended/
Annual general 

meeting held

Number of 
special general 

meeting 
attended/

Number of 
special general 

meeting held
Total

attendance 
percentage

Mr. ZHANG Wang (appointed on 23 December 2024) N/A N/A N/A

Mr. HU Hao (resigned on 23 December 2024) 1/1 0/1 50%

Mr. WANG Xin 0/1 1/1 50%

Mr. GAO Liang 1/1 1/1 100%

Mr. ZHANG Chang Liang (appointed on 21 August 2024) N/A 1/1 100%

Mr. SHEN Hong Liang 1/1 1/1 100%

Mr. YU Ke Xiang 1/1 0/1 50%

Mr. WANG Gang (resigned on 25 March 2024) N/A N/A N/A

Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P. 1/1 1/1 100%

Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin 1/1 1/1 100%

Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW 1/1 1/1 100%

Dr. TANG Lai Wah 1/1 1/1 100%
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination 
Committee”) currently comprises four independent non- 
executive Directors, namely Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., 
J.P.  (Chairman), Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin, Professor Japhet 
Sebastian LAW and Dr. TANG Lai Wah and an executive 
Director, Mr. GAO Liang.

The Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee 
approved by the Board are available on the websites of the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company.

The main responsibil it ies of the Nomination Committee 
include, but not limited to, the following:

1.	 reviewing the structure, size and composition (including 
the skills, diversity, knowledge and experience) of the 
Board and making recommendations on any proposed 
changes to the Board to complement the corporate 
strategy;

2.	 assessing the independence of independent non- 
executive Directors and proposed independent non- 
executive Directors;

3.	 identifying individuals suitably qualif ied to become 
members of  the Board and se lect ing or  making 
recommendations to the Board on the selection of 
individuals nominated for directorships for approval by 
the Board; and

4.	 reviewing the board diversity policy and the nomination 
policy of the Company, reviewing and updating the 
objectives that the Board has set for implementing 
such policies, and monitoring the progress on achieving 
these objectives.

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 
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Pursuant  to  the CG Code,  the Company adopted a 
nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) on 31 December 
2018 which sets out the criteria and procedures to be 
adopted when considering candidates to be appointed or 
re-elected as directors of the Company. The nomination 
p rocedu res  o f  t he  Nom ina t i on  Commi t t ee  i nc l ude 
identification and acknowledgement of qualified individuals 
by the Nomination Committee, and review and approval of 
such nominations by the Board. The Nomination Committee 
will evaluate potential candidates considering factors such 
as professional expertise, relevant experience, personal 
ethics and integrity, as well as the board diversity policy 
of the Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”) and any 
measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the 
Board.

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to achieve 
and maintain diversity in the Board in order for the Board 
to maintain a competitive advantage. The Company seeks 
to achieve board diversity through the consideration of a 
number of factors, including but not limited to the talents, 
skills, regional and professional experience, cultural and 
education background, age, gender and other qualities. The 
Nomination Committee will consider and, if appropriate, 
se t  measurab le  ob jec t i ves  to  imp lement  the  Board 
Diversity Policy and review such objectives to ensure their 
appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards 
achieving those objectives. The Nomination Committee will 
review the Board Diversity Policy and its implementation 
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness. As 
at the date of this report, the Board has already had one 
female Board member.

As of 31 December 2024, the total number of male and 
female employees (including senior management) of the 
Group were 1,226 and 520 respectively, and the ratio of 
male to female employees was around 2:1. As the Group 
belongs to the gas industry and its main business is mostly 
involved in labour intensive work such as engineering and 
inspection, the proportion of male employees therefore 
exceeds that of female employees.

1,226 520
2:1
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At present, the gender workforce of the Group is suitable 
for the Group’s operation and management, and the Group 
consistently implements the management ideology of a 
“fairness and impartiality, suitability for the job” during its 
recruitment process, and promotes “recommending talents 
and avoiding relations” as a principle for recruitment, so as 
to ensure that every applicant has an equal opportunity, and 
that talents are competing in a fair environment.

During the year, the composition of the Board had the 
following changes. Mr. WANG Gang resigned on 25 March 
2024. Mr. ZHANG Chang Liang was appointed on 21 August 
2024. Mr. HU Hao resigned on 23 December 2024 and 
Mr. ZHANG Wang was appointed on 23 December 2024. 
The Nomination Committee assessed the new Directors 
(i.e. Mr. ZHANG Chang Liang and Mr. ZHANG Wang) and 
the retiring Directors (i.e. Mr. WANG Xin, Mr. GAO Liang, 
Mr. YU Ke Xiang and Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin) respectively 
appointed by the Board and re-elected at the 2024 AGM 
on criteria such as integrity, independence, experience, skill 
and ability to commit time and effort to carry out their duties 
and responsibilities effectively, and made recommendations 
to the Board for approval of the appointment and re-
appointment respectively.



Binhai Investment Company Limited 40

Corporate Governance Report
企業管治報告

During the year ended 31 December 2024, three meetings 
were held by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination 
Committee mainly discussed the appointment of new 
directors and nomination of re-election of directors, reviewed 
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity 
Policy and other matters relating to committee responsibility 
and operating mechanism as well as discussing areas to 
further utilize its functions. Attendance of each member of 
the Nomination Committee are set out as follows:

Committee members

Number of meetings 
attended/Number of 

meetings held
Attendance 
percentage

Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P. (Chairman) 3/3 100%

Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin 3/3 100%

Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW 1/3 33%

Dr. TANG Lai Wah 3/3 100%

Mr. GAO Liang 3/3 100%

   

:
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The  remunera t i on  commi t tee  o f  t he  Company  ( t he 
“Remunerat ion Committee”)  current ly comprises four 
independent non-executive Directors, namely Professor 
Japhet Sebastian LAW (Chairman), Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., 
J.P. , Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin and Dr. TANG Lai Wah.

The Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee 
approved by the Board are available on the websites of the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company. The main 
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include, but 
not limited to, the following:

1.	 mak ing  recommendat ions  to  the  Board  on  the 
Company ’s policy and structure for all Director ’s 
and senior management’s remuneration and on the 
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure 
for developing remuneration policy;

2.	 r e v i e w i n g  a n d  a p p ro v i n g  t h e  m a n a g e m e n t  ’s 
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s 
corporate goals and objectives;

3.	 mak ing  recommendat ions  to  the  Board  on  the 
remuneration packages of individual executive directors 
and senior management; and

4.	 reviewed and make recommendation on revision of 
Terms of Reference.

D u r i n g  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  3 1  D e c e m b e r  2 0 2 4 ,  t h e 
Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved the lapse 
of 5,819,059 share options due to the unsatisfaction of the 
conditions which were granted to an executive Director and 
eligible employees of the Group on 13 January 2021.

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5,819,059 
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, five meetings 
were held by the Remuneration Committee. During the year, 
the Remuneration Committee discussed and approved the 
remuneration policy, the vesting and exercise of the third 
tranche of the first batch of the share options, reviewed the 
remuneration system of individual directors and employees, 
assessed the performance of executive Directors, as well 
as the director’s fees, and the remuneration package of 
proposed candidates for appointment as new directors, and 
made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 
package of proposed candidates for appointment as new 
directors and the director’s fees of the new Directors 
appointed during the year. No Director or any of their 
assoc ia tes  was invo lved in  dec id ing that  D i rector ’s 
own remuneration. Attendance of each member of the 
Remuneration Committee are set out as follows:

Committee members

Number of meetings 
attended/Number of 

meetings held
Attendance 
percentage

Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW (Chairman) 5/5 100%

Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P. 5/5 100%

Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin 5/5 100%

Dr. TANG Lai Wah 5/5 100%
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The remuneration of senior management ( including the 
Executive Director and General Manager) by band for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration band Number of individuals

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 4

1,000,001 1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1

1,500,001 2,000,000
  

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and 
the five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed 
pursuant to the Listing Rules are set out in Note 10 and 
Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit 
Committee”) in accordance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing 
Rules. The Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee 
approved by the Board are available on the websites of the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company. The main 
responsibil it ies of the Audit Committee include, but not 
limited to, the following:

1.	 primarily responsible for making recommendations to 
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and 
removal of the external auditor;

2.	 monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial 
statements, the annual report and accounts, half-year 
report and quarterly report (if any); and

3.	 reviewing the Company’s accounting, financial and 
internal controls, risk management systems on an 
annual basis, and the adequacy of resources, staff 
qual i f icat ions and exper ience of the Company in 
relation to its performance in environment, social and 
governance aspects.

10 40

3.21

1. 

2. 

3. 
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The Audit Committee currently comprises four independent 
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin 
(Chairman), Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P. , Professor Japhet 
Sebastian LAW and Dr. TANG Lai Wah, where Mr. LAU Siu 
Ki, Kevin and Dr. TANG Lai Wah are qualified accountants.

Four meetings were held by the Audit Committee during the 
year ended 31 December 2024. At the meetings, the Audit 
Committee reviewed and discussed the following matters:

1.	 the audited annual results and financial statements of 
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023;

2.	 the unaudited interim results of the Group for the 6 
months ended 30 June 2024;

3.	 f i nanc ia l  repor t ing  sys tem and in te rna l  cont ro l 
procedures;

4.	 relationship with the external auditor including reviewing 
the resignation of auditor, making recommendations to 
the Board on the appointment of the new auditor and 
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement 
of the new auditor;

5.	 review of the risk management and internal control 
systems; and

6.	 funct ion  o f  corpora te  governance and re levant 
disclosure policy of the Company.

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 
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The following table sets out the details of attendance of 
each member of the Audit Committee at the meetings held 
during the year ended 31 December 2024:

Committee members

Number of meetings 
attended/Number of 

meetings held
Attendance 
percentage

Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin (Chairman) 4/4 100%

Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P. 4/4 100%

Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW 3/4 75%

Dr. TANG Lai Wah 4/4 100%

    

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the audited annual 
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024, 
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the 
Group and discussed internal controls and financial reporting 
matters. The Audit Committee considered that:

1.	 The Group’s accounting and management system 
and controls procedures have been maintained at a 
generally satisfactory and acceptable standard; and

2.	 The interim and annual financial statements of the 
Group for the relevant reporting periods are complete 
and accurate in all respects.

1. 

2. 
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RISK COMMITTEE

The Company established the Risk Committee (the “Risk 
Committee”) in March 2016. The Risk Committee currently 
comprises four independent non-executive Directors, namely 
Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P.  (Chairman), Mr. LAU Siu Ki, 
Kevin, Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW and Dr. TANG Lai 
Wah and an executive Director, Mr. GAO Liang.

The main responsibilities of the Risk Committee include, but 
not limited to, the following:

1.	 overseeing the development, implementation and 
maintenance of the Company’s overall risk management 
framework and its risk appetite, strategy, principles 
and policies, to ensure that they are in line with relevant 
requirements under the Listing Rules;

2.	 reviewing the scope and quality of the Company’s 
ongoing monitoring of risk management system; and

3.	 considering or advising the Board on any other risk- 
related matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, two meetings 
were held by the Risk Committee. The Risk Committee 
mainly discussed matters relating to the overview and 
assessment of the Group’s principal risks, the revision of the 
terms of reference of the committee. Attendance of each 
member of the Risk Committee are set out as follows:

Committee members

Number of meetings 
attended/Number of 

meetings held
Attendance 
percentage

Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P.  (Chairman) 2/2 100%

Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin 2/2 100%

Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW 2/2 100%

Dr. TANG Lai Wah 2/2 100%

Mr. GAO Liang 2/2 100%

   

1. 

2. 

3. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
FUNCTIONS

The Company has not established a corporate governance 
committee and the corporate governance functions are 
performed by the Audit Committee as set out in its terms of 
reference. The Audit Committee had considered the policies 
and practices for corporate governance as set out in the CG 
Code, and reviewed the compliance with the CG Code and 
the disclosures in this report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy for the Company 
with effect from 1 January 2019 (the “Dividend Policy”). 
According to the Dividend Policy, the Company may from 
time to time declare dividend to be paid to the Shareholders 
up to the amount recommended by the Board. When the 
Company determines whether to declare any dividend and 
the amount of dividend to be declared, the Board will take 
into account a number of factors, including but not limited 
to:

1.	 the actual and expected financial performance of the 
Group;

2.	 retained earnings and distributable reserves of the 
Company and each of the members of the Group;

3.	 the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on 
equity and the relevant financial covenants;

4.	 any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be 
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

5.	 the Group’s expected working capital requirements and 
future expansion plans;

 

:

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 
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6.	 general economic conditions, business cycle of the 
Group’s business and other internal or external factors 
that may have an impact on the business or financial 
performance and position of the Group; and

7.	 any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend 
payout rat io.  The declarat ion,  recommendat ion and/
or payment of dividends of the Company shall be at the 
discretion of the Board. The Board endeavors to maintain a 
balance between meeting the Shareholders’ expectations 
and prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend 
policy.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY AND 
REMUNERATION

The statement of responsibility to the financial statements 
by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”), the 
external auditor of the Group, is set out in the section of 
“INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT” on pages 115 to 
125 of this report. The remuneration for the audit services 
provided by the external auditor of the Group in respect of 
the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB2.77 
million. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total 
service fees provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers Business 
Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd — Beijing Branch to the 
Group in relation to Environmental, Social and Governance 
Report amounted to RMB270,300. Save as disclosed 
above, there are no other non-audit services provided by 
Deloitte and PricewaterhouseCoopers, the former auditor of 
the Company, for the year ended 31 December 2024.

6. 

7. 

 

•

115
125

277

270,300
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibi l i ty for the 
preparat ion and the true and fa i r  presentat ion of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2024 in accordance with statutory requirements 
and applicable standards.

The Directors consider that in preparing the f inancial 
statements, the Group has adopted appropriate accounting 
policies that are consistently applied, and that all applicable 
accounting standards are fol lowed. The Directors are 
responsible for ensuring that the Group had kept the 
accounting records which disclose the financial position 
of the Group with reasonable accuracy and facilitate the 
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the applicable accounting standards.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities 
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$1,901 
million. The Group’s current liabilities as at 31 December 
2024 primarily included trade and other payables, contract 
liabilities and current borrowings of approximately HK$1,204 
million, HK$680 million and HK$1,071 million, respectively.

The management of the Company has concluded that the 
Group will have sufficient financial resources to support 
its operations and to meet its f inancial obligations and 
commitments as and when they fal l due in the coming 
twelve months from 31 December 2024 based on the 
following considerations: 1) the Group will remain profitable 
and generate net cash from its operations; and 2) the Group 
has already arranged or secured other loan facilities totaling 
approximately RMB802 million (equivalent to approximately 
HK$852 mil l ion) from certain banks and other f inancial 
institutions which are readily available for the Group as of the 
date of approval of the consolidated financial statements.

 
 

19.01

12.04 6.80 10.71

1
2

802
852
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The Directors have reviewed the management’s assessment 
together with the underlying basis and are satisfied that it is 
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements 
on a going concern basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining and 
reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems. The risk management and 
internal control systems are to safeguard the assets of the 
Group and the Shareholders’ investment and to ensure the 
reliability of financial reporting as well as compliance with 
the relevant requirements of the applicable rules of the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the management 
of the Company provided training to the internal audit team, 
accounting team and operation team, so as to ensure 
effective implementation of the risk management and internal 
control systems and procedures. The Audit Committee paid 
great attention to risk management and internal controls and 
made efforts to improve the risk management and internal 
control systems during the year ended 31 December 2024.

In 2024, the Company’s internal control work continued 
to adhere to the principle of “monitor ing, service and 
leadership”, focusing on improving the internal control and 
compliance management system, steadily promoting system 
management, legal services, and internal audit supervision. 
By facilitating the coordinated supervision of the second 
line of defence in risk management, the Company enhanced 
the system execution and self-discipline awareness of all 
units. The optimization of system processes was driven 
by the specific discovery of problems, achieving precision 
of risk prevention and control and improved management 
efficiency.
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In terms of internal control and r isk management, the 
Company selected key business processes for internal 
c o n t ro l  c o m p l i a n c e  e v a l u a t i o n .  B y  e v a l u a t i n g  t h e 
comprehensiveness of process design, the effectiveness of 
implementation, and the state of compliance management, 
the Company aimed to objectively, truthfully, and accurately 
revea l  in terna l  contro l  def ic ienc ies in  operat ion and 
management.  Through problem rect i f icat ion, process 
optimization was promoted. Meanwhile, the Company 
carr ied out the cleanup of outdated systems. A total 
of six outdated systems were uniformly abolished, and 
29 systems were revised and issued. Each department 
conducted inspections on the implementation of systems, 
striving to improve the effectiveness of system execution. 
The Company continuously improved the informatization 
of system processes by deeply integrating and optimizing 
the processes of  author izat ion management,  system 
management, and information management.

In terms of legal affairs management and compliance 
construction, the Company revised and improved legal 
affairs management systems such as the “Measures for the 

Management of Legal Dispute Cases” (
), properly handled legal dispute cases, and effectively 

safeguarded the Company’s interests. Professional legal 
services were provided to support the Company’s major 
matters. The Company promoted the construction of the 
compliance management system, improved the compliance 
operation mechanism, and established the compliance 
management “one database and three lists” (compliance 
risk database, compliance obligation list for key positions, 
compliance risk l ist, and compliance responsibil ity l ist), 
achieving systematization, standardization, and refinement of 
compliance management to effectively prevent compliance 
risks. The Company organized and carried out four sessions 
of legal knowledge training and one session of compliance 

case training, issued three “Legal Work Tips” (
), three new “Company Law” ( ) popularization 

briefs, and three legal newsletters to enhance employees’ 
compliance awareness and capabilities.

6
29
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The Company has established “Measures for Administration 
of Whistleblowing” to provide a system to employees, 
customers, suppliers and other persons dealing with the 
Group to raise complaints about possible breach of laws 
and regulations, corruption or improprieties to the Audit 
Committee or the Internal Control and Legal Department 
of the Company. The Company has also established a 
“Checklist for Countering the Risk of Corruption” which laid 
down lists of practices to be observed by members of staff 
of the Group that promotes and support anti-corruption 
laws and regulations. Breaches of those practices are to be 
reported to the Audit Committee or the Internal Control and 
Legal Department of the Company to be handled according 
to internal management system.

In terms of internal audit supervision and corrective action, 
the Company continuously play the role of internal audit 
supervision and completed nine audit projects throughout 
the year. The internal audit work focused on economic 
responsibility audits, with increased attention paid to issues 
related to management effectiveness. The audit scope 
became more comprehensive, with greater emphasis on 
the interrelationships among various types of issues, and 
the communication and cooperation between departments, 
thus enhancing the breadth and depth of audits. The 
quality of audit reports was further enhanced, the reporting 
mechanism was further refined, and the rectification rate of 
audit-identified issues was further increased.

The D i rec tors  conducted annua l  rev iew on the  r i sk 
management and internal control systems to ensure the 
effectiveness and adequacy of the systems. The Company 
convened meetings regularly to review the finance, operation 
and compliance controls and to consider the adequacy 
of resources, staff qualification and experience, training 
programs and budget of  the Company’s account ing, 
internal audit and financial reporting functions, as well as 
those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and 
reporting. The Directors are of the view that the existing risk 
management and internal control systems are effective and 
adequate for the Group.

9
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(a) 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(b) 

(c) 

(a)	 The process used by the Group to identify, evaluate 
and manage significant risks is shown as follows:

(1)	 Risk identification: identify risks that may pose 
a potential impact on the Group’s business and 
operat ions through the Risk Committee, the 
management and the Internal Control and Legal 
Department;

(2)	 Risk evaluation: evaluate the identified risks based 
on the likelihood of the occurrence and impact 
level of the risk;

(3)	 Response to risk: according to the evaluation 
resu l t s  on  the  magn i tude  o f  the  r i sk ,  r i sk 
management strategies are determined by the 
Internal  Control  and Legal  Department,  and 
through appropriate mechanisms of the Company 
to ensure the effective implementation of internal 
control procedures to prevent and reduce the 
risks.

(b)	 The main features of the Group’s risk management 
and  in te r na l  con t ro l  sys tems a re  the  focus  on 
establishment of a sound internal control environment, 
continuous improvement in risks evaluation, activities 
control, information and communication, and internal 
supervision so as to enhance the Company’s operating 
efficiency and ensure the reliability of financial reporting 
and effective compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations, in order to avoid the Company’s assets 
suffering from any losses as a result of fraud.

(c)	 The Board is responsible for the risk management 
and internal  control  systems and reviewing their 
effectiveness. However, the risk management and 
internal control systems are designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or 
loss.
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(d)	 In relation to the handling and dissemination of inside 
information in accordance with the Listing Rules and 
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the 
Laws of Hong Kong), the Group has adopted measures 
including raising awareness of confidentiality of inside 
information of the Group, issuing notices regarding 
“black-out” period and restrictions on dealings to 
directors and employees on a regular basis, and 
ensuring compliance when handling and disclosing 
inside information.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged and appointed Mr. YIP Wai Yin (“Mr. 
YIP”), a Hong Kong practicing solicitor, as the company 
secretary of the Company, who reports to the General 
Manager. The primary contact person at the Company with 
Mr. YIP is Mr. YIN Fu Gang, the Deputy General Manager of 
the Company and the secretary to the Board. Mr. YIN has 
day-to-day involvement in the affairs of the Company and 
handles the corporate secretarial matters of the Company 
together with the company secretary.

The company secretary of the Company had duly complied 
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 
hours of the relevant professional training during the year.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the 
company secretary to ensure that board procedures, and all 
applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed.

(d) 571

3.29
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR 
RELATIONS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication 
policy which aims to ensure that its Shareholders can 
obtain timely information and to promote the Company’s 
effective communication with its Shareholders and other 
stakeholders. A summary of the range of communication 
channels for the Shareholders to communicate their views is 
set out below:–

(a)	 Procedures for requisitioning a special general 
meeting

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the 
requisit ion not less than one-tenth of the paid up 
capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at 
general meetings of the Company may, by written 
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of 
the Company signed and deposited in accordance with 
the bye-laws of the Company, Bermuda Companies 
Act 1981, require the Directors to call a special general 
meeting for the transaction of business specified in the 
requisition.

(b)	 Procedures for putting forward proposals at 
general meetings

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of 
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right 
to vote at general meetings of the Company or not less 
than 100 Shareholders may, at their expense, provide 
a written request to the attention of the company 
secretary of the Company signed and deposited in 
accordance with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

 

–

(a)  

(b)  

100
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(c)	 Communication with Shareholders and investors

General meetings of the Company provide a direct 
forum of communication between Shareholders and 
the Board. Shareholders are welcome to put forward 
enquiries to the Board or the personnel at management 
level, chairman of the Board (or in his absence, an 
executive Director), the chairmen of the Nomination 
C o m m i t t e e ,  R e m u n e r a t i o n  C o m m i t t e e ,  A u d i t 
Committee and Risk Committee (or in their absence, 
other members of the respective committees) and 
where applicable, the independent board committee, 
wil l commonly be present and available to answer 
questions. Shareholders may also contact the company 
secretary of  the Company to direct their  wr i t ten 
enquires.

T h e  C o m p a n y  i s  c o m m i t t e d  t o  e n h a n c i n g 
communications and relationships with its investors. 
Designated senior management maintains an open 
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to 
keep them abreast of the Company’s developments.

The Company also maintains a website at www.
binhai inv.com, where updates on the Company’s 
b u s i n e s s  d e v e l o p m e n t ,  o p e r a t i o n s ,  f i n a n c i a l 
in format ion,  most  updated l is t  o f  D i rectors and 
their roles and functions (including whether they are 
independent non-executive Directors) and news can 
always be found.

As regards details of the shareholders’ communication 
policy, please refer to the procedures made available 
under the Corporate Governance sect ion of  the 
Company’s website at www.binhaiinv.com.

(c) 

www.binhaiinv. 
com

www.binhaiinv.com
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During the year, the Board had conducted a review 
o f  the  imp lementat ion and e f fect i veness o f  the 
shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered 
the multiple communication channels summarised 
above, the Board is satisfied that the shareholders’ 
communication policy had been properly implemented 
during 2024 and is effective.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and 
concerns to the Board in writing through the company 
secretary of the Company whose contact details are as 
follows:

Hong Kong

Address:	 Suites 3205-07, 32/F, Tower Two,
	 Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, 
	 Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Tel:	 (852) 2572 9228
Fax:	 (852) 2572 9283
Email:	 prd@binhaiinv.com

Tianjin

Address:	 Suites 501-502, Block 6, East Area,
	 Airport Business Park, 80 Huanhe Road 
	 North, Airport Industrial Park, Tianjin,
	 China
Tel:	 86-22-5880 1800
Fax:	 86-22-5880 1801
P.C.:	 300308
E-mail:	 wsg@binhaiinv.com

 1
 32
 3205-07

 (852) 2572 9228
 (852) 2572 9283

 prd@binhaiinv.com

 
 80
 
 501-502

 86-22-5880 1800
 86-22-5880 1801

300308
wsg@binhaiinv.com



Binhai Investment Company Limited 58

Corporate Governance Report
企業管治報告

The New Bye-Laws of the Company were adopted 
by way of a special resolution at the 2024 AGM held 
on 10 May 2024 in order to (i) updating and bringing 
the existing Bye-laws in line with the latest regulatory 
requirements in relation to the expanded paperless 
l ist ing regime and the electronic dissemination of 
corporate communications by listed issuers and the 
relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules which 
took effect from 31 December 2023; and (ii) better 
aligning the amendments of the existing Bye-laws for 
housekeeping purposes with the provisions of the 
Listing Rules and the applicable Bermuda laws. Details 
of the adoption of the New Bye-Laws of the Company 
were disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 12 April 
2024.

The Memorandum of Association and New Bye-laws of 
the Company have been posted on the website of the 
Company at www.binhaiinv.com and the designated 
website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at www. 
hkexnews.hk. Save as disclosed above, there was no 
significant change to the Memorandum of Association 
and New Bye-laws of the Company during the year 
ended 31 December 2024.

* For identification purposes only

(i)

(ii)

www.binhaiinv. 
com www.hkexnews. 
hk
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Wang, aged 44, has been the Chairman and 
an executive Director of the Company since 23 December 
2024. Mr. ZHANG graduated from the Hunan University in 
Environmental Science and Engineering. He has previously 
served various positions in the Investment Management 
Department of TEDA, the controll ing shareholder of the 
Company, and its various subsidiaries, and is currently 
the deputy general manager of TEDA as well as the vice 
chairman of the board of directors of Tianjin Pharmaceutical 
Holdings Co., Ltd..

Mr. WANG Xin, aged 50, has been the Vice Chairman 
and an executive Director of the Company since 19 July 
2023. Mr. WANG graduated from the China University 
of Petroleum, Beij ing in Management with a bachelor’s 
degree in Engineering and a professional master’s degree 
in Engineering. He possesses the professional qualification 
of a PRC Senior Economist. Mr. WANG has served various 
posit ions in China Petroleum & Chemical Corporat ion 

Sheng l i  O i l f i e l d  Sa l es  Company *  ( ) , 
Oilfield Business Department, China Petroleum & Chemical 

Corporation Natural Gas Branch Company* (
) (“Sinopec Gas”). He is currently 

the deputy general manager of Sinopec Gas, Sinopec 

Natural Gas Limited Company* (
) and Sinopec Great Wall Energy Investment Co., Ltd* (

) respectively, which are branch 
company or subsidiaries of China Petroleum & Chemical 
Corporation (a substantial shareholder of the Company).

44

50
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Mr. GAO Liang, aged 57, has been the General Manager 
and an executive Director of the Company since 4 August 
2009. He is also the general manager of Binhai Investment 
(Tianjin) Company Limited (“Binhai Tianjin”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the PRC from 
April 2009 to November 2023, and the chairman of Binhai 
Tianjin since April 2019. Mr. GAO is a senior engineer. He 

graduated from Wuhan Urban Construction Institute (
) with a major in environment hygiene engineering 

in 1988, and obtained a Master’s Degree in Business 

Administration from Nankai University ( ) in 2005. 
He was the deputy director of the Science Promotion Center 
of Urban and Rural Development Administrative Committee 

of  T ian j in  Munic ipa l  (
) for the period from 1993 to 1995 and the deputy 

director of the Tianjin Municipal Environmental and Hygienic 

Engineering Design Council ( ) for the 
period from 1995 to 2001.

Mr. GAO is a member of the Nomination Committee and the 
Risk Committee of the Company.

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Chang Liang, aged 44, has been a non- 
executive Director since 21 August 2024. Mr. ZHANG 
graduated from Tianjin University with a major in Materials 
Science and a master’s degree in Engineering. He is also 
a PRC engineer. Mr. ZHANG has held various positions 
in TEDA and its subsidiaries. He is currently the Deputy 
Secretary of the Party Committee of Binhai Tianjin.

57
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Mr.  SHEN Hong Liang ,  aged 54,  has been a  non- 
executive Director since 16 October 2020. Mr. SHEN is a 
PRC senior economist graduated from the labour and social 
security profession of Jilin University in 2011. Mr. SHEN has 
served various positions in Oilfield Natural Gas Application 

Technology Research Institute Office* (
)  and Sinopec Gas since July 1989. 

From July 2018 to November 2020, Mr. SHEN served as 
the manager of the natural gas sales centre of Sinopec 
Gas in Northern China and the deputy general manager 
of Great Wall Energy, a substantial shareholder of the 
Company. Since November 2020, Mr. SHEN has served as 
the manager of the terminal market development centre of 
Sinopec Gas.

Mr. YU Ke Xiang, aged 54, has been a non-executive 
Director since 26 July 2018. He graduated from The Tianjin 
University of Finance and Economics with a Bachelor’s 
Degree in Economics in 1993 and a Master’s Degree in 
Economics in 1999. Mr. YU has been in financial asset 
investment management (foreign and domestic capital 
markets) and fund operations for many years. He joined 

Tianjin Development Holdings Limited (
) (“Tianjin Development”) since 2010 and has served in 

various roles including deputy general manager and general 
manager of T ianj in Development Assets Management 

Company Limited ( ), a wholly- 
owned subsidiary of Tianjin Development. Prior to joining 
Tianjin Development, Mr. YU was an assistant to manager 
of investment banking division and manager of securities 
division of Northern International Trust and Investment 

Company Limited ( ) ,  head 
of operations of T ianjin Guoneng Investment Company 

Limited ( ), senior project manager 
of fund utilization department of Bohai Property Insurance 

Company Limited ( ), etc. He has 
served as the assistant to general manager and the head 
of capital operation department of Tianjin TEDA Industrial 

G r o u p  C o . ,  L t d  ( )  ( “ T E D A 
Industrial Group”), Tsinlien Group Company Limited (

) (“Tsinlien”) a substantial shareholder of the 
Company (both TEDA Industrial Group and Tsinlien being the 

54 
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controlling shareholders of Tianjin Development), and Tianjin 
Development, as well as a director of certain subsidiaries 
of TEDA Industrial Group Tsinlien and Tianjin Development. 
He is also a director of Tianjin Lisheng Pharmaceutical Co., 
Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange — 
Stock Code 002393). Since 21 February 2023, Mr. YU has 
been appointed as a director of TEDA Hong Kong Property 
Company Limited (“TEDA HK”), a substantial shareholder 
of the Company and since 24 February 2025, he has been 
appointed as a deputy general manager of Tianjin TEDA 

International Holding (Group) Co., Ltd ( (
) ).

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P. , aged 69, has been an 
independent non-executive Director since 23 March 2009. 
He holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons.) Degree from the 
University of Hong Kong, a Master of Arts: Arbitration and 
Alternative Dispute Resolution from the City University 
of Hong Kong and a Master of Laws in Technology and 
Intellectual Property Law from The University of Hong Kong. 
He is a solicitor and Notary Public, Hong Kong SAR and 
China-Appointed Attesting Officer, and Justice of Peace, and 
has been a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong for more than 
30 years. Mr. IP was an independent non-executive director 
of Quam Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) 
during the period from 1 October 2006 to 30 September 
2008. He was also an independent non-executive director 
of Far East Hotels and Entertainment Limited and PC 
Partner Group Limited (both l isted on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange) from March 1997 to September 2024 and 
from January 2011 to November 2024 respectively. He is 
enthusiastic in community activities which include serving 
as the president of The Law Society of Hong Kong (2002-
2004), vice-president of The Law Society of Hong Kong 
(1999-2002), part-time member of Central Policy Unit (2004-
2005), deputy chairman of the Council of Lingnan University 
(2014-2020), council member of the Association of China-
Appointed Attesting Officers Limited (since 2002), director of 
Hong Kong Chinese General Chamber of Commerce (since 
1997), and manager of The Chinese Club (since 2021). Mr. 
IP was awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star (B.B.S.) on 27 July 
2022.

 
002393
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Mr. IP is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and the 
Risk Committee, and a member of the Audit Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin, aged 66, has been an independent 
non-executive Director since 23 March 2009. He is currently 
running his own management consultancy firm, Hin Yan 
Consultants Limited. Mr. LAU has previously worked at 
Ernst & Young for over 15 years. He graduated from the 
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1981. Mr. LAU is 
a Fellow Member of both the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants (“ACCA”) as well as the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. LAU was a 
member of the World Council of ACCA from May 2002 to 
September 2011 and the chairman of ACCA Hong Kong 
in 2000/2001. Mr. LAU is currently the company secretary 
of Yeebo (International Holdings) Limited and Hung Fook 
Tong Group Holdings Limited. He has been appointed an 
independent non-executive director of Embry Holdings 
Limited, FIH Mobile Limited and TCL Electronics Holdings 
Limited respectively and the shares of these companies are 
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. 
Mr. LAU has also been appointed as the company secretary 
of Expert Systems Holdings Limited, the shares of which are 
listed on the GEM of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

According to the press release of the Securities and Futures 
Commission (the “SFC”) of 31 October 2019, proceedings 
were commenced involving China Medical & Healthcare 
Group Limited (formerly known as COL Capital Limited) 
relevant time, including Mr. LAU. The SFC alleged that COL 
failed to disclose inside information as soon as reasonably 
practicable, and that the six individuals had engaged in 
“reckless or negligent conduct” causing COL’s al leged 
breach. On 12 May 2021, the SFC published another press 
release which stated, inter alia, that the Market Misconduct 
Tribunal had made orders against Mr. LAU following such 
proceedings. Further details of the above were disclosed in 
the Company’s announcements dated 5 November 2019 
and 13 May 2021.

66
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Mr. LAU is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a 
member of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration 
Committee and the Risk Committee of the Company.

Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW, aged 73, has been an 
independent non-executive Director since 23 March 2009. 
He obtained his Ph.D. in Mechanical/Industrial Engineering 
from the University of Texas at Austin in 1976. He joined 
the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1986. He was the 
Associate Dean and subsequently the Dean of the Faculty of 
Business Administration of the Chinese University of Hong 
Kong from 1993 until 2002. Professor LAW has acted as 
a consultant with various corporations in Hong Kong and 
overseas and is currently an independent non-executive 
director of the following companies l isted on the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange: Tianjin Port Development Holdings 
Limited, Regal Hotels International Holdings Limited, Tianjin 
Binhai Teda Logistics (Group) Corporation Limited and Tong 
Tong AI Social Group Ltd (formerly known as Gome Finance 
Technology Co., Ltd). He also serves as an independent 
supervisor of Beijing Capital International Airport Company 
Limited. Professor LAW is also active in public services, 
having served as member of the Provisional Regional 
Council of the Hong Kong SAR Government, and various 
Government and charitable boards and committees.

Professor LAW is the chai rman of  the Remunerat ion 
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee, the 
Nomination Committee and the Risk Committee of the 
Company.

73
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Dr. TANG Lai Wah, aged 67, has been an independent 
non-executive Director since 12 May 2023. Dr. TANG holds 
a degree of Bachelor of Arts with honors in Accountancy, 
degree of Master of Business Administration (Executive) and 
degree of Doctor of Business Administration from the City 
University of Hong Kong. Dr. TANG is a fellow member of 
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”) 
as wel l  as the Hong Kong Institute of Cert i f ied Publ ic 
Accountants, a life member of The Hong Kong Independent 
Non-Executive Director Association (“HKiNEDA”) and a 
life member of the Shenzhen Hong Kong Macau Women 
Directors Alliance. Dr. TANG has over 30 years of extensive 
experience in the telecommunication, media and information 
technology industries in the areas of financial management, 
corporate finance, merger and acquisition activities, initial 
public offering on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange and corporate compliance with the Listing Rules. 
She served as the group financial controller of a number of 
listed companies on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange. She was the chief financial officer and company 
secretary of Excel Technology International (Hong Kong) 
Limited from 2002 to 2022. She was an independent non-
executive director of Glory Sun Land Group Limited (listed 
on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) 
from May 2016 to July 2024. She has been appointed as 
an indepenent non-executive director of Kontafarma China 
Holdings Limited (l isted on the main board of the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange) since June 2024. Currently she is a 
committee member of the departmental advisory committee 
for the Department of Accountancy of the City University 
of Hong Kong. She was elected as a council member of 
ACCA Hong Kong Branch from 2015 to 2021. She was also 
appointed as a Specialist and a Financial Expert by the Hong 
Kong Council for Accreditation of Academic & Vocational 
Qualifications from 2014 to 2020.

Dr.  TANG is  a  member  o f  the Audi t  Commit tee,  the 
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and 
the Risk Committee of the Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YIN Fu Gang, aged 51, was appointed as a Deputy 
General Manager of the Company and the secretary to the 
Board on 13 January 2021. He also serves as a General 
Manager of Binhai Tianjin since November 2023. Mr. YIN 
holds a Master’s degree in Laws granted by the Nankai 

University ( ) of the PRC and a Master’s degree in 
Business Administration in Finance granted by the Chinese 
University of Hong Kong. Mr. YIN is a qualified lawyer in 
the PRC and also has the professional qualifications as a 
judge, company lawyer, a senior corporate legal adviser and 
an intermediate economist in the PRC. During the period 
from 1997 to 2002, Mr. YIN was a former court judge of the 
People’s Court of Jinnan District, Tianjin. During the period 
from 2005 to 2009, he was a corporate counsel section 
chief in TEDA. He served successively as the Routine Deputy 
General Manager, the Company Secretary and the Chief 
Finance Officer of the Company since 2009. Thereafter, from 
2019 to 2020, he held several senior managerial positions 

within Jiangsu Gaoli Group Co., Ltd. (
) and its subsidiaries. He has extensive work experience 

in law, finance, audit, risk control, strategic investment, and 
governance of listed companies.

Mr. QU Ai Guo, aged 52, was appointed as a Deputy 
General Manager of the Company on 25 March 2024. Mr. 
QU graduated from the Faculty of Construction Management 

at Tianjin University ( ) majoring in construction 
management engineering of infrastructure. He holds a 
Master’s degree in Management (majoring in Management 
Science and Engineering) granted by the Tianjin University 
and is qualified as an engineer in the PRC. Mr. QU has 
held various positions in various state-owned companies in 
Tianjin since 1996. Since 2007, he has worked for TEDA and 
its subsidiaries and has work experience in various aspects 
including safety management.

51
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Mr. XU Yan, aged 52, was appointed as a Deputy General 
Manager and the Chief Finance Officer of the Company on 
12 June 2024. Mr. XU is a PRC senior economist graduated 
from Henan Agricultural University with a major in modern 
business management. He has been working in various 
subsidiaries of China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation for 
many years, and has extensive work experience in financial 
management.

Ms. ZHANG Wen, aged 47, joined the Group in February 
2010. She is currently the Deputy General Manager of the 
Group. Ms. ZHANG is qualified as a senior economist of the 
PRC. Ms. ZHANG obtained her qualification in Computer 
Software and Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering from the 

Tianjin University of Technology ( ) in 1999. 
Ms. ZHANG graduated from the Nankai University (

) with a Master’s Degree in Business Management in 
2010. From 2010 to 2020, Ms. ZHANG held positions in the 
Group’s General Manager Office and Tender Management 
Office, and has served as the Administrative Director and
Assistant General Manager of the Group.

* For identification purposes only
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The Directors of the Company present their report together 
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year 
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND 
OPERATION ANALYSIS

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of 
the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set 
out in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. The 
analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business 
segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2024 including a fair review of the business of 
the Group, an indication of l ikely future development in 
the Group’s business, and particulars of important events 
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of 
the financial year of 2024 (if any), is set out in the sections 
headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and 
“Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 8 to 9, 
pages 10 to 15, pages 16 to 24 respectively of this Annual 
Report.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND 
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainabil ity 
of the environment and communities in which it engages. 
Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group 
endeavours to identify and adopt effective measures to 
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste 
reduction. A discussion on the Group’s environmental 
policies and performance is set out in the “Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report” of the Company, which has 
been published on the same date of this Annual Report.

In addition, an account of the Group’s key relationships 
with its stakeholders is set out in the section headed 
“Stakeholder Communication” in the “Environmental, Social 
and Governance Report” of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT 
LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no 
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable 
laws and regulations by the Group. A discussion on the 
Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations 
which have a significant impact on the Group is set out in 
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the 
Company.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In 2024, the oil and gas industry demonstrated “evolutionary 
stability,” while the global economy demonstrated resilience 
despite a complex environment. Confronting the complex 
and severe international landscape and new developments 
and challenges in the domestic economic operation, the 
State has intensified counter-cyclical adjustments. As a 
result, the economy has generally maintained a steady 
and progressive development. The natural gas market has 
achieved supply-demand equil ibrium, with multiple key 
indicators reaching record highs. In terms of production 
capacity: China continued to advance its efforts in natural 
gas production, supply, storage, and marketing system, 
fur ther  enhancing i ts  d ivers i f ied and interconnected 
resource security capabilities. In 2024, domestic natural gas 
production is expected to increase by 6.3% year-on-year 
and imported resources are projected to grow by 12.4% 
year-on-year. In terms of consumption: the annual natural 
gas consumption in 2024 is expected to exceed 430 billion 
cubic metres, representing a growth rate of approximately 
8%. In terms of LNG: multiple LNG receiving stations have 
been constructed and put into operation across China, 
bringing the total number of operational receiving stations to 
34. The “National Unified Pipeline Network” infrastructures 
constantly made new progress.

A package of stimulus policies introduced by the State 
has recovered the market vitality in the consumer market. 
This has put the natural gas consumption back on a fast-
growth track. The Nat ional  Development and Reform 
Commission has issued a new version of the Natural 

Gas Uti l izat ion Management Measures (
). The new measures priorit ize natural gas and 

thermoelectr ic ity cogenerat ion and distr ibuted energy 
projects, which has bolstered market confidence in the 
development of the natural gas sector. Over recent years, 
natural gas consumption in power generation, industrial 
use, and transportation has been the main driver of demand 
growth. In the medium to long term, the primary substitution 
space for natural gas is expected to be taken by electricity. 
Meanwhile, hydrogen energy is also expected to take the 
place of natural gas in some application scenarios, thereby 
eroding the demand growth trajectory.

6.3% ;
12.4%
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In 2025, the oil and gas industry is set to embrace a fresh 
development climate marked by “seeking stabil ity amid 
changes.” To address the diverse and multi-layered future 
natural gas market demand and the mitigate risks brought 
about by uncertainties such as international geopolitical 
conflicts, Sino-US relations, and extreme weather, which 
may shift regional and even global market supply patterns 
and cause energy price volatility, the Group will continue to 
intensify its integrated layout drive across the entire natural 
gas production chain. It will participate in the integration 
of upstream gas resources to enhance its gas sourcing 
capabi l i t ies; cont inue to explore high-qual i ty terminal 
gas projects and promote acquisit ions and mergers to 
further expand its market share; continue to increase the 
proportion of gas sales to industrial users and power plants, 
optimise its gas sales portfolio and improve profitability; 
act ively respond to market changes and reinforce i ts 
overall competitiveness by speeding up the development 
of integrated energy business and value-added service 
business, actively expanding the integrated business in 
the industrial field and implementing the business model of 
“supply and use integration”.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss on page 126.

According to the dividend policy of the Company, the Board 
has recommended a final dividend for the year ended 31 
December 2024 of HK$0.076 per ordinary share of the 
Company (the “Final Dividend”) (final dividend for the year 
ended 31 December 2023: HK$0.076 per ordinary share 
with scrip option).

The Final Dividend is subject to approval by holders of 
the ordinary shares of the Company at the annual general 
meeting (“the AGM”) of the Company to be held on 9 May 
2025 and is expected to be paid on or about 10 June 2025.

126
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CLOSURES OF REGISTER OF 
MEMBERS

(a)	 For determining the entitlement to attend and 
vote at the AGM

Shareholders of the Company whose names appear 
on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 
9 May 2025 will be eligible to attend and, in relation 
to holders of ordinary shares, to vote at the AGM. The 
register of members of the Company will be closed 
from Tuesday, 6 May 2025 to Friday, 9 May 2025 
(both days inclusive). All completed transfer forms 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be 
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share 
registrar and transfer off ice, Computershare Hong 
Kong Investor Services Limited of Shops 1712-1716, 
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 
p.m. on Friday, 2 May 2025.

(b)	 For determining the entitlement to the Final 
Dividend

The Final Dividend will be payable to the holders of 
ordinary shares whose names appear on the register 
of members of the Company on Tuesday, 20 May 
2025 and the register of members of the Company will 
be closed from Thursday, 15 May 2025 to Tuesday, 
20 May 2025 (both days inclusive). In order to qualify 
for the Final Dividend, all completed transfer forms 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be 
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share 
registrar and transfer off ice, Computershare Hong 
Kong Investor Services Limited of Shops 1712-1716, 
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 
p.m. on Wednesday, 14 May 2025.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year 
using financial key performance indicators is provided in 
the section headed “Financial Highlights” on page 8 of this 
report.

A summary of the financial results, assets and liabilities 
of the Group for the last f ive f inancial years ended 31 
December 2024 is set out on page 300 of this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment 
of the Group during the year are set out in Note 16 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had 1,376,733,112 
ordinary shares at par value of HK$0.10 each (“Ordinary 
Share(s)”), 6,522,000 Ordinary Shares held by the Company 
as treasury shares and 2,880,000 redeemable preference 
shares at par value of HK$50.00 each (“Redeemable 
Preference Share(s)”) in issue.

Redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares

8,600,000 Redeemable Preference Shares were issued to 
Cavalier Asia Limited for the consideration of HK$430 million 
on 4 May 2009, all of which were subsequently transferred 
to TEDA HK in August 2011. The Redeemable Preference 
Shares are redeemable at the discretion of the Company 
at their par value of HK$50.00 per Redeemable Preference 
Share as from the fifth anniversary of the date of resumption 
of trading of the Ordinary Shares on the Growth Enterprise 
Market of the Stock Exchange (i.e. 12 May 2009), subject to 
various conditions.
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In view of the fulfillment of the conditions, the Company 
redeemed 640,000 Redeemable Preference Shares at 
the redemption amount of HK$50.00 per Redeemable 
Preference Share on 28 November 2018, redeemed 520,000 
Redeemable Preference Shares at the redemption amount 
of HK$50.00 per Redeemable Preference Share on 27 June 
2019, redeemed 400,000 Redeemable Preference Shares 
at the redemption amount of HK$50.00 per Redeemable 
Preference Share on 10 June 2020, redeemed 1,000,000 
Redeemable Preference Shares at the redemption amount 
of HK$50.00 per Redeemable Preference Share on 11 June 
2021, redeemed 1,200,000 Redeemable Preference Shares 
at the redemption amount of HK$50.00 per Redeemable 
Preference Share on 10 June 2022, redeemed 940,000 
Redeemable Preference Shares at the redemption amount 
of HK$50.00 per Redeemable Preference Share on 9 June 
2023, and redeemed 1,020,000 Redeemable Preference 
Shares  a t  the  redempt ion amount  o f  HK$50.00 per 
Redeemable Preference Share on 19 July 2024. Details of 
the above redemptions are set out in the announcements of 
the Company dated 19 November 2018, 26 June 2019, 10 
June 2020, 11 June 2021, 10 June 2022, 9 June 2023 and 
19 July 2024.

Detai ls  of  the movements in the share capita l  of  the 
Company dur ing the year ended 31 December 2024 
including particulars of the above redemption of Redeemable 
Preference Shares are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the 
Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which impose 
an obligation on the Company to offer new shares on a pro- 
rata basis to the Shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of 
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity in Note 29 and Note 39 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

50.00
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no reserves available for cash distribution 
and/or distr ibut ion in specie as calculated under the 
Companies Act of Bermuda as at 31 December 2024 (as at 
31 December 2023: Nil).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company had adopted a share option scheme on 13 
January 2021, details of which are set out in the section 
headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” of this report. Apart 
from this, no other equity-linked agreements were entered 
into during the year ended 31 December 2024 or subsisted 
at the end of the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
made no donations (for year ended 31 December 2023: no 
donations).

ISSUE OF NEW SHARES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, 30,262,195 Ordinary 
Shares were issued, credited as fully paid, pursuant to the 
scrip dividend scheme in relation to the final dividend for the 
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Scrip Shares”). Details 
of the movements in the share capital of the Company 
during the year are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the special general meeting of the Company held on 13 
January 2021, the Shareholders approved the adoption 
of the share option scheme of the Company (the “2021 
Scheme”) in place of the previous share option scheme 
which had expired.

The purposes of the 2021 Scheme are to (1) further improve 
the governance structure of the Company, and establishing 
a sound and modern corporate system; (2) promote more 
focus of the management team and key employees on 
the Company’s operating performance and establishing 
a benefit sharing and risk sharing mechanism among the 
Shareholders, the Company and strategic investors; and (3) 
establish a long-term and effective incentive mechanism to 
attract and retain key talents and motivating the corporate 
vitality to support the Company in achieving its strategic 
objectives.

30,262,195

27

2021

2021 (1)

(2)

(3)
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Participants of the 2021 Scheme include the Directors 
(excluding independent non-executive Directors), the senior 
management personnel, and core technical personnel 
and key management personnel of the Company and its 
subsidiaries who have a direct impact on the Company’s 
overall operating performance and sustainable development. 
The 2021 Scheme became effective on 13 January 2021 
and, unless otherwise terminated in advance under the 
relevant requirements of the scheme, will remain in force 
until 12 January 2031.

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon exercise 
of al l  the share options to be granted under the 2021 
Scheme is an amount equivalent to 10% of the ordinary 
shares of the Company (the “Ordinary Shares”) in issue as at 
the date of approval of the 2021 Scheme. Unless approved 
by a special resolution at a general meeting, the shares 
issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the share 
options granted to each participant (including exercised or 
outstanding share options) under the 2021 Scheme shall 
not exceed 1% of the total Ordinary Shares in issue of the 
Company as at the date when the scheme was approved at 
a general meeting.

The restriction period for which an option granted under 
the 2021 Scheme must be held before it can be exercised 
commences from the grant date of the share options and 
lasts for twenty-four months. The vesting period for options 
granted under the 2021 Scheme shall be seven (7) years 
commencing from the date of grant. No fee shall be payable 
by a participant of the 2021 Scheme on the application for 
or acceptance of the grant of share options.

The exercise price of the share options of the 2021 Scheme 
shall be determined in accordance with the fair market 
price principle. The exercise price shall be the higher of the 
three following prices: (i) the closing price of the Ordinary 
Shares on the grant date; (ii) the average closing price of the 
Ordinary Shares on the five trading days prior to the grant 
date; and (iii) the nominal value of the Ordinary Shares on 
the grant date.

2021

2021

2021

2021

10%
2021

1%

2021

2021

2021

2021

(i)
(ii)

(iii)
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Pursuant to the 2021 Scheme, on 13 January 2021 the 
Company granted 27,040,503 share options (“First Batch 
Share Options”) with a fair value on the grant date of 
approximately HK$9,804,000 to an executive Director 
and the senior management personnel and core technical 
personnel and key management personnel of the Company 
and i ts subsidiar ies who have a direct impact on the 
Company’s overall operating performance and sustainable 
development. The exercise price of the First Batch Share 
Options is HK$1.32 per Ordinary Share. The closing price of 
the Company’s shares immediately before the date of grant 
of such options was HK$1.28. During the year ended 31 
December 2024, a total of 1,809,353 share options of the 
First Batch Share Options had lapsed in accordance with 
the terms of the 2021 scheme.

On 24 April 2023, the Company granted 39,833,234 share 
options (“Second Batch Share Options”) with a fair value 
on the grant date of approximately HK$17,746,000 to an 
executive Director and the senior management personnel 
and core  techn ica l  personne l  and key  management 
personne l  o f  the Company and i ts  subs id iar ies who 
have a direct impact on the Company’s overall operating 
performance and sustainable development. The exercise 
price of the Second Batch Share Options is HK$1.69 per 
Ordinary Share. The closing price of the Company’s shares 
immediately before the date of grant of such options was 
HK$1.68. During the year ended 31 December 2024, a 
total of 5,736,918 share options of the Second Batch Share 
Options had lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 
2021 scheme.

On 14 December 2023, the Company further granted 
4,005,503 share options (“Further Second Batch Share 
Options”) with a fair value on the grant date of approximately 
HK$1,202,000 to  core  techn ica l  personne l  and key 
management personnel of the Company and its subsidiaries 
who have a direct impact on the Company’s overall operating 
performance and sustainable development. The exercise 
price of the Further Second Batch Share Options is HK$1.38 
per Ordinary Share. The closing price of the Company’s 
shares immediately before the date of grant of such options 
was HK$1.31. During the year ended 31 December 2024, a 
total of 436,005 share options of the Further Second Batch 
Share Options had lapsed in accordance with the terms of 
the 2021 scheme.

2021
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Each of the Second Batch Share Options and the Further 
Second Batch Share Options granted shall only be vested if 
the corresponding performance appraisal indicators meet the 
specified target values for the financial year preceding the 
vesting of each batch of options. The performance appraisal 
indicators include (i) the Company’s earnings per Ordinary 
Share after deduction of nonrecurring profit or loss for the 
relevant target financial year; (ii) the Company’s growth rate 
of the net profit attributable to equity holders after deduction 
of nonrecurring profit or loss for the relevant target financial 
year compared to the average value for the years of 2019 to 
2021; (iii) the compared results of (i) and (ii) with the industry 
average or the 75th percentile value of the benchmarking 
enterprises for the relevant target financial year; and (iv) the 
research and development expenses for the relevant target 
financial year. In addition, the vesting of the Share Options 
shall be linked to the individual performance appraisal results 
of the participants of the 2021 Scheme for the preceding 
financial year, and the actual vesting proportions of the share 
options shall be confirmed according to the tiers.

Accordingly, the maximum number of Ordinary Shares to 
be issued upon exercise of share options which had been 
granted under the 2021 Scheme is 54,474,921, representing 
approximately 3.96% of the total issued Ordinary Shares as 
at the date of this report.

The number of  opt ions avai lable for  grant under the 
2021 Scheme was 71,777,532 as at 1 January 2024 and 
79,759,808 as at 31 December 2024 respectively.

No share option was granted under the 2021 Scheme 
and no share option granted under the 2021 scheme was 
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2024.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)(i) (ii)

75 (iv)
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Details of the First Batch Share Options, the Second Batch 
Share Options and the Further Second Batch Share Options 
held by the Directors and employees of the Group pursuant 
to the 2021 Scheme and the changes during the year ended 
31 December 2024 were as follows:

First Batch Share Options:

Grantee
Date of 
grant

Exercise 
Period

Exercise 
Price 
(HK$)

Number of 
ordinary shares 
subject to 
outstanding
options as at
1 January
2024

Number of 
options 

granted during 
the year

Number of 
options 

lapsed during 
the year

Number of 
options 

excercised 
during the year

Number of 
ordinary shares 

subject to 
outstanding

options as at 
31 December

2024

Approximate 
percentage

of the Company’s 
total issued 

ordinary shares
as at 31

December 2024

Mr. Gao Liang 
 (Executive 
 Director)  

 

13.1.2021 Vesting date (Note 1) 

  12.1.2028 
( 1) 

  12.1.2028

1.32 1,174,143 — 1,174,143 0.08%

Employees 13.1.2021 Vesting date (Note 1) 

  12.1.2028 
( 1) 

  12.1.2028

1.32 19,356,618 (1,809,353) 17,547,265 1.27%

          

Total 20,530,761 (1,809,353) — 18,721,408 1.35%

          

2021
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Second and Further Second Batch Share Options: 

Grantee
Date of 
grant

Exercise 
Period

Exercise 
Price 
(HK$)

Number of ordinary 
shares subject to 
outstanding
options as at
1 January
2024

Number of options 
granted during 

the year

Number of options 
lapsed during 

the year

Number of ordinary 
shares subject to 

outstanding
options as at 
31 December

2024

Approximate 
percentage

of the Company’s total 
issued ordinary shares

as at 31 December
2024

 

Mr. Gao Liang 
 (Executive 
 Director)  

 

24.4.2023 Vesting date (Note 1) 

  23.4.2030
1

  23.4.2030

1.69 1,912,301 1,912,301 0.14%

Employees 24.4.2023 Vesting date (Note 1) 

  23.4.2030
1

  23.4.2030

1.69 36,008,632 (5,736,918) 30,271,714 2.20%

Employees 14.12.2023 Vesting date (Note 1) 

  13.12.2030
1  

  13.12.2030

1.38 4,005,503 (436,005) 3,569,498 0.26%

         

Total 41,926,436 (6,172,923) 35,753,513 2.60%
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Notes:

1.	 Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions for vesting as 
provided under the 2021 Scheme, the share options granted 
shall be vested in batches as follows:

(i)	 From the grant date until the second year anniversary 
(24-month) of the grant date, 40% of the total number 
of share options granted shall be vested;

(ii)	 From the grant date until the third year anniversary 
(36-month) of the grant date, 30% of the total number 
of share options granted shall be vested (excluding the 
share options which have already been vested); and

(iii)	 From the grant date until the fourth year anniversary 
(48-month) of the grant date, 30% of the total number 
of share options granted shall be vested (excluding the 
share options which have already been vested).

The exercise period for the share options granted under the 
2021 Scheme is seven years commencing from the grant 
date, upon the expiry of which the outstanding share options 
granted shall lapse automatically.

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted, 
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31 
December 2024. The total number of Ordinary Shares 
available for issue upon exercise of all the share options 
granted and to be granted under the 2021 Scheme is 
134,234,729, representing approximately 9.75% of the 
total number of Ordinary Shares in issue (excluding treasury 
shares) as at the date of this report.

1. 2021

(i) 24
40%

(ii) 36

30%

(iii) 48

30%

2021

2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fair value of the 
First Batch Share Options, the Second Batch Share Options 
and the Further Second Batch Share Options granted is 
calculated according to the binomial option pricing model. 
The fair value and the main parameters of the model are as 
follows:

First Batch Share Options:

Tranche Grant date Vesting date

Fair value 
per option
(HK$)

Share price 
on grant date 

(HK$)

Exercise price 
of options

(HK$)
Expected volatility

 of share price

Expected 
dividend yield 
(consecutive)

Risk-free rate 
(consecutive)

(Note b) (Note c) (Note d)

b c d

First Tranche 13/1/2021 13/1/2023 0.3610~0.3703 (Note a) a 1.32 1.32 44.94% 5.81% 0.54%

Second Tranche 13/1/2021 13/1/2024 0.3570~0.3656 (Note a) a 1.32 1.32 44.94% 5.81% 0.54%

Third Tranche 13/1/2021 13/1/2025 0.3480~0.3554 (Note a) a 1.32 1.32 44.94% 5.81% 0.54%

         

Note: 	 (a)	 The parameters such as the expected turnover rate 
(consecutive) after the vesting period of different levels 
of employees are different, resulting in the difference in 
the corresponding fair value per option within the same 
tranche.

	 (b)	 The expected volatility of share price is determined by 
the historical stock price volatility of the company.

	 (c)	 The  expec ted  d i v i dend  y i e l d  i s  de te rm ined  by 
management’s best estimate on the valuation base 
date.

	 (d)	 The risk-free rate is based on the yield of Hong Kong 
government bonds.

 (a) 

 (b) 

 (c) 

 (d) 
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The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair 
value of the share options are based on the best estimate 
of the Directors. The value of an option varies with different 
variables of certain subjective assumptions. Changes in the 
subjective assumptions could materially affect the fair value 
estimate.

Second Batch Share Options:

Tranche Grant date Vesting date

Fair value 
per option
(HK$)

Share price 
on grant date 

(HK$)

Exercise price 
of options

(HK$)
Expected volatility

 of share price

Expected 
dividend yield 
(consecutive)

Risk-free rate 
(consecutive)

(Note b) (Note c) (Note d)

b c d

First Tranche 24/4/2023 24/4/2025 0.4502 (Note a) a 1.69 1.69 39.20% 5.75% 3.09%

Second Tranche 24/4/2023 24/4/2026 0.4471 (Note a) a 1.69 1.69 39.20% 5.75% 3.09%

Third Tranche 24/4/2023 24/4/2027 0.4376 (Note a) a 1.69 1.69 39.20% 5.75% 3.09%
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Further Second Batch Share Options:

Tranche Grant date Vesting date

Fair value 
per option
(HK$)

Share price 
on grant date 

(HK$)

Exercise price 
of options

(HK$)
Expected volatility

 of share price

Expected 
dividend yield 
(consecutive)

Risk-free rate 
(consecutive)

(Note b) (Note c) (Note d)

b c d

First Tranche 14/12/2023 14/12/2025 0.3059 (Note a) a 1.34 1.38 39.04% 7.20% 3.20%

Second Tranche 14/12/2023 14/12/2026 0.3010 (Note a) a 1.34 1.38 39.04% 7.20% 3.20%

Third Tranche 14/12/2023 14/12/2027 0.2909 (Note a) a 1.34 1.38 39.04% 7.20% 3.20%

         

Note: 	 (a)	 The parameters such as the expected turnover rate 
(consecutive) after the vesting period of different levels 
of employees are the same, and the corresponding fair 
value per option within the same tranche are the same.

	 (b)	 The expected volatility of share price is determined by 
the historical stock price volatility of the company.

	 (c)	 The  expec ted  d i v i dend  y i e l d  i s  de te rm ined  by 
management’s best estimate on the valuation base 
date.

	 (d)	 The risk-free rate is based on the yield of Hong Kong 
government bonds.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair 
value of the above share options are based on the best 
estimate of the Directors. The value of an option varies 
with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. 
Changes in the subjective assumptions could materially 
affect the fair value estimate.

 (a) 

 (b) 

 (c) 

 (d) 
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this 
report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. ZHANG Wang (Chairman)
  (appointed on 23 December 2024)
Mr. HU Hao (Chairman)
  (resigned on 23 December 2024)
Mr. WANG Xin (Vice Chairman)
Mr. GAO Liang (General Manager)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. ZHANG Chang Liang
  (appointed on 21 August 2024)
Mr. SHEN Hong Liang
Mr. YU Ke Xiang
Mr. WANG Gang 
  (resigned on 25 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P.
Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin
Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW
Dr. TANG Lai Wah

The Company has received an annual conf irmation of 
independence from each of its independent non-executive 
Directors regarding each of the factors and matters under 
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all 
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

In accordance with Bye-Law 87(1) of the Bye-Laws of the 
Company, Mr. SHEN Hong Liang (non-executive Director), 
and Professor Japhet Sebastian LAW and Dr. TANG Lai 
Wah ( independent non-execut ive Directors) ,  who are 
longest in office since their previous re-election, will retire by 
rotation and will be eligible for re-election at the AGM of the 
Company.

 

 

 

 

3.13

87(1)
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In accordance with Bye-Law 86(2) of the Bye Laws of the 
Company, Mr. ZHANG Chang Liang (non-executive Director) 
and Mr. ZHANG Wang (execut ive Director),  who were 
appointed by the Directors on 21 August and 23 December 
2024 respectively, will hold office until the AGM and will then 
be eligible for re-election at the AGM.

RESIGNATION OF DIRECTORS

During the year, Mr. WANG Gang resigned as a non-
executive Director with effect from 25 March 2024 due to 
personal reasons including health condition and approaching 
ret i rement.  Mr.  HU Hao resigned as the Chairman of 
the Board and an executive Director with effect from 23 
December 2024 due to change in job duties. During the 
year, no Director resigned from his or her office or refused 
to stand for re-election to his or her office due to reasons 
relating to the affairs of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Independent non-executive Directors have a term of office of 
two years and non-executive Directors have a term of office 
of three years, both subject to retirement by rotation and re- 
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in 
accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election 
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service 
contract with the Company which is not determinable within 
one year without payment of compensation, other than 
statutory compensation.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS WITH 
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save for the contracts between the Group and TEDA 
and its subsidiar ies and China Petroleum & Chemical 
Co rpo ra t i on  ( “S i nopec  Co rp” )  and  i t s  subs id i a r i es 
as  d i sc losed  i n  the  sec t i on  headed  “CONT INU ING 
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” of this report, there were 
no material contracts between the Group and its controlling 
shareholders or its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 
December 2024.

86(2)
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

N o  c o n t r a c t s  c o n c e r n i n g  t h e  m a n a g e m e n t  a n d 
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 
business of the Group were entered into or existed during 
the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN 
COMPETING BUSINESS

No Di rector  had any in terest  in  any bus iness which 
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the 
Group as at 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN 
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of 
significance to the business of the Group to which the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party which 
subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024 
or at any time during the period.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE 
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest 
paid individuals during the year ended 31 December 2024 
are set out in Note 10 and Note 40 to the consolidated 
f inancial statement to this report. More particulars are 
a lso set out in the sect ion headed “REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE”  i n  t he  “CORPORATE  GOVER N A N C E 
REPORT”.

 

 

10 40
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ 
INFORMATION

Mr. IP Shing Hing, B.B.S., J.P. , an independent non-
executive Director, no longer serves as an independent non-
executive director of Far East Hotels and Entertainment 
Limited and PC Partner Group Limited with effect from 2 
September and 5 November 2024 respectively.

Mr. LAU Siu Ki, Kevin, an independent non-executive 
Director, no longer serves as an independent non-executive 
director of  Samson Holdings Ltd with effect f rom 31 
December 2024.

Dr. TANG Lai Wah, an independent non-executive Director, 
no longer serves as a committee member of Professional 
Accounting Committee of Guangdong's Association for 
Promotion of Cooperation between Guangdong, Hong 
Kong & Macau with effect from 30 September 2024 and no 
longer serves as the vice president of Hong Kong Business 
Accountants Association with effect from 31 December 
2024.

Mr. YU Ke Xiang, a non-execut ive Director, has been 
appointed as deputy general manager of T ianj in TEDA 
International Holding (Group) Co., Ltd. since 24 February 
2025, no longer serves as the assistant to general manager 
and the head of capital operation department of Tianjin 
TEDA Industrial Group Co., Ltd and Tsinlien Group Company 
Limited with effect from 24 February 2025, and no longer 
serves as the assistant to general manager and the head 
of capital operation department of Tianjin Development 
Holdings Limited with effect from 3 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, 
the Company is not aware of any change in the Directors’ 
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules.

 

13.51B(1)
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(a) 

571

(a)
352

(b)
C3

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-Laws of the Company provides that for the time 
being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company, 
every director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out 
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against 
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses 
which he shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any 
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution 
of duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities 
and costs associated with defending any proceedings which 
may be brought against the directors of the Company and 
its subsidiaries.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS 
OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVES, 
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND 
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES 
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE 
COMPANY

(a)	 Interests and short positions of the Directors and 
the chief executives in the share capital of the 
Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short 
posit ions of the Directors and the chief executive 
of the Company in the shares, underly ing shares 
or debentures of the Company and its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Chapter 
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) which were required to 
be: (a) recorded in the register kept by the Company 
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (b) notified to 
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange 
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions 
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) 
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were as 
follows:
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Directors’ interests in long position in Ordinary 

Shares

Interest in Ordinary Shares
Interests in 
underlying 

Ordinary 
Total interests in 
Ordinary Shares 

Approximate 
percentage of the 

Company’s total 
issued Ordinary 

Name of 
Director Capacity

Personal 
interests

Corporate 
interests

Family 
interests Total interests

Shares pursuant 
to share options*

and underlying 
Ordinary Shares

Shares as at 
31 December 2024

*

 

Mr. GAO Liang Beneficial owner — — — — 3,086,444 3,086,444 0.22%

Professor Japhet 
  Sebastian LAW

Beneficial owner 100,000 — — 100,000 — 100,000 0.01%

         

*	 The share options represent physically settled unlisted 
derivatives.

* 
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Director’s rights to acquire shares or debentures

Pursuant to the 2021 Scheme, the Company granted 
options to subscribe for Ordinary Shares to a Director, 
the details of which are as follows:

Name of Director Date of grant Exercise Period Exercise Price

Number 
of Ordinary 

Shares subject 
to outstanding 

options as
at 1 January 2024

Number of Ordinary 
Shares subject 
to outstanding 

options as at
31 December 2024

Approximate 
percentage 

of the Company’s 
total issued 

Ordinary Shares as 
at 31 December 2024

 

(HK$) (HK$)

Mr. GAO Liang 13.1.2021 Vesting date (Note) 
 — 12.1.2028 

  12.1.2028

1.32 1,174,143 1,174,143 0.08% 

24.4.2023 Vesting date (Note) 
  23.4.2030

  22.4.2030

1.69 1,912,301 1,912,301 0.14%

       

Note: 	Details of the conditions for vesting and vesting period 
of the share options granted under the 2021 Scheme 
are set out in the sect ion headed “Share Opt ion 
Scheme” above.

2021

 2021
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year 
ended 31 December 2024 were r ights to acquire 
benefit by means of the acquisition of any class of 
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any 
Director or their respective spouse or children under 
18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by 
them, or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a 
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to 
acquire such right in any other body corporate.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, 
there were no other interests or short positions of the 
Directors and the chief executives of the Company 
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the 
Company and its associated corporations (as defined 
under Part XV of the SFO) entered in the register kept 
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or 
otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

XV

352
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(b)	 Interests and short positions of substantial 
shareholders and other persons in the share 
capital of the Company

As at 31 December 2024, the persons (not being 
a Director or chief executive of the Company) or 
companies who or  which had interests or  short 
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the 
Company as recorded in the register required to be 
kept under section 336 of the SFO are listed as follows:

Approximate 
percentage of 

Number of Ordinary Shares the total issued 
Ordinary Shares of 

Name of 
shareholder Position Capacity

Beneficial 
interests

Family 
interests

Corporate 
interests

Other 
interests Total interests

the Company as at 
31 December 2024

TEDA (Note 1)
1

Long Interest of controlled 
  corporation

— — 579,378,707 — 579,378,707 42.08%

China 
  Petrochemical
  Corporation 
  (Note 2)

 
 2

Long Interest of controlled 
  corporation

— — 405,472,337 — 405,472,337 29.45%

Sinopec Corp 
  (Note 3)

 3

Long Interest of controlled 
  corporation

— — 405,472,337 — 405,472,337 29.45%

         

(b) 
 

336
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Notes:

1.	 TEDA HK, an indirect subsidiary of TEDA, beneficially 
owned 521,317,877 Ordinary Shares of the Company 
as of 31 December 2024. Santa Resources Limited 
(“Santa Resources”) and Learder Top Investments 
Limited (“Learder Top”), also being indirect subsidiaries 
of TEDA, beneficially owned 52,588,830 and 5,472,000 
Ordinary Shares of the Company respectively. TEDA 
controls 72.42% in T ianj in TEDA Industr ia l  Group 
Co., Ltd. ( ), which in turn 
controls 100% in Tianjin Bohai State-owned Assets 
Management Co., Ltd. (

), which in turn controls 100% in TEDA HK. Tianjin 
TEDA Industrial Group Co., Ltd. (

), through its directly and indirectly 100% controlled 
entities, holds 62.81% interests in Tianjin Development 
Holdings Limited, which in turn controls 100% in 
Santa Resources and Learder Top. Accordingly, TEDA 
was deemed to be interested in the same number of 
Ordinary Shares held by TEDA HK, Santa Resources 
and Learder Top pursuant to the SFO.

2.	 China Petrochemical Corporation is the controll ing 
shareholder of Sinopec Corp. China Petrochemical 
Corporation was deemed to be interested in all the 
Ordinary Shares held by Sinopec Corp pursuant to the 
SFO.

3.	 Sinopec Great Wall Energy Investment (Hong Kong) 
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sinopec Corp, 
beneficially owned 405,472,337 Ordinary Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the 
Company had not been notified of any other interests or 
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the 
Company which were recorded in the register required to be 
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

1. 

521,317,877  
Santa Resources Limited Santa  
R e s o u rc e s L e a rd e r  To p 
Investments Limited Learder 
Top

52,588,830 5,472,000

72.42%

100%

100%

100%
62.81%

Santa Resources Learder 
Top 100%

Santa Resources
Learder Top

2. 

3. 

405,472,337

336
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S 
INTERESTS IN NON-COMPETING GAS 
SUPPLY BUSINESSES

TEDA owns 51% of the equity interest in TEDA Gas and 
a minority interest in Tianjin Eco-City Energy Investment 
Construction Company Limited (“Tianjin Eco-City”) which are 
engaged in the supply of gas to end users.

TEDA Gas mainly serves the purpose of supplying natural 
gas to the Tianjin Economic and Technological Development 
Area at preferential rates in order to enhance the appeal 
of such area to investors and is not a purely commercial 
enterprise. The Group supplies gas to TEDA Gas on a 
market basis and accordingly earns profit. The Group does 
not have the operating right granted by the government of 
the Tianjin Economic and Technological Development Area 
to supply gas to the local end users in such area. Besides, 
the Company does not consider it commercially desirable for 
the Group to supply gas to the local end users in such area.

Tianjin Eco-City is directly owned as to 51% equity interest 
by T ianj in Eco-City Investment Development Company 
Limited (directly and indirectly owned by TEDA as to 20% 
equity interest), a company established under a national- 
grade cooperation project between the PRC government 
and the Singapore Government that manages and operates 
a particular district in the Binhai New Area. Tianjin Eco-City 
purchases gas from the Group for its own use and to satisfy 
the demand of end users in such district in accordance with 
the intention of the local government, and does not carry out 
the business of sale of gas to customers. The Group does 
not have the operating right granted by the government of 
such district to supply gas to the local end users.

 

51%

20%
51%
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As the businesses of TEDA Gas and Tianjin Eco-City are 
differentiated from the business of the Group by target 
customers, the Directors consider that there is no business 
competition between the Group and the TEDA together with 
its subsidiaries and associates (“TEDA Group”). Save for 
TEDA’s interest in TEDA Gas and Tianjin Eco-City, none of 
the Directors or controlling shareholders of the Company or 
their respective associates had any interest in a business 
which may compete with the business of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1.	 Pipeline Modification Agreement with Tianjin 
Water Engineering Group Limited* (“Tianjin Water 
Engineering”)

On 21 August 2024, Tianjin Clean Energy (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into the 
Pipeline Modification Agreement with Tianjin Water 
Engineering, under which Tianjin Clean Energy agreed 
to engage Tianjin Water Engineering to carry out the 
Construction Works to modify certain pipelines of 
the drift tube section that forms part of the natural 
gas pipelines for the second gas source in the Binhai 
New Area under the Project. Pursuant to the Pipeline 
Modification Agreement, Tianjin Clean Energy shall 
pay RMB3,306,053 to Tianjin Water Engineering as 
consideration for the Construction Works.

TEDA is the controlling shareholder of the Company, 
indirectly interested in 579,378,707 Ordinary Shares 
( represent ing approximate ly 41.89% of the tota l 
number of Ordinary Shares in issue on the date of the 
agreement) as at the date of the signing of the Pipeline 
Modif ication Agreement, and is thus a connected 
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Since 
Tianjin Water Engineering is a subsidiary of TEDA and 
thus its associate, it is also regarded as a connected 
person of the Company.

Particulars of the Pipeline Modification Agreement 
and the transactions contemplated thereunder were 
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 
21 August 2024.

1. 

3,306,053

579,378,707

41.89%
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2.	 Capital Increase Agreement in relation to Sinopec 
Tianjin Liquefied Natural Gas Co., Ltd.* (“Sinopec 
LNG”)

On 27 September 2024, Binhai T ianj in, a whol ly-
owned subs id iary  o f  the Company,  entered the 
Capital Increase Agreement with Sinopec Natural 
Gas, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sinopec Corp, to 
increase the registered capital of Sinopec LNG from 
RMB4,474,200,000 to RMB4,874,200,000 on a pro 
rata basis, pursuant to which Sinopec Natural Gas 
has agreed to contribute the sum of RMB39,200,000 
and Binhai Tianjin agreed to contribute the sum of 
RMB8,000,000, by way of cash, into the registered 
capital of Sinopec LNG. Binhai Tianjin and Sinopec 
Natural Gas held 2% and 98% of the equity interest in 
Sinopec LNG, respectively. Upon completion, Binhai 
Tianjin and Sinopec Natural Gas continued to hold 2% 
and 98% of the equity interest in Sinopec LNG.

Sinopec Corp is a substantial  shareholder of the 
Company indirectly interested in 405,472,337 Ordinary 
Shares (representing approximately 29.32% of the 
total number of Ordinary Shares in issue on the date 
of the agreement), and is thus a connected person of 
the Company under the Listing Rules. Since each of 
Sinopec Natural Gas and Sinopec LNG is a subsidiary 
of Sinopec Corp, each of Sinopec Natural Gas and 
Sinopec LNG is an associate of Sinopec Corp and thus 
a connected person of the Company under the Listing 
Rules.

Particulars of the Capital Increase Agreement and the 
transactions contemplated thereunder were disclosed 
in the announcement of  the Company dated 27 
September 2024.

2. 

4,474,200,000
4,874,200,000

39,200,000

8,000,000

2% 98%

2% 98%

405,472,337

29.32%
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3. 

2,960,460

579,378,707

42.04%

50%

3.	 New Employee Medical Insurance Agreement with 
Heng An Standard Life Insurance Company (Tianjin 
Branch)* (“Heng An Standard Life”)

On 24 December 2024, Binhai Tianjin entered into the 
the New Employee Medical Insurance Agreement with 
Heng An Standard Life, pursuant to which Heng An 
Standard Life was engaged to provide comprehensive 
medical insurance coverage in Mainland China to 
the employees of the Group under various types of 
insurance policies. Each of such insurance policies is 
for a term of one year commencing from 1 January 
2025 up to and including 31 December 2025. The total 
insurance premium for the insurance coverage under 
the New Employee Medical Insurance Agreement 
amounts to RMB2,960,460 and is payable by Binhai 
Tianjin.

TEDA is the controlling shareholder of the Company 
indirectly interested in 579,378,707 Ordinary Shares 
( represent ing approximate ly 42.04% of the tota l 
number of Ordinary Shares in issue on the date of 
the agreement), and thus a connected person of the 
Company under the Listing Rules. Since Heng An 
Standard Life is owned by Tianjin TEDA International 
(Group) Holding Company Limited* (a subsidiary of 
TEDA) as to 50% of its equity interest and thus an 
associate of TEDA, Heng An Standard Life is also 
regarded as a connected person of the Company.

Particulars of the New Employee Medical Insurance 
Agreement  and the  t ransact ions  contemp la ted 
thereunder were disclosed in the announcement of the 
Company dated 24 December 2024.
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4. 

3,209,662.88

4.	 New Insurance Service Procurement Agreement 
with Bohai Property Insurance Co., Ltd. (“Bohai 
Property Insurance”)

On 24 December 2024, T ianj in Clean Energy and 
B inha i  T ian j i n  en te red  in to  the  New Insu rance 
Service Procurement Agreement with Bohai Property 
Insurance, pursuant to which Bohai Property Insurance 
was engaged to provide insurance coverage and other 
incidental services to Binhai Tianjin and its subsidiaries, 
assoc ia ted  compan ies ,  b ranch compan ies  and 
operating centres under various insurance policies. 
Each of such insurance policies is for a term of one 
year commencing from 1 January 2025 up to and 
including 31 December 2025. The total insurance 
premium for the insurance coverage under the New 
Insurance Service Procurement Agreement amounts 
to RMB3,209,662.88 and is payable by Tianjin Clean 
Energy.

TEDA is the controlling shareholder of the Company, 
and is thus a connected person of the Company under 
the Listing Rules. Since Bohai Property Insurance is 
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of TEDA and thus its 
associate, it is also regarded as a connected person of 
the Company.

Particulars of the New Insurance Service Procurement 
Agreement  and the  t ransact ions  contemp la ted 
thereunder were disclosed in the announcement of the 
Company dated 24 December 2024.



Binhai Investment Company Limited 100

Directors’ Report
董事會報告

 

42.08%

29.45%

30%

CONTINUING CONNECTED 
TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2024, TEDA through its subsidiaries 
holds approximately 42.08% of the total issued Ordinary 
Shares and is the controlling shareholder of the Company. 
TEDA and its subsidiaries and associates are connected 
persons of the Company. Great Wall Energy through its 
wholly-owned subsidiary holds approximately 29.45% of 
the total issued Ordinary Shares and is the substantial 
shareholder of the Company. Since Great Wall Energy is a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Sinopec Corp, Sinopec Corp is 
a connected person of the Company. Since Sinopec Gas is 
a branch company of Sinopec Corp, Sinopec Gas and its 
subsidiaries and associates are also connected persons of 
the Company. Since Sinopec Corp exercises or controls the 
exercise of 30% or more of the voting power at the general 
meeting of Sinopec Binhai Investment (Tianjin) Natural Gas 
Utilization Co., Ltd. (“SBI”), SBI is an associate of Sinopec 
Corp and is thus a connected person of the Company. 
Tianjin TEDA Supply Chain Management Company Limited 
(“TEDA Supply Chain”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of TEDA 
and is thus a connected person of the Company.
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:

(a) 

 
 
 
 

508,773,000

161,176,000

Dur ing  the  year,  the  Group’s  cont inu ing  connected 
transactions with the above connected persons were as 
follows:

(a)	 Master gas supply agreement

Date of the agreement: 8 November 2021

Duration: From 1 January 2022 
to 31 December 2024 
(both days inclusive)

Parties: TEDA

The Company

Transaction involved: The Group supplied 
natural gas to TEDA 
Group pursuant to the 
agreements of supply of 
natural gas entered into 
from time to time.

Annual cap for the period 
from 1 January 2024 to 
31 December 2024:

RMB508,773,000

Actual transaction amount 
in the period from 1 
January 2024 to 31 
December 2024:

approximately 
RMB161,176,000
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(b) 

34,640,000

2,700,000

(b)	 Master gas supply connection agreement

Date of the agreement: 8 November 2021

Duration: From 1 January 2022 
to 31 December 2024 
(both days inclusive)

Parties: TEDA

The Company

Transaction involved: The Group provided gas 
supply connection 
services to TEDA Group 
pursuant to the gas 
supply connection 
agreements entered into 
from time to time.

Annual cap for the period 
from 1 January 2024 to 
31 December 2024

RMB34,640,000

Actual transaction amount 
in the period from 1 
January 2024 to 31 
December 2024:

approximately 
RMB2,700,000
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(c)	 Master gas supply agreement with Sinopec Gas

Date of the agreement:  23 April 2020

Duration: From 1 January 2022 
to 31 December 2024 
(both days inclusive)

Parties: Sinopec Gas

Binhai Tianjin

Transaction involved: Binhai Tianjin and its 
subsidiaries (“Binhai 
Tianjin Group”) 
purchased natural gas 
from Sinopec Gas and 
its subsidiaries and 
associates (“Sinopec 
Gas Group”) according 
to individual agreements 
entered into from time 
to time.

Annual cap for the period 
from 1 January 2024 to 
31 December 2024:

RMB3,806,790,000

 
Actual transaction amount 

in the period from 1 
January 2024 to 31 
December 2024:

approximately 
RMB1,136,727,000

(c) 

 

3,806,790,000

1,136,727,000
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(d)	 Gas supply agreement with Sinopec Gas, 
Sinopec Lubricant Company Limited Binhai 
Branch Company (“Sinopec Lubricant Binhai”) 
and SBI
 

Date of the agreement: 8 November 2021

Duration: From 1 January 2022 
to 31 December 2024 
(both days inclusive)

Parties: Sinopec Gas 
Sinopec Lubricant Binhai 
SBI 
Binhai Tianjin

Transaction involved: Binhai Tianjin Group 
supplied natural gas to 
Sinopec Gas, Sinopec 
Lubricant Binhai, SBI, 
and their respective 
subsidiaries and 
associates pursuant 
to the individual 
agreements entered into 
from time to time.

Annual cap for the period 
from 1 January 2024 to 
31 December 2024:

RMB82,152,000

Actual transaction amount 
in the period from 1 
January 2024 to 31 
December 2024:

approximately 
RMB1,542,000

(d) 

 
 

 

82,152,000 

 
 

 

 

1,542,000
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(e)	 Gas transmission agreement with Sinopec Gas 
and SBI

Date of the agreement: 8 November 2021

Duration: From 1 January 2022 
to 31 December 2024 
(both days inclusive)

Parties: Sinopec Gas
SBI
Binhai Tianjin

Transaction involved: Binhai Tianjin Group 
provided natural gas 
transmission services to 
Sinopec Gas Group and 
SBI and its subsidiaries 
and associates 
according to the 
individual agreements 
to be entered into from 
time to time.

Annual cap for the period 
from 1 January 2024 to 
31 December 2024:

RMB2,015,000

 
Actual transaction amount 

in the period from 1 
January 2024 to 31 
December 2024:

Nil

(e) 

 

 2,015,000
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(f)	 Office supplies framework agreement with TEDA 
Supply Chain
Date of the agreement: 26 April 2024

Duration: From 26 April 2024 to 31 
December 2024 (both 
days inclusive)

Parties: TEDA Supply Chain
Binhai Tianjin

Transaction involved: TEDA Supply Chain 
provided office supplies 
to Binhai Tianjin 
Group through an 
e-commerce system 
that it has established 
and operates pursuant 
to the individual 
agreements or purchase 
orders to be entered 
into from time to time.

Annual cap for the period 
from 26 April 2024 to 31 
December 2024:

RMB4,500,000

Actual transaction amount 
in the period from 
26 April 2024 to 31 
December 2024

approximately 
RMB238,000

(f)	

:

:

:

:

:

4,500,000

:

238,000
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(g)	 Galvanized steel pipes framework agreement 
with TEDA Supply Chain

Date of the agreement: 19 July 2024

Duration: From 19 July 2024 to 30 
June 2025 (both days 
inclusive)

Parties: TEDA Supply Chain
Binhai Tianjin

Transaction involved: TEDA Supply Chain 
provided galvanized 
steel pipes to Binhai 
Tianjin Group pursuant 
to the individual 
agreements to be 
entered into from time 
to time.

Annual cap for the period 
from 19 July 2024 to 31 
December 2024:

RMB9,500,000

Actual transaction amount 
in the period from 19 July 
2024 to 31 December 
2024

approximately 
RMB4,331,000

(g) 

:

:

9,500,000

4,331,000 



Binhai Investment Company Limited 108

Directors’ Report
董事會報告

Details on related party transactions for the year are set 
out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. 
Details of any related party transaction which also constitute 
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction 
not exempted under rule 14A.73 of the List ing Rules 
are disclosed above. The Group has complied with the 
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules in respect of such transactions.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the 
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews 
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference 
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor ’s Letter on Continuing 
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong List ing 
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter 
containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the 
continuing connected transactions of the Group disclosed 
on pages 100 to 107 of this Annual Report in accordance 
with rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non–executive Directors have reviewed the 
continuing connected transactions referred to above for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 and confirmed that these 
transactions have been entered into:

(a)	 in the ordinary and usual course of business of the 
Group;

(b)	 on normal commercial terms; and

(c)	 in accordance with the relevant agreements governing 
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the 
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a 
whole.

38
14A.73

14A

3000
740

14A.56
100 107

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 
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(a) 

2021

300,000,000

36
2021

2021
2021

2021

6
1% 12

4%
18 5%

24
5% 30

5%
36

LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH 
COVENANTS RELATING TO SPECIFIC 
PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTROLLING 
SHAREHOLDER

(a)	 On 10 June 2021, the Company (as borrower) and 
a syndicate formed by several banks (as lenders) 
entered into a syndicated term loan facility agreement 
(the “2021 Faci l i ty Agreement”),  under which the 
Company was provided a term loan faci l ity of not 
more than US$300,000,000 (the “Facility”) for a period 
of 36 months from the date of the first drawdown of 
the Facil ity by the Company (the “First Drawdown 
Date”). TEDA (being the controlling shareholder of the 
Company) provided a guarantee for the Company’s 
l iabi l i t ies under the 2021 Faci l i ty Agreement and 
the related f inance documents. The 2021 Faci l i ty 
Agreement was amended and supplemented by 
a supplemental agreement dated 20 August 2021 
(“Supplementa l  Agreement” )  entered into by the 
Company and the agent and security agent of the 
lenders under the 2021 Facil ity Agreement. Under 
the 2021 Faci l i ty Agreement (as amended by the 
Supplemental Agreement), loans drawn under the 
Facil ity shall be repaid as to 1% on the date of 6 
months after the First Drawdown Date, as to 4% on the 
date of 12 months after the First Drawdown Date, as to 
5% on the date of 18 months after the First Drawdown 
Date, as to 5% on the date of 24 months after the First 
Drawdown Date, as to 5% on the date of 30 months 
after the First Drawdown Date, and as to the remaining 
amount on the date of 36 months after the First 
Drawdown Date.
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i

51%
(ii)

2024

2021

(b) 

2024

110,000,000 A
284,000,000 B

2024

2024 A B

24 A B
(i)

12
2% (ii) 18

According to the terms of the 2021 Facility Agreement, 
i f  TEDA and Sinopec Corp no longer together: ( i ) 
(d irect ly or through their  respect ive subsidiar ies) 
beneficially own at least 51% of the issued voting share 
capital of the Company or (ii) maintain the management 
control of the Company, this would give rise to a right 
to the lenders to cancel all commitments under the 
Facility Agreement and declare that all outstanding 
loans with accrued interests and other amounts 
outstanding under the 2021 Facility Agreement and 
the related finance documents to become due and 
payable.

Subsequently, the Company has been fully repaid the 
loans outstanding under the 2021 Facility Agreement 
(as amended by the Supplemental Agreement) by the 
loan proceeds drawn from the 2024 Facility Agreement.

(b)	 On 20 March 2024, the Company (as borrower) and 
a syndicate formed by several banks (as lenders) 
entered into a syndicated term loan facility agreement 
(the “2024 Faci l i ty Agreement”),  under which the 
Company is provided a multi-currency term loan facility 
of not more than US$110,000,000 (the “Facility A”) 
and RMB284,000,000 (the “Facility B”). Tianjin Clean 
Energy, Binhai Tianjin, Taicheng Energy (which are 
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company) provide 
guarantee for the Company’s liabilities under the 2024 
Facility Agreement and related finance documents.

Facility A and Facility B of the 2024 Facility Agreement 
are each for a period of 24 months after the utilisation 
date under the corresponding facility (the “Utilisation 
Date”). The respective loans drawn under Faci l i ty 
A and Facility B are subject to repayment of (i) 2% 
of the aggregate amount of the corresponding loan 
on the expiry date of 12 months after the date of 



111Annual Report 2024 

Directors’ Report
董事會報告

2% (iii) 24

A 
12

2024
(1) (i)

51%
(ii)

(2)

20%

2024

 

19%
20%

6%

6%

the Utilisation Date; (ii) 2% of the aggregate amount 
of the corresponding loan on the expiry date of 18 
months after the date of the Utilisation Date; and (iii) 
the remaining amount of the loan on the expiry date 
of 24 months after the date of the Utilisation Date (the 
repayment date of the remaining amount of the loan 
under Facility A may be extended by the Company for 
12 months subject to agreement by the lenders).

According to the terms of the 2024 Facility Agreement, 
i f  (1) TEDA and Sinopec Corp together cease to: 
(i) (directly or through their respective subsidiaries) 
beneficially own at least 51% of the issued voting share 
capital of the Company or (ii) maintain the management 
control of the Company; or (2) Sinopec Corp ceases 
to (directly or through its subsidiaries) beneficially own 
at least 20% of the issued voting share capital of the 
Company, this would give rise to a right to the lenders 
to cancel all commitments under the 2024 Facil ity 
Agreement and declare that all outstanding loans with 
accrued interests and other amounts outstanding 
thereunder and the related f inance documents to 
become due and payable.

EVENT OCCURRING AFTER THE 
BALANCE SHEET DATE

No material subsequent events were noted as at the date of 
approval of these consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue from sales 
to the five largest customers of the Group accounted for 
19% (for year ended 31 December 2023: 20%) of the total 
revenue from sales of goods and service for the financial 
year, and revenue from sales to the largest customer, 
Tangshan Lanxin Glass Company Limited, included therein 
accounted for 6% (largest customer Tangshan Lanxin Glass 
Company Limited for year ended 31 December 2023: 6%) 
of the total revenue from sales of goods and service for the 
financial year.
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56%
56%

28%
28%

5%

7,253,460
6,522,000

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the 
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 56% (for 
year ended 31 December 2023: 56%) of the total purchases 
for the f inancial  year and purchases from the largest 
supplier included therein accounted for 28% (for year ended 
31 December 2023: 28%) of the total purchases for the 
financial year. Among the Group’s five largest suppliers, the 
natural gas sales centre of Sinopec Gas in Northern China 
and Hebei Natural Gas Sales Centre are wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of Sinopec Corp.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors of or any 
of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the 
best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the 
Company’s issued ordinary share capital (excluding treasury 
shares)) had any beneficial interest in any of the five largest 
customers and suppliers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION 
OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED 
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, pursuant to 
the general mandate to repurchase shares approved by 
the holders of ordinary shares of the Company at the 2024 
annual general meeting, the Company repurchased a total of 
6,522,000 ordinary shares of the Company (“Repurchased 
Shares”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for 
an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$7,253,460 
after deducting expenses. The Repurchased Shares were 
subsequently held by the Company as treasury shares. 
The repurchases were effected for the enhancement of the 
net asset value per share and/or earnings per share of the 
Company. The Board is of the view that the Company’s 
repurchases and holding of Ordinary Shares as treasury 
shares provides more flexible capital operation avenues, 
which is conducive to optimizing the Company’s capital 
structure and reducing cost of capital. The Board wil l 
determine whether and when the Company’s treasury 
shares to be cancelled or sold at market price based on 
market conditions and the capital management needs of 
the Group, or dispose of such treasury shares for other 
purposes compliant with the Listing Rules, the bye-laws of 
the Company, and the applicable Bermuda laws. Details of 
the Repurchased Shares are as follows:
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Purchase consideration per Repurchased Share

Month of purchase in 2024

No. of 
Repurchased 

Shares
Highest 

price paid 
Lowest 

price paid 

Aggregate 
consideration 

paid 
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)

September 256,000 1.04 1.02 264,400

October 1,994,000 1.24 1.08 2,325,120

November 928,000 1.22 1.02 1,032,840

December 3,344,000 1.15 1.00 3,631,100

    

Total 6,522,000 7,253,460

     

During the year ended 31 December 2024, in view of the 
fulfillment of the conditions for redemption of the redeemable 
non-voting preference shares at par value of HK$50 each 
(“Redeemable Preference Shares”) under the bye-laws of 
the Company and having considered the financial position 
of the Group, the Company redeemed and cancel led 
1,020,000 Redeemable Preference Shares from TEDA HK 
on 19 July 2024, at the redemption amount of HK$50 per 
Redeemable Preference Share, amounting in aggregate to 
HK$51,000,000.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of 
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities or transferred any of treasury 
shares during the year ended 31 December 2024.

50

50
1,020,000

51,000,000
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the 
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 
the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not 
less than 25% of the total issued Ordinary Shares (excluding 
Treasury Shares) as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2024 have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
(“Deloitte”) who will retire and, being eligible, have offered 
themselves for re-appointment as the external auditor of 
the Company at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution will be 
proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Deloitte as 
external auditor of the Company.

PricewaterhouseCoopers was an external auditor of the 
Company for the financial years of 2021, 2022 and 2023 
and resigned as the external auditor of the Company with 
effect from 31 October 2024.

De lo i t t e  was  appo in ted  as  t he  ex te r na l  aud i to r  o f 
t h e  C o m p a n y  b y  t h e  B o a rd  o n  3 1  O c t o b e r  2 0 2 4 
t o  f i l l  t h e  v a c a n c y  f o l l o w i n g  t h e  r e s i g n a t i o n  o f 
P r i cewate rhouseCoopers ,  and  ho ld  o f f i ce  un t i l  the 
conclusion of the next annual general meet ing of the 
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Binhai Investment Company Limited

Gao Liang
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 March 2025

25%

•
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To the Shareholders of Binhai Investment 
Company Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audi ted the consol idated f inancia l 
statements of Binhai Investment Company Limited 
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 
126 to 300, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit 
o r  l oss  and  o the r  comprehens i ve  i ncome, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash f lows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including material accounting 
po l i c y  i n f o rma t i on  a nd  o t he r  e xp l ana to r y 
information.

I n  ou r  op in ion ,  t he  conso l i da ted  f i nanc ia l 
s tatements g ive a t rue and fa i r  v iew of  the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as 
at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash 
f lows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and 
have been properly prepared in compliance with 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

 

126 300



Binhai Investment Company Limited 116

Independent Auditor’s Report
獨立核數師報告

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong 
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued 
by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

OTHER MATTER

The consol idated f inancial statements of the 
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 
were audited by another auditor who expressed 
an unmodified opinion on those statements on 25 
March 2024.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance 
i n  ou r  aud i t  o f  t he  conso l i da ted  f i nanc i a l 
statements of the current period. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of property, 
plant and equipment

We performed the following procedures to address 
the key audit matter:

1.	 Understood the design and implementation of 
key controls over the impairment assessment 
on the Assets Subject to Impairment Review;

1. 

2.	 Understood and evaluated the management’s 
processes in identifying impairment indicators;

2. 

We identified the impairment assessment on 
the Assets Subject to Impairment Review 
as defined in Note 4(i) as a key audit matter 
due to the significant judgements associated 
with determining the recoverable amounts. 
The carrying value of the Assets Subject to 
Impairment Review amounted to HK$116.00 
million at 31 December 2024. During the year 
ended 31 December 2024, an impairment 
loss of HK$ 6.76 million was recognised.

4(i)

116.00
6.76

Details of the valuation methodology and key 
inputs used in the valuations are disclosed 
in Note 16 to the consol idated f inancial 
statements. The value-in-use calculation 
are dependent on certain inputs that involve 
judgements, including growth rates, gross 
margin and the pre-tax discount rate.

16
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

T h e  d i r e c t o r s  o f  t h e  C o m p a n y  h a v e 
exercised its judgement on the key inputs of 
the valuations and reviewed the results.

3.	 Evaluated the outcome of prior year assessment 
of impairment of property, plant and equipment 
to assess the effectiveness of management’s 
estimation process;

3. 

4.	 Assessed the reasonableness of key inputs used 
in the value-in-use calculation by comparing 
them to historical results and published market 
and industry data, where applicable;

4. 

5.	 Checked the mathematical accuracy of the 
calculations.

5. 
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of property, 
plant and equipment

We identified the impairment assessment 
on a real estate property under construction 
(the “PUC”) as owned by a subsidiary as 
a key audit matter due to the signif icant 
judgements associated with determining the 
recoverable amounts. The carrying value of 
the PUC amounted to HK$44.82 million at 
31 December 2024.

44.82

An  ex te r na l  va l ue r  ( t he  “Va lue r ” )  was 
engaged by the Company to determine the 
recoverable amount of the PUC. Details of 
the valuation methodology and key inputs 
used in the valuations are disclosed in Note 
16 to the consolidated financial statements. 
The valuations are dependent on certain 
inputs that involve judgements, including 
construction and instal lat ion costs, pre-
construction expenses, capital costs, and 
the remaining economic life. During the year 
ended 31 December 2024, an impairment 
loss of HK$5.00 million was recognised.

16

5.00

T h e  d i r e c t o r s  o f  t h e  C o m p a n y  h a v e 
exercised its judgement on the key inputs of 
the valuations and reviewed the results with 
the Valuer.

Our procedures in relation to the management’s 
impairment assessment of the PUC included:

1. Understood the design and implementation of 
key controls over the impairment assessment 
on the PUC;

1. 

2. Evaluated the external valuer’s competence, 
capability and objectivity;

2. 

3. Engaged our internal valuation specialists to 
evaluate the reasonableness of the methodology 
and certain inputs as adopted by management 
and the external valuer;

3. 

4. Tested key inputs adopted by the management 
and  the  ex te r na l  va lue r  aga ins t  re l evan t 
supporting information.

4. 
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND 
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued 
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND 
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged wi th governance are respons ib le  for 
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 
90 of the Bermuda Companies Acts, and for no other 
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.

 
 

 

90
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

 

• 

• 

• 
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a mater ia l  uncerta inty exists,  we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the f inancial 
information of the entities or business units within 
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 
group financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and review of the audit work 
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

 

• 

• 

• 
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The engagement partner on the audit result ing in this 
independent auditor’s report is Lam Kam Chiu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2025

 

•
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2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from contracts with 
customers 5 6,197,801 6,406,681

Cost of sales and services 9 (5,628,324) (5,657,702)
  

Gross profit 569,477 748,979
Administrative expenses 9 (202,963) (218,607)
Research and development 

expenses 9 (112,548) (131,580)
Other income 6 153,612 140,681
Other gains and losses 7 20,757 (21,596)
Impairment losses on financial 

assets and contract assets, net 
of reversal

 

8 (11,882) (17,548)
  

Operating profit 416,453 500,329
Finance income 11 17,862 6,612
Finance costs 11 (138,559) (163,012)

  

Finance costs — net 11 (120,697) (156,400)
  

Share of results of associates and 
joint ventures accounted for 
using the equity method 13 14,603 10,769

  

Profit before income tax 310,359 354,698
Income tax expense 14 (101,098) (91,276)

  

Profit for the year 209,261 263,422
  

Profit for the year attributable 
to:
— Owners of the Company — 199,775 256,612
— Non-controlling interests — 9,486 6,810

  

209,261 263,422
  

HK$ cents HK$ cents

Earnings per share attributable 
to owners of the Company:

 
15

— Basic earnings per share — 14.6 19.0
  

— Diluted earnings per share — 14.6 18.9
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2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year 209,261 263,422
  

Other comprehensive expenses
Items that will not be reclassified to 

profit or loss
— Exchange differences on 

translation from functional 
currency to presentation 
currency

 

(84,652) (69,251)
  

Total comprehensive income for 
the year 124,609 194,171

  

Total comprehensive income for 
the year is attributable to:

 

— Owners of the Company — 117,686 187,911

— Non-controlling interests — 6,923 6,260
  

124,609 194,171
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2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 5,985,500 6,007,569
Right-of-use assets 17 189,472 194,424
Investment properties 18 5,832 12,561
Intangible assets 19 68,278 72,120
Investments in associates and joint 

ventures 13 302,781 296,902
Prepayments 20 15,720 87,476
Deferred tax assets 21 30,773 33,394
Restricted bank deposits 24 11,107 10,925
Term deposits 26 19,016 —

  

6,628,479 6,715,371
  

Current assets
Inventories 22 97,266 107,863
Trade and other receivables 23 304,602 348,342
Notes receivable 36,438 34,708
Contract assets 5 4,473 15,906
Prepayments 20 293,528 433,193
Term deposits 26 957 127,035
Cash and cash equivalents 25 384,045 808,364

  

1,121,309 1,875,411
  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 33 1,204,412 1,324,393
Contract liabilities 5 679,990 821,627
Current income tax liabilities 61,851 52,551
Borrowings 31 1,071,352 1,846,244
Lease liabilities 17 5,066 7,145

  

3,022,671 4,051,960
  

Net Current Liabilities (1,901,362) (2,176,549)
  

Total Assets less Current 
Liabilities 4,727,117 4,538,822
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2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and Reserves
Share capital 27 282,325 330,299

— Ordinary shares — 138,325 135,299
— Redeemable preferences 

shares
— 

144,000 195,000

Treasury Stocks 27 (7,267) —
Share premium 29 36,640 1,536
Contributed surplus 29 — 40,102

Other reserves 29 (110,083) (70,820)
Retained earnings 2,020,124 1,932,273

  

Equity attributable to owners of the 
Company 2,221,739 2,233,390

Non-controlling interests 82,407 87,161
  

Total equity 2,304,146 2,320,551
  

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 31 2,258,172 2,059,386
Deferred income 32 145,265 142,721
Lease liabilities 17 7,270 6,412
Deferred tax liabilities 21 12,264 9,639
Trade and other payables 33 — 113

  

2,422,971 2,218,271
     

The consolidated financial statements on pages 126 to 300 
were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 
21 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf.

	 	

	 Zhang Wang	 Gao Liang

  
	 Director	 Director
	 	

126 300
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Attributable to owners of the Company

 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Treasury
stock

Contributed
surplus

Other
reserves

Retained
earnings Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
 

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

            

Balance at 1 January 2024 330,299 1,536 — 40,102 (70,820) 1,932,273 2,233,390 87,161 2,320,551
Profit for the year — — — — — 199,775 199,775 9,486 209,261
Other comprehensive expenses — — — — (82,089) — (82,089) (2,563) (84,652)         

Total comprehensive 
(expenses)/income  
for the year — — — — (82,089) 199,775 117,686 6,923 124,609         

Recognition of equity-settled 
share-based payment

 
28 — — — — 4,896 — 4,896 29 4,925

Stock dividend 30 3,026 35,104 — — — (38,130) — — —
Dividends provided for and paid 30 — — — (40,102) — (24,595) (64,697) — (64,697)
Dividends paid to non-controlling 

interests — — — — — — — (11,706) (11,706)
Repurchase of treasury shares 27(b) — — (7,267) — — — (7,267) — (7,267)
Redemption of preferences shares 27(a) (51,000) — — — — — (51,000) — (51,000)
Appropriation of statutory reserves 29 — — — — 49,199 (49,199) — — —
Fulfillment of specialised reserve 29 — — — — (11,269) — (11,269) — (11,269)         

(47,974) 35,104 (7,267) (40,102) 42,826 (111,924) (129,337) (11,677) (141,014)         

Balance at 31 December 2024
282,325 36,640 (7,267) — (110,083) 2,020,124 2,221,739 82,407 2,304,146

            



Annual Report 2024  131

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)
合併權益變動表（續）
For the year ended 31 December 2024

 Attributable to owners of the Company

      

Share  
capital

Share 
premium

Contributed 
surplus

Other 
reserves

Retained 
earnings Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total  

equity

 

Notes HK$’000 HK$’00 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2023 377,203 175,305 — (70,563) 1,739,025 2,220,970 65,016 2,285,986
Profit for the year — — — — 256,612 256,612 6,810 263,422
Other comprehensive expenses — — — (68,701) — (68,701) (550) (69,251)

        

Total comprehensive  
(expenses)/income  
for the year — — — (68,701) 256,612 187,911 6,260 194,171

        

Exercise of share options 27, 28 96 1,536 — — — 1,632 — 1,632
Recognition of equity-settled share-

based payment 28 — — — 5,080 — 5,080 13 5,093
Conversion of share premium to 

contributed surplus 29(iv) — (175,305) 175,305 — — — — —
Dividends provided for and paid 30 — — (135,203) — — (135,203) — (135,203)
Contribution from non-controlling 

interests — — — — — — 20,000 20,000
Dividends paid to non-controlling 

interests — — — — — — (4,128) (4,128)
Redemption of preferences shares 27(a) (47,000) — — — — (47,000) — (47,000)
Appropriation of statutory reserves 29 — — — 52,095 (52,095) — — —
Specialised reserve 29 — — — 11,269 (11,269) — — —

        

(46,904) (173,769) 40,102 68,444 (63,364) (175,491) 15,885 (159,606)
        

Balance at 31 December 2023
330,299 1,536 40,102 (70,820) 1,932,273 2,233,390 87,161 2,320,551

               



Binhai Investment Company Limited 132

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
合併現金流量表
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating 
activities

Cash generated from operations 34(a) 662,456 887,216
Interest received 17,862 6,612
Income tax paid (85,326) (61,443)

  

Net cash inflow from operating 
activities

 
594,992 832,385

  

Cash flows from investing 
activities

Receipts of asset related 
government grant

 
9,402 11,144

Payment for acquisition of a 
subsidiary 36 — (30,099)

Payments for property, plant and 
equipment

 
(378,751) (567,849)

Payments for acquiring equity 
investments (13,607) (53,204)

Payments for acquiring land use 
rights (256) (14,736)

Payments for acquiring intangible 
assets (2,776) (2,926)

Proceeds from disposal of 
property, plant and equipment 51,141 32,511

Proceeds from disposal of 
subsidiaries

 
37 10,720 —

Withdrawal of restricted bank 
deposits — 165,317

Placement of restricted bank 
deposits (532) (6,002)

Withdrawal of term deposits 124,872 —
Placement of term deposits (20,128) (128,849)
Dividends from joint ventures and 

associates
 

6,520 7,837
  

Net cash outflow from investing 
activities

 
(213,395) (586,856)
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2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from financing 
activities

Payments on repurchase of shares (7,267) —
Proceeds from borrowings 1,418,876 1,681,127
Proceeds from borrowings of a 

related party — 334,672
Repayment of borrowings (1,914,275) (1,285,981)
Repayment of borrowings to 

related parties — (669,344)
Repayment of lease liabilities (14,702) (13,079)
Interests paid (130,049) (135,247)
Contributions from non-controlling 

interests — 20,000
Exercise of share options — 1,632
Dividends paid to Company’s 

shareholders
 

30 (64,697) (135,203)
Dividends paid to non-controlling 

interests
 

(17,492) (4,128)
Redemption of redeemable 

preferences shares 27(a) (51,000) (47,000)
  

Net cash outflow from financing 
activities

 
(780,606) (252,551)

  

Net decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents (399,009) (7,022)

Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of year 808,364 845,250

Effects of exchange rate difference (25,310) (29,864)
  

Cash and cash equivalents at 
end of year 25 384,045 808,364

     

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be 
read in conjunction with the accompany notes.
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

Binhai Investment Company Limited (the “Company”) 
was incorporated in Bermuda on 8 October 1999. The 
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The 
Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEx”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The 
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 
12. The Company and its subsidiaries are hereafter 
together referred to as the Group.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) regard 
TEDA Hong Kong Property Company Limited (“TEDA 
HK”) and Great Wall Energy Investment (Hong Kong) 
Limited (“Great Wall Energy HK”) as the largest and the 
second largest shareholders of the Company, which 
hold 37.87% and 29.45% of the total ordinary shares in 
issue of the Company, respectively (Note 38).

The consolidated financial statements of the Group 
are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) and the 
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries 
is Renminbi (“RMB”).

1. 

HM 11 2

12

37.87%
29.45% 38
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

(i)	 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 
statements

The consol idated f inancial statements of the 
Company have been prepared in accordance 
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). For 
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements, information is considered 
material if such information is reasonably expected 
to influence decisions made by primary users. In 
addition, the consolidated financial statements 
include applicable disclosures required by the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 
HKEx (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

(ii)	 Going concern

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current 
l i ab i l i t i e s  exceeded  i t s  cu r ren t  a sse t s  by 
approximately HK$1,901 mil l ion. The Group’s 
current liabilities as at 31 December 2024 primarily 
included trade and other payables, contract 
liabilities and current borrowings of approximately 
HK$1,204 million, HK$680 million and HK$1,071 
million, respectively.

2.  
 

(i)  

(ii) 

1,901

1,204 680
1,071
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The management of the Company has concluded 
that  the Group wi l l  have suff ic ient  f inancia l 
resources to support its operations and to meet 
its financial obligations and commitments as and 
when they fall due in the coming twelve months 
from 31 December 2024 based on the following 
considerations: 1) the Group will remain profitable 
and generate net cash from its operations, and 
2) the Group has already arranged or secured 
other  loan fac i l i t ies  tota l l ing approx imate ly 
RMB802 mil l ion (equivalent to approximately 
HK$852 mill ion) from certain banks and other 
financial institutions which are readily available 
for the Group as of the date of approval of these 
consolidated financial statements.

The Directors have reviewed the management’s 
assessment together with the underlying basis 
and are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare 
the consolidated financial statements on a going 
concern basis.

1
2

802
852
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(iii)	 Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily 
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the 
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the 
HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily 
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning 
on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to 
HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback

Amendments to 
HKAS 1

Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current and 
related amendments to 
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 
(2020)

Amendments to 
HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants

Amendments to 
HKAS 7 and 
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance 
Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs 
in the current year has had no material impact on 
the Group’s financial positions and performance 
for the current and prior years and/or on the 
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial 
statements.

(iii) 

16

1

5

1

7

7
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(iv)	 New or revised standards that have been 
issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following 
new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been 
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to 
HKFRS 9 and 
HKFRS 7

Amendments to the 
Classification and 
Measurement of Financial 
Instruments3

Amendments to 
HKFRS 9 and 
HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing 
Nature-dependent 
Electricity3

Amendments to 
HKFRS 10 and 
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of 
Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint 
Venture1

Amendments to 
HKFR Accounting 
Standards

Annual Improvements 
to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards — Volume 113

Amendments to 
HKAS 21

Lack of Exchangeability2

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure 
in Financial Statements4

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
a date to be determined.

2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2025.

3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2026.

4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRSs mentioned below, 
the Directors anticipate that the application of 
the other amendments to HKFRSs will have no 
material impact on the consolidated f inancial 
statements in the foreseeable future.

(iv) 

9
7

3

9
7

3

10
28 1

11 3

21 2

18

4

1 

2 

3 

4 
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HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18  Presen ta t ion  and  D isc losu re  i n 
Financial Statements, which sets out requirements 
on presentat ion and disclosures in f inancia l 
statements, wil l replace HKAS 1 Presentation 
o f  F inanc ia l  S ta tements .  Th is  new HKFRS 
Accounting Standard, whi le carrying forward 
many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces 
new requirements to present specified categories 
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit 
or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to 
the financial statements and improve aggregation 
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed 
in the financial statements. In addition, some 
HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 
8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors  and HKFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures . Minor amendments to 
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 
Earnings per Share  are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, 
will be effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2027, with early application 
permitted. The application of the new standard 
is expected to affect the presentation of the 
statement of profit or loss and disclosures in 
the future financial statements. The Group is in 
the process of assessing the detailed impact of 
HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

18

18

1

1

1
8

7

7
33

18

18
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

3.1	 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of 
f inancial r isks: market r isk ( including foreign 
exchange risk and cash flow and fair value interest 
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s 
overal l  r isk management programme focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance. As at 31 December 
2024, the Group does not use any derivative 
financial instruments to hedge against its financial 
risk exposures.

The Group’s risk management is predominantly 
controlled by the Group’s financial department 
(Group Treasury) under pol icies approved by 
the Board of Directors of the Company ( the 
“Board”). Group Treasury identif ies, evaluates 
the needs for hedging any financial risks in close 
co-operation with the Group’s operating units. 
The Board provides written principles for overall 
risk management, as well as policies covering 
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, 
interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative 
financial instruments and non-derivative financial 
instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

3.  

3.1 
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(a)	 Market risk

(i)	 Foreign currency risk

Fore ign  cu r rency  r i sk  a r i ses  f rom 
f u t u r e  c o m m e r c i a l  t r a n s a c t i o n s 
and recognised assets or l iabi l i t ies 
denominated in currency that is not 
the functional currency of the group 
entities.

The operations and customers of the 
Group’s subsidiaries are located in the 
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) 
with most of the assets/liabilities and 
transactions denominated and settled 
in RMB.

Certain bank balances and borrowings 
are denominated in HK$ and US$ which 
expose the Group to foreign currency 
risk. The management monitors foreign 
currency exposure and wil l consider 
hedging signif icant foreign currency 
exposure should the need arises.

As at 31 December 2024, if RMB had 
strengthened/weakened by 10% (2023: 
10%) against the US$ with al l other 
variables held constant, the Group’s 
profit for the year would have been 
approximately HK$64,465,000 higher/
lower (2023: HK$88,545,000 higher/
lower), mainly as a result of foreign 
exchange gains/losses on retranslation 
of US$ denominated borrowings.

(a) 

(i) 

10%
10%

64,465,000

88 ,545 ,000
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As at 31 December 2024, if RMB had 
strengthened/weakened by 10% (2023: 
10%) against the HK$ with all other 
variables held constant, the Group’s 
profit for the year would have been 
approximately HK$48,000 higher/lower 
(2023: HK$12,928,000 higher/lower), 
mainly as a result of foreign exchange 
gains/losses on retranslation of HK$ 
denominated borrowings.

(ii)	 Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises 
from restricted bank deposits, bank 
borrowings and other borrowings which 
are obtained at floating rates, which 
expose the Group to cash flow interest 
rate r isk. The deposits interest rate 
risk is considered as not material. The 
Group is also exposed to fair value 
interest rate risk in relation to fixed rate 
bank borrowings and other borrowings 
and lease liabilities.

Management monitors interest rate 
exposu re  and  w i l l  cons ide r  o the r 
necessary act ions when signi f icant 
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

10%
10%

48,000

12,928,000

(ii) 
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The tables below set out the Group’s 
fixed rate borrowings and floating rate 
borrowings which expose the Group to 
fair value interest rate risks and cash 
flow interest rate risk respectively:

Fixed rate 
borrowings

Floating rate 
borrowings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2024

Current
Syndicated borrowing 7,663 21,554 29,217
Other borrowings – 132,821 132,821
Bank borrowings 195,851 713,463 909,314

   

203,514 867,838 1,071,352
   

Non-current
Syndicated borrowing 223,442 629,565 853,007
Other borrowings — 398,258 398,258
Bank borrowings 310,207 696,700 1,006,907

   

533,649 1,724,523 2,258,172
   

Total borrowings 737,163 2,592,361 3,329,524
   

At 31 December 2023

Current
Syndicated borrowing — 889,342 889,342
Other borrowings — 189,950 189,950
Bank borrowings 491,992 274,960 766,952

   

491,992 1,354,252 1,846,244
   

Non-current
Bank borrowings 500,370 1,010,603 1,510,973
Other borrowings — 548,413 548,413

   

500,370 1,559,016 2,059,386
   

Total borrowings 992,362 2,913,268 3,905,630
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As at 31 December 2024, if interest 
ra tes  on  f l oa t i ng  ra te  bo r row ings 
h a d  b e e n  1 %  h i g h e r / l o w e r  w i t h 
a l l  o the r  va r i ab les  he ld  cons tan t , 
post- tax  pro f i t  fo r  the  year  wou ld 
have been decreased/increased by 
approximately HK$20,656,000 (2023: 
HK$23,264,000) due to the higher/
lower interest expenses on floating rate 
borrowings.

(b)	 Credit risk and impairment assessment

(i)	 Risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that the 
Group’s  counterpar t ies  defau l t  on 
their contractual obligations resulting 
in financial losses to the Group. The 
Group’s  c red i t  r i sk  exposures  a re 
primarily attributable to cash and cash 
equivalents, restricted bank deposits, 
t e r m  d e p o s i t s ,  c o n t r a c t  a s s e t s , 
notes receivable and trade and other 
receivables. The carrying amounts of 
these balances substantially represent 
the Group’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the end of the reporting 
period.

1%

20,656,000

2 3 , 2 6 4 , 0 0 0

(b) 

(i) 
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The cred i t  r i sk  fo r  cash and cash 
equivalents (exclude cash on hand), 
restricted bank deposits, term deposits 
and  no tes  rece i v ab l e  a re  l im i t ed 
because the counterparty are reputable 
banks in Hong Kong and top tier state-
owned/ l i s ted  banks  and  f i nanc ia l 
institutions in the PRC with high credit 
rating. For trade and other receivables 
and contract assets, the Group has no 
significant concentrations of credit risk. 
The Group assesses the credit quality 
of the customers, taking into account 
their financial position, past settlement 
history and trading relationships. The 
util isation of credit l imits is regularly 
monitored.

(ii)	 Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three types of financial 
assets that are subject to HKFRS 9 
expected credit loss model:

•	 trade receivables,

•	 contract assets, and

•	 other receivables

Whi le  cash and cash equ iva lents , 
restricted bank deposits, term deposits 
and notes receivable are also subject to 
the impairment requirements of HKFRS 
9, the identified impairment loss was 
immaterial.

(ii) 

9

• 

• 

• 

9
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Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s current credit risk grading 
framework comprises the fol lowing 
categories:

Category Description

Trade 
receivables/
contract assets

Other financial 
assets

 

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of 
default and does not have any past-
due amounts

Lifetime ECL-
not credit-
impaired

12m ECL

  
12  

Watching list Debtor frequently repays after due dates 
but usually settle in full

Lifetime ECL-
not credit-
impaired

12m ECL

  
12  

Doubtful Amount is > 30 days past due or there 
have been significant increases in 
credit risk since initial recognition 
through information developed 
internally or external resources

Lifetime ECL-
not credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL -not 
credit-impaired

30
  

 
 

Loss Amount is > 90 days past due or there is 
evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL-
credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL-
credit-impaired

90
  

 
 

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the 
debtor is in severe financial difficulty 
and the Group has no realistic 
prospect of recovery

Amount is written 
off

Amount is written 
off
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The tables below detail the credit risk 
exposures of  the Group’s f inancia l 
asse ts ,  wh ich  a re  sub jec t  to  ECL 
assessment:

Items Note

Internal 
credit  
rating 12m or lifetime ECL

Gross carrying 
Amount  

31 December 
2024

Gross  
carrying amount  

31 December 
2023

 
12

 
  

Note HK’000 HK’000

      

Trade receivables: 
Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 
service

23 (1) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
(provision matrix) 177,701 199,607

Lifetime ECL (Credit-impaired) 71,981 42,333

  

Sub-Total 249,682 241,940

Trade receivables: Sales of 
piped natural gas

23 (1) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
(provision matrix) 43,935 93,246

Lifetime ECL (Credit-impaired) 3,995 5,748

  

Sub-Total 47,930 98,994

Trade receivables: Gas 
passing through service

23 (1) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 1,150 8,124
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Items Note

Internal 
credit  
rating 12m or lifetime ECL

Gross carrying 
Amount  

31 December 
2024

Gross  
carrying amount  

31 December 
2023

 
12

 
  

Note HK’000 HK’000

      

Receivables from related 
parties: Construction and 
gas pipeline installation 
service

23 (1) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
(provision matrix)

11,093 9,924

Contract assets 5 (1) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
(provision matrix)

4,785 16,930

 

Other receivables 23 (2) 12m ECL 90,037 73,435

12

Notes Receivable (3) 12m ECL 36,438 34,708

12

Restricted bank deposits 24 (3) 12m ECL 11,107 10,925

12

Bank balances and cash 25 (3) 12m ECL 383,990 808,207

12

Term deposit 26 (3) 12m ECL 19,973 127,035

12
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(1)	 For trade receivables and contract 
assets, the Group has appl ied the 
simpl i f ied approach in HKFRS9 to 
measure the loss allowance at lifetime 
ECL. Except for debtors which are 
credit-impaired and trade receivables-
gas pass ing through serv ice,  the 
Group determines the ECL on these 
i tems by using a provis ion matr ix, 
e s t i m a t e d  b a s e d  o n  t h e  a g e i n g 
ana l ys i s ,  repaymen t  h i s to r y  and 
pass  due  s ta tus  and  tak ing  i n to 
cons idera t ion  o f  fo rward- look ing 
information.

For customers of gas passing through 
service, since the historical repayment 
record was good and the Directors 
expects the credi t  rat ing of  most 
customers in this category is high, 
thus insignificant ECL rate assigned to 
this type of customers.

(1) 

9
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(2)	 In  determin ing the ECL for  o ther 
receivables, the Directors have taken 
into account the histor ical  default 
experience, the future prospects of the 
industries and/or considering various 
external sources of actual and forecast 
economic information, as appropriate, 
in estimating the probability of default 
on  i nd i v i dua l  bas i s  o f  t he  o the r 
rece ivables occurr ing wi th in the i r 
respect i ve  loss  assessment  t ime 
hor izon, as wel l  as the loss upon 
default in each case. For the purposes 
of impairment assessment, the loss 
al lowance for other receivables is 
measured at an amount equal to 12m 
ECL, as there is no significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition.

(3)	 No a l lowance has been prov ided 
for notes receivable, restricted bank 
deposits, bank balances and term 
deposits since the balance are all with 
the banks which have low credit risks.

(2) 

12

(3) 
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As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the 
Group’s trade receivables and contract 
assets are debtors which are past due 
as at the report date is set out below:

—	 Construct ion and gas pipel ine 
installation service

Current

Less than 
180 days 
overdue

More than 
180 days 
overdue Total

 
180

 
180

31 December 2024

Trade receivables
Average loss rate 5.33% 6.14% 48.30%
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 45,042 25,289 190,444 260,775
    

Loss allowance (HK$’000) 2,402 1,553 91,982 95,937
    

Contract assets
Average loss rate 6.05% 6.15% 21.13%
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 3,439 1,204 142 4,785
    

Loss allowance (HK$’000) 208 74 30 312
    

2,610 1,627 92,012 96,249
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Current

Less than 
180 days 
overdue

More than 
180 days 
overdue Total

 
180

 
180

31 December 2023

Trade receivables
Average loss rate 6.08% 6.34% 51.97%
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 69,346 24,977 157,541 251,864
    

Loss allowance (HK$’000) 4,218 1,584 81,878 87,680
    

Contract assets
Average loss rate 6.05% — —
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 16,930 — — 16,930
    

Loss allowance (HK$’000) 1,024 — — 1,024
    

5,242 1,584 81,878 88,704
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—	 Sales of piped natural gas

Current

Less than 
270 days 
overdue

More than 
270 days 
overdue Total

 
270

 
270

31 December 2024

Trade receivables
Average loss rate — 1.37% 83.06%
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 39,312 2,769 5,849 47,930
    

Loss allowance (HK$’000) — 38 4,858 4,896
    

31 December 2023

Trade receivables
Average loss rate 2.21% 3.34% 86.04%
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 90,180 1,438 7,376 98,994
    

Loss allowance (HK$’000) 1,989 48 6,346 8,383
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—	 Gas passing through service

Current

Less than 
270 days 
overdue

More than 
270 days 
overdue Total

 
270

 
270

31 December 2024

Trade receivables
Average loss rate — — — —
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 1,150 — — 1,150
    

Loss allowance (HK$’000) — — — —
    

31 December 2023

Trade receivables
Average loss rate 2.12% — —
Gross carrying amount 

(HK$’000) 8,124 — — 8,124
    

Loss allowance (HK$’000) 172 — — 172
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T h e  l o s s  a l l o w a n c e s  f o r  t r a d e 
receivables and contract assets as at 
31 December reconcile to the opening 
loss allowances as follows:

Trade receivables Contract assets

  

2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

As at 1 January 96,235 86,807 1,024 1,044
Net impairment losses/

(reversal) recognised 
in profit or loss 
during the year

 

7,953 16,502 (689) 9
Receivables written off 

during the year as 
uncollectible

 

— (4,462) — —
Currency translation 

difference (3,355) (2,612) (23) (29)
    

As at 31 December 100,833 96,235 312 1,024
      

Trade receivables and contract assets 
a re  w r i t t e n  o f f  w h e n  t h e re  i s  n o 
reasonable expectation of recovery. 
Indicators that there is no reasonable 
expec ta t i on  o f  recove r y  i nc l ude , 
amongst others, the failure of a debtor 
to engage in a repayment plan with the 
Group. Where receivables and contracts 
assets have been written off, the Group 
continues to engage in enforcement 
ac t i v i t y  to  a t tempt  to  recover  the 
receivable due. Where recoveries are 
made, these are recognised in profit or 
loss.
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Impairment losses on contract assets 
and trade receivables are presented 
a s  n e t  i m p a i r m e n t  l o s s e s  w i t h i n 
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are 
credited against the same line item.

Other receivables

Other receivables such as deposits 
paid are considered to have low credit 
risk and the loss allowance recognised 
d u r i n g  t h e  p e r i o d  w a s  t h e re f o re 
limited to 12 months expected losses. 
Management  cons ider  ‘ low c red i t 
r isk’ for f inancial instruments when 
they have a low risk of default and the 
issuer has a strong capacity to meet its 
contractual cash flow obligations in the 
near term.

The loss allowance for other receivables 
as at 31 December reconciles to the 
opening loss allowance as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss allowance as at 1 
January

 
4,364 3,441

Net impairment losses 
recognised in profit or 
loss during the year

 

4,792 1,037
Currency translation 

difference (226) (114)
  

Loss allowance as at 31 
December 8,930 4,364

    

12
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(c)	 Liquidity risk

In the management of the l iquidity r isk, 
the Group monitors and maintains a level 
o f  cash and cash equ iva lents  deemed 
adequate by the management to finance the 
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects 
of fluctuations in cash flows.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies 
maintaining sufficient cash and liquid term 
deposi ts and the avai labi l i ty  of  funding 
through an adequate amount of committed 
credit facilities to meet obligations when due 
and to close out market positions. At the end 
of the reporting period, the Group held bank 
deposits at call of HK$384,045,000 (2023: 
HK$808,364,000)  that  are expected to 
readily generate cash inflows for managing 
liquidity risk. Due to the dynamic nature of 
the underlying businesses, Group Treasury 
maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining 
availability under committed credit lines.

(c) 

384,045,000
808,364,000



Binhai Investment Company Limited 158

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
合併財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Management monitors rolling forecasts of 
the Group’s liquidity reserve (comprising the 
undrawn borrowing facilities below) and cash 
and cash equivalents (Note 25) on the basis 
of expected cash flows. This is generally 
carried out at local level in the operating 
companies of the Group, in accordance with 
practice and limits set by the Group. These 
limits vary by location to take into account 
the liquidity of the market in which the entity 
operates. In addition, the Group’s liquidity 
management policy involves projecting cash 
flows in major currencies and considering 
the level of liquid assets necessary to meet 
these, monitoring balance sheet l iquidity 
ratios against internal and external regulatory 
requirements and maintaining debt financing 
plans.

25
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The Directors take the ultimate responsibility 
for liquidity risk management, which has built 
an appropriate l iquidity risk management 
f ramework  fo r  the  management  o f  the 
Group’s short, medium and long term funding 
and l iquidity management requirements. 
T h e  G ro u p  m a n a g e s  l i q u i d i t y  r i s k  b y 
maintaining adequate, banking facilities and 
reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows 
and matching the maturity profiles of financial 
assets and liabilities. When necessary, the 
Group will seek for financial support from 
the major shareholders to finance its funding 
needs (if any).

Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying 
businesses, the Group’s financial department 
maintains flexibility in funding by its ability to 
move cash and cash equivalents between 
different ent it ies through related part ies 
borrowing arrangements.

Maturities of financial liabilities

The tab les  be low ana lyse  the  Group’s 
f inancial  l iabi l i t ies into relevant matur i ty 
g roup ings  based  on  the i r  con t rac tua l 
maturities.



Binhai Investment Company Limited 160

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
合併財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024

The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

The fo l lowing table deta i ls  the Group’s 
remaining contractual maturity for its financial 
l iabilities based on the agreed repayment 
terms. The table has been drawn up based 
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 
liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the Group can be required to pay. The table 
includes both interest and principal cash 
flows. 

Contractual maturities of  
financial liabilities

Less than  
1 year

Between  
1 and 2  

years

Between  
2 and 5  

years
Over  

5 years

Total 
Undiscounted 

cash flow
Carrying 
amounts

1 1 2 2 5 5
 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

At 31 December 2024  

Borrowings (Note 31) 31 1,153,820 1,480,379 343,943 672,299 3,650,441 3,329,524

Trade and other payables  
(excluding other tax payables 
and payroll payables)  
(Note 33)

 
 

33
1,163,203 — — — 1,163,203 1,163,203

Lease liabilities (Note 17) 17 7,167 2,419 2,587 3,068 15,241 12,336
      

2,330,807 1,482,798 346,530 675,367 4,835,502 4,511,680
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Contractual maturities of 
financial liabilities

Less than  
1 year

Between  
1 and 2  

years

Between  
2 and 5  

years
Over  

5 years Total
Carrying 
amounts

1 1 2 2 5 5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

At 31 December 2023  

Borrowings (Note 31) 31 1,882,652 1,033,030 841,856 326,259 4,083,797 3,905,630
Trade and other payables  

(excluding other tax payables 
and payroll payables)  
(Note 33)

 
 

33
1,247,431 — 113 — 1,247,544 1,242,295

Lease liabilities (Note 17) 17 7,654 4,603 1,723 2,393 16,373 13,557
      

3,137,737 1,037,633 843,692 328,652 5,347,714 5,161,482
        

3.2	 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are 
to:

•	 safeguard their  abi l i ty  to cont inue as a 
going concern, so that they can continue to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits 
for other stakeholders, and

•	 maintain an optimal capital  structure to 
reduce the cost of capital.

I n  o rde r  to  ma in ta i n  o r  ad jus t  t he  cap i t a l 
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to 
reduce debt.

3.2 

• 

• 
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Consistent with others in the industry, the Group 
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. 
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total 
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings 
(including current and non-current borrowings 
and lease liabilities as shown in the consolidated 
statement of financial position) less cash and cash 
equivalents and term deposits. Total capital is 
calculated by adding total equity and net debt.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that 
entities in the Group will be able to continue as 
a going concern while maximising the return to 
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt 
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy 
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of 
borrowings and total equity (as shown in the 
consol idated statement of f inancial posit ion, 
including non-controlling interests), comprising 
issued share capi ta l ,  reserves and reta ined 
earnings.

The Directors review the capital structure on a 
regular basis. As part of this review, the Directors 
cons ider  the  cos t  o f  cap i ta l  and  the  r i sks 
associated with each class of capital. Based on 
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will 
balance its overall capital structure through the 
payment of dividends and new share issuance.
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Loan covenants

Under the terms of major non-current borrowing 
facilities, the Group is required to comply with the 
following financial covenants:

•	 The consolidated total equity shall not at all 
times be less than HK$1,800,000,000;

•	 The rat io  of  consol idated net  debts to 
consolidated total equity shall not for any 
relevant period exceed 1.8:1.0;

•	 The consolidated EBITDA to the consolidated 
tota l  interest expense shal l  not for  any 
relevant period be less than 3:1;

•	 The consol idated total assets which are 
subject to any security shall not at all times 
exceed 40% of the consolidated total assets.

The Group has  compl ied  w i th  the  re levant 
covenants before the end of the reporting period 
and classified the related bank loans balances as 
non-current.

Therefore, there is not a risk that the Group may 
not be able to meet the forementioned covenants 
above at the next testing date.

• 

1,800,000,000

• 

1.8:1.0

• 
EBITDA

3:1

• 

40%
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, 
which are descr ibed in Note 3 and Note 42, the 
Directors are required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

The est imates  and under ly ing assumpt ions are 
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the reporting period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that reporting period, or in the reporting period of 
the revision and future reporting periods if the revision 
affects both current and future reporting periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the 
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period that may have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year.

4. 
 

3 42
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(i)	 Impairment assessment of property, plant 
and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for 
possible impairments whenever events or changes 
in  c i rcumstances ind icate that  the carry ing 
amount may not be recoverable. Such indicators 
include subsidiaries that have incurred losses this 
year or those that have generated profits this year 
but experienced losses in the past two years and 
carried forward provisions for impairments from 
prior year. The property, plant and equipment held 
by these subsidiaries are collectively referred to 
as the “Assets Subject to Impairment Review”. 
If impairment indicators exist, the recoverable 
amount is determined at the higher of value in use 
and the fair value less costs of disposal.

M a n a g e m e n t  h a s  p e r f o r m e d  i m p a i r m e n t 
assessment to determine the recoverable amounts 
of the Assets subject to Impairment Review in 
their respective cash-generating units (“CGU”) 
based on the higher of fair values less costs of 
disposal (“FVLCOD”) and the value-in-use (“VIU”) 
calculation. Management’s assessment indicated 
that the VIU of the CGUs were higher than their 
FVLCOD as at 31 December 2024 and therefore 
adopted the VIU of the respective CGUs as their 
recoverable amounts.

The VIU calculations	 i n v o l v e s  m a n a g e m e n t 
es t ima tes  and  j udgements  on  ce r ta i n  key 
assumptions such as growth rates of business 
volume, gross margin and the pre-tax discount 
rate for value in use calculations and estimated 
sel l ing pr ice, est imated costs to complet ion 
and selling expenses for fair value less costs of 
disposal calculations. Judgement is required by 
the management to determine key assumptions 
adopted and changes to key assumptions can 
significantly affect the results of the impairment 
reviews.

(i) 
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In addi t ion to the aforesa id Assets Subject 
to Impairment Review, management has also 
performed a separate impairment assessment 
on a real estate property under construction 
(the “PUC”) as owned by a subsidiary, with net 
carrying amount of approximately HK$44,817,000 
( represent ing  to ta l  cos ts  o f  approx imate l y 
HK$98,422,000 less accumulated impairment 
loss provision of approximately HK$53,605,000) 
as at 31 December 2024.

Management has assessed the fair value less 
costs  o f  d isposa l  o f  the PUC by us ing the 
replacement cost method with the assistance 
from an external valuer. Based on the result of the 
impairment assessment, the Group recognised 
impairment loss provision of HK$5,002,000 in 
current year (2023: HK$9,148,000).

Details of the recoverable amount calculations are 
disclosed in Note 16.

44,817,000
98,422,000

53,605,000

5,002,000
9,148,000

16
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(iii)	 Deferred tax asset

As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax asset 
was recognised in respect of deductible temporary 
differences amounting to HK$193,249,000 (2023: 
HK$207,027,000) and tax losses amounting to 
HK$77,976,000 (2023: HK$114,511,000) due 
to the uncertainties on whether these temporary 
difference and tax losses can be utilised in the 
future (Note 21). The recognition of the deferred 
tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient 
taxable profits will be available in the future or 
taxable temporary differences are expected to 
reverse on the same period as the expected 
reversal of the deductible temporary difference, 
which is a key source of estimation uncertainty. In 
cases where the actual future assessable profits 
generated are more than expected, a recognition 
of deferred tax asset may arise, which would be 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss for the period in which such recognition 
takes place.

(iv)	 Impairment of financial assets

The loss al lowances for f inancia l  assets are 
based on assumptions about risk of default and 
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement 
in making these assumptions and selecting the 
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the 
Group’s past history, existing market conditions 
as wel l  as forward- looking est imates at  the 
end of each reporting period. Details of the key 
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in 
Note 3.1(b).

(iii) 

193,249,000
207,027,000

77,976,000
114,511,000

21

(iv) 

3.1(b)
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5.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”), who 
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been 
identified as the executive directors of the Company (the 
“Executive Directors”) that makes strategic decisions.

The Executive Directors review the Group’s internal 
reporting in order to assess performance and allocate 
resources of the Group. The Executive Directors have 
determined the following operating segments based on 
these internal reports.

•	 Sales of piped natural gas
•	 Construction and gas pipeline installation service

•	 Gas passing through service

5. 

• 
• 

• 
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The Executive Directors assess the performance of 
the operating segments based on segment results. 
Segment results are measured as gross profit of each 
segment. The segment revenue, results and other 
segment information are analysed as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024

 

Sales of  
piped  

natural gas

Construction 
and gas 
pipeline 

installation 
service

Gas passing 
through 
service Total

 
 
  

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total segment revenue from 
external customers 5,802,391 327,021 68,389 6,197,801

Recognised at a point in time 5,802,391 — 68,389 5,870,780
Recognised over time — 327,021 — 327,021
Segment results 315,872 194,697 58,908 569,477

    

Administrative expenses (202,963)
Research and development 

expenses (“R&D”) (112,548)
Other income 153,612
Other gains and losess 20,757
Impairment losses on financial 

assets and contract assets, 
net of reversal

 
(11,882)

Finance income 17,862
Finance costs (138,559)
Share of results of associates 

and joint ventures accounted 
for using the equity method

 
 

14,603
 

Profit before income tax 310,359
 

Other segment information
Depreciation (included in cost 

of sales and services) 142,407 867 7,099 150,373
Amortization (included in cost 

of sales and services) 2,461 — — 2,461
Depreciation (included in 

administrative expenses  
and “R&D”) 67,914

 

220,748
 

Impairment loss on property, 
plant and equipment included 
in other gains and losses

 
 

11,762
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Year ended 31 December 2023

 

Sales of  
piped  

natural gas

Construction 
and gas 
pipeline 

installation 
service

Gas passing 
through 
service Total

 
 
  

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total segment revenue from 
external customers 5,850,142 504,871 51,668 6,406,681

Recognised at a point in time 5,850,142 — 51,668 5,901,810
Recognised over time — 504,871 — 504,871
Segment results 413,937 290,760 44,282 748,979

    

Administrative expenses (218,607)
Research and development 

expenses (131,580)
Other income 140,681
Other gains and losses (21,596)
Impairment losses on financial 

assets and contract assets, 
net of reversal (17,548)

Finance income 6,612
Finance costs (163,012)
Share of results of associates 

and joint ventures accounted 
for using the equity method

 
 

10,769
 

Profit before income tax 354,698
 

Other segment information
Depreciation (included in cost 

of sales and services) 140,952 931 6,108 147,991
Amortization (included in cost 

of sales and services) 1,380 — — 1,380
Depreciation (included in 

administrative expenses  
and R&D) 69,193

 

218,564
 

Impairment loss on property, 
plant and equipment 16,770
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The Executive Directors have not made reference to 
any geographical information for assessing the Group’s 
performance and allocating resources, as all of the 
Group’s operations are conducted in the PRC.

There is no single customer contributing more than 
10% of the total revenue of the Group for both years.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating 
results of each segment. No analysis of segment asset 
and segment liability is presented as the CODM does 
not regularly review such information for the purposes 
of resources allocation and performance assessment. 
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results 
are presented.

The Group has recognised the following assets and 
liabilities related to contracts with customers:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

  

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contract assets
Contract assets relating to 

construction and gas pipeline 
installation service 4,785 16,930

Less:  Loss allowance (312) (1,024)
  

Total contract assets 4,473 15,906
  

Contract liabilities
Receipts in advance from 

customers relating to:
— Sales of piped natural gas  593,171 717,655
— Construction and gas 

pipeline installation 
service

 

58,394 90,808
— Others  28,425 13,164

  

Total contract liabilities 679,990 821,627
    

10%
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(a)	 The fol lowing table shows how much of the 
revenue recognised in the current reporting period 
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue recognised that was 
included in the contract 
liability balance at the 
beginning of the year

Sales of piped natural gas 687,285 668,833
Construction and gas 

pipeline installation service
 

68,275 92,826
Others 5,163 4,745

  

760,723 766,404
    

(b)	 The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s 
rights to consideration for works completed and 
not billed because the rights are conditional on 
the Group’s future performance.

The Group classifies these contract assets as 
current because the Group expects to realise 
them in its normal operating cycle.

As at 1 January 2023, contract assets amounted 
to HK$13,819,000.

(c)	 Contract l iabil it ies are expected to be settled 
within the Group’s normal operating cycle and 
classified as current liabilities.

As  a t  1  Janua ry  2023 ,  con t rac t  l i ab i l i t i e s 
amounted to HK$887,355,000.

(a) 

(b) 

13,819,000

(c) 

887,355,000
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Typical  payment terms of contract l iabi l i t ies 
recognised are as follows:

Sales of piped natural gas

When the Group receives an advance payment 
from a customer before gas sales, this will give 
rise to contract liabilities and the balance will be 
reducing by the amounts of revenue as recognised 
by the Group for the related sales of gas.

Construction and gas pipeline installation service

When the Group rece ives a depos i t  f rom a 
cus tomer  be fo re  the  cons t ruc t i on  ac t i v i t y 
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities 
and the balance will be reducing by the amounts 
of revenue as recognised by the Group for the 
provision of related construction and gas pipeline 
installation services. For most of its customers, 
the Group typically receives a 30% to 50% of total 
contract sum upon the commencement of the 
construction and installation works.

(d)	 Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable for the sales 
of goods and services in the ordinary course 
of the Group’s activities. The Group recognises 
revenue when the amount of revenue can be 
re l iably measured, i t  is  probable that future 
economic benefits wil l f low to the Group and 
specific criteria have been met for each of the 
Group’s activities as described below.

30%
50%

(d) 
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(i)	 Sales of piped natural gas

The Group sells natural gas to customers 
through pipelines, including both residential 
households and commercial and industrial 
customers.  Revenue f rom the sa les  o f 
piped natural gas is recognised at the point 
of time when control of the piped natural 
gas has been transferred to the customer 
(which general ly coincides with the t ime 
when the gas is delivered to and used by 
customers and title has passed), and when it 
is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to the Group.

(ii)	 Construction and gas pipeline installation 
service

The  Group p rov ides  cons t ruc t ion  and 
insta l la t ion serv ice under  const ruct ion 
contracts with its customers. Revenue in 
respect of construction and gas pipeline 
ins ta l la t ion  serv ice  i s  recogn ised over 
t ime, by reference to complet ion of the 
specif ic transact ion using input method 
wh ich recogn ises revenue us ing costs 
incurred relative to total estimated costs to 
determine the extent of progress toward 
completion. The Group recognises revenue 
over time only if it can reasonably measure 
its progress toward complete satisfaction 
of the performance obligation. However, 
i f the Group cannot reasonably measure 
the outcome but expects to recover the 
costs incurred in satisfying the performance 
obligation, then it recognises revenue to the 
extent of the costs incurred.

(i) 

(ii) 
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Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of 
progress toward complet ion are revised 
i f  c i rcumstances change. Any resul t ing 
increases or decreases in estimated revenue 
or costs are reflected in profit or loss in 
the period which the circumstances that 
give rise to the revision become known by 
management.

The  cus tomers  a re  requ i red  to  pay  in 
advance for certain contract amount based 
on a payment schedule.  I f  the serv ices 
rendered by the Group exceed the payment, 
a  cont rac t  asse t  i s  recogn ised .  I f  the 
payment exceed the services rendered, a 
contract liability is recognised.

(iii)	 Gas passing through service

The Group provides gas passing service 
u s i n g  i t s  g a s  p i p e l i n e s .  R e v e n u e  i s 
recognised at a point in time when natural 
gas has been passed through the Group’s 
gas  p ipe l i nes  in  p rov id ing  the  re la ted 
services.

(iii) 
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6.	 OTHER INCOME

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Government grants (i) (i) 97,766 80,523
Assembling services income 38,112 32,471
Insurance agency service 

income 9,073 9,246
Sales of gas appliances 7,962 8,261
Rental income 699 10,180

  

153,612 140,681
    

(i)	 Government grants relating to costs are deferred 
and recognised in the profit or loss over the 
period necessary to match them with the costs 
that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchases of 
property, plant and equipment are included in 
non-current liabilities as deferred income and are 
credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the expected lives of the related assets.

6. 

(i) 
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7.	 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net gains from compensation 
for damaged gas stations and 
pipelines (i)

 
(i)

49,811 20,367
Net gains on gas pipeline 

service
 

6,352 2,046
Net (losses)/gains on disposal 

of property, plant and 
equipment

 
 

(2,389) 24
Net gains on disposal of 

subsidiaries (Note 37)
 

37 1,964 —
Impairment loss on property, 

plant and equipment (6,760) —
Impairment loss on property 

under construction (5,002) (9,148)
Impairment loss on investment 

in joint venture (5,730) —
Net foreign exchange losses (ii) (ii) (26,610) (32,251)
Others 9,121 (2,634)

  

20,757 (21,596)
    

(i)	 In 2024, seven (2023: nine) subsidiaries relocated 
their gas stations or gas pipelines in accordance 
with the road repair and construction requirements 
of the municipal governments of Anxin county, 
Haiyan county, Deqing county, Gaoan, Jiaozhou, 
Dezhou and Tianjin (2023: Deqing county, Haiyan 
county, Anxin county, Gaoan, Sanhe, Zhuozhou, 
Yizheng, Nanjing and Tianjin). The compensation 
amounts in excess of the carrying amounts of the 
pipelines being relocated have been recognised 
as net gains from compensation for damaged gas 
pipelines for the years ended 31 December 2024 
and 2023.

(ii)	 The  ne t  fo re ign  exchange losses  p r imar i l y 
c o m p r i s e d  t h e  n e t  e x c h a n g e  l o s s  o f 
HK$26,457,000 (2023:HK$33,101,000) arising 
from the retranslation of the US$-denominated 
syndicated borrowing and HK$-denominated 
bank borrowing during the years.

7. 

(i) 

(ii) 

26,457,000
33,101,000
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8.	 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON 
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND CONTRACT 
ASSETS, NET OF REVERSAL

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Impairment losses on trade and 
other receivables (12,745) (17,539)

Impairment reversal/(losses) on 
contract assets 689 (9)

Impairment reversal on 
prepayments 174 —

  

(11,882) (17,548)
    

8. 
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9.	 EXPENSES BY NATURE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of gas purchased 5,134,309 5,081,867
Employee benefit expenses 

(Note 10)
10

300,343 312,445
Depreciation 215,576 217,417

— Property, plant and 
equipment

  
197,942 200,353

— Right-of-use assets  17,391 16,831
— Investment properties  243 233

Subcontractor and other costs 66,099 106,939
Safety production expenses 81,368 83,075
Costs of pipelines and other 

materials purchased
 

53,665 80,609
Changes in inventories of 

pipelines and other materials
 

5,791 25,878
Repair expenses 17,758 23,998
Other professional fees 12,716 17,479
Expenses relating to short term 

leases 5,285 5,713
Amortisation—intangible assets  5,172 4,327
Auditor’s remuneration 2,995 3,514
Others 42,758 44,628

  

Total cost of sales and service, 
administrative and R&D 
expenses

 
 

5,943,835 6,007,889
    

9. 
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10.	EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 208,388 221,691
Social security and housing 

fund 79,891 78,666
Share-based payment 

expenses 4,925 5,093
Other benefits 7,139 6,995

  

300,343 312,445
    

The Group’s employees participate in various defined 
contribution retirement benefit plans as organised 
by the PRC government (the “defined contribution 
s c h e m e s ” ) .  O t h e r  t h a n  t h e  G r o u p ’s  m o n t h l y 
contributions to these defined contribution schemes, 
the Group has no further obligation for the payment 
of any retirement benefits of its employees. As the 
assets of these ret irement benef i t  plans are held 
separately from those of the Group in independently 
administrated funds managed by the PRC government, 
there will be not a situation for the existence of any 
forfe i ted contr ibut ions which could be offset the 
Group’s contributions under these defined contribution 
schemes.

10. 
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(a)	 Five highest paid individuals

The f ive individuals whose emoluments were 
the highest in the Group for the year included 
one (2023: one) director whose emoluments are 
reflected in the analysis shown in Note 40. The 
emoluments to the remaining four (2023: four) 
highest paid individuals during the year are as 
follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 1,512 2,042
Discretionary bonuses 1,366 636
Share-based payment 

expenses 948 586
Employer’s contribution to 

retirement benefit scheme 202 196
Other social security 

contributions 723 721
  

4,751 4,181
    

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2024 2023

HK$500,000 – 
HK$1,000,000

500,000
1,000,000 — 1

  

HK$1,000,000 – 
HK$1,500,000

1,000,000
1,500,000 4 3

    

(a) 

40
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11.	FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Finance income:
Interest income on bank 

deposits (i)
(i)

17,862 6,612
  

Finance costs:
Interest expenses (205,576) (224,116)
Less: Amounts capitalised as 

construction in progress (ii) (ii) 67,017 61,104
  

(138,559) (163,012)
  

Finance costs—net (120,697) (156,400)
  

(i)	 Interest income

Interest income is presented as finance income 
where it is earned from financial assets that are 
held for cash management purposes.

(ii)	 The  cap i ta l i sa t i on  ra te  used  to  de te rm ine 
capitalised amounts of the interests incurred in 
2024 was 5.32% (2023: 5.65%) per annum.

11. 

(i) 

(ii) 

5.32%
5.65%
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12.	SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of subsidiaries as at 31 December 
2024:

Name
Place of 

incorporation
Issued and fully 

paid capital
Registered  

capital

Ownership interest held by  
the Group

Ownership interest held by  
non-controlling interests Principal activities and 

place of operation
Type of 

company2024 2023 2024 2023
 

% % % %
         

 

Winstar Venture Limited British Virgin 
Islands

US$200 ordinary 
shares

US$200 ordinary 
shares

100 100 — — Investment holding, 
BrishVirgin Islands

NA

Winstar Venture Limited 200 200 100 100 — –

Binhai Investment Hong 
Kong Company 
Limited (“Binhai HK”)

Hong Kong SAR HK$2 ordinary 
shares

HK$2 ordinary 
shares

100 100 — — Investment holding,  
Hong Kong

NA

2 2 100 100 — –

Binhai Investment 
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd. 
(“Binhai Tianjin”)

PRC US$ 
235,000,000

US$ 
235,000,000

100 100 — — Investment holding,  
PRC

limited liability 
company

 235,000,000 235,000,000 100 100 — –

Zibo Jin Bin Gas 
Company Limited

PRC HK$ 
25,000,000

HK$ 
25,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

limited liability 
company

25,000,000 25,000,000 100 100 — –  
 

Tianjin TEDA Binhai 
Clean Energy Group 
Company (formerly 
known as “Tianjin 
Binda Gas Enterprise 
Co., Ltd.”) (“Tianjin 
Clean Energy”)

PRC US$ 
185,000,000

US$ 
250,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

limited liability 
company

 
 

 

185,000,000 250,000,000 100 100 — –  
 

Binzhou TEDA Gas 
Company Limited

PRC RMB 
22,500,000

RMB 
22,500,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

limited liability 
company

22,500,000 22,500,000 100 100 — –  
 

12. 
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Name
Place of 

incorporation
Issued and fully 

paid capital
Registered  

capital

Ownership interest held by  
the Group

Ownership interest held by  
non-controlling interests Principal activities and 

place of operation2024 2023 2024 2023
 

% % % %
         

Zhaoyuan TEDA Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
10,000,000

RMB 
35,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

10,000,000 35,000,000
100 100 — —  

 

Zhaoyuan Binhai Gas Company 
Limited

PRC HK$ 
31,160,000

HK$ 
31,160,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

31,160,000 31,160,000 100 100 — —  
 

Deqing Binhai Gas Company Limited PRC RMB 
196,944,440.38

RMB 
196,944,440.38

90 90 10 10 Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

196,944,440.38 196,944,440.38
90 90 10 10  

 

Zhuozhou Binhai Gas Company 
Limited. (“Zhuozhou BH”)

PRC RMB 
100,000,000

RMB 
100,000,000

85 85 15 15 Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

 
100,000,000 100,000,000

85 85 15 15  
 

Nanjing Binhai Gas Company 
Limited (“Lishui BH”)

PRC RMB 
10,413,396

RMB 
10,413,396

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

 
10,413,396 10,413,396

100 100 — —  
 

Yizheng TEDA Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
10,967,084.50

RMB 
10,967,084.50

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

10,967,084.50 10,967,084.50
100 100 — —  
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Name
Place of 

incorporation
Issued and fully 

paid capital
Registered  

capital

Ownership interest held by  
the Group

Ownership interest held by  
non-controlling interests Principal activities and 

place of operation2024 2023 2024 2023
 

% % % %
         

Qinhuangdao TEDA Gas Company 
Limited

PRC US$ 
1,210,000

US$ 
1,210,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

1,210,000 1,210,000 100 100 — —  
 

Qingdao TEDA Gas Company 
Limited (Formerly known as 
“Qingdao Jiaonan Wah Sang Gas 
Company Limited”)

PRC US$ 
1,349,000

US$ 
1,349,000

80 80 20 20 Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

1,349,000 1,349,000 80 80 20 20  
 

Sanhe TEDA Gas Company Limited PRC RMB 
7,602,112.72

RMB 
7,602,112.72

90 90 10 10 Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

7,602,112.72 7,602,112.72
90 90 10 10  

 

Changle TEDA Gas Company 
Limited

PRC US$ 
1,393,400

US$ 
1,393,400

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

1,393,400 1,393,400 100 100 — —  
 

Dezhou Binhai Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
10,000,000

RMB 
10,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

10,000,000 10,000,000
100 100 — —  
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Name
Place of 

incorporation
Issued and fully 

paid capital
Registered  

capital

Ownership interest held by  
the Group

Ownership interest held by  
non-controlling interests Principal activities and 

place of operation2024 2023 2024 2023
 

% % % %
         

Qingdao Jiaozhou Binhai Gas 
Company Limited

PRC RMB 
14,000,000

RMB 
14,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

14,000,000 14,000,000
100 100 — —  

 

Funing TEDA Gas Company Limited 
(“Funing TEDA”) (i)

PRC RMB 
6,494,212.12

RMB 
6,494,212.12

— 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

(i) 6,494,212.12 6,494,212.12
— 100 — —  

 

Yishui Binhai Gas Company Limited PRC HK$ 
12,600,000

HK$ 
12,600,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

12,600,000 12,600,000 100 100 – –  
 

Rizhao Binhai Gas Company Limited PRC HK$ 
12,600,000

HK$ 
12,600,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

12,600,000 12,600,000 100 100 — —  
 

Haiyan Tian Tai Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
24,774,842.58

RMB 
24,774,842.58

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

24,774,842.58 24,774,842.58
100 100 — —  
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Name
Place of 

incorporation
Issued and fully 

paid capital
Registered  

capital

Ownership interest held by  
the Group

Ownership interest held by  
non-controlling interests Principal activities and 

place of operation2024 2023 2024 2023
 

% % % %
         

Beijing Airport Wah Sang Gas 
Company Limited

PRC HK$ 
12,000,000

HK$ 
12,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

12,000,000 12,000,000 100 100 — —  
 

Haiyang Wah Sang Gas Company 
Limited (“Haiyang Company”) (ii)

PRC HK$ 
1,785,000

HK$ 
11,900,000

— 100 — — Inactive

(ii)
1,785,000 11,900,000 — 100 — —

Tianjin Binhai Xinda Real Estate 
Company Limited

PRC — US$ 
20,000,000

100 100 — — Real estate investment, 
PRC

– 20,000,000 100 100 — —

Yizheng Jin Bin Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
9,739,198.32

RMB 
9,739,198.32

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

9,739,198.32 9,739,198.32
100 100 — —  

 

Tangshan Binhai Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
19,810,000

RMB 
19,810,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

19,810,000 19,810,000
100 100 — —  

 

Tianjin HuaTai Xinda Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
5,000,000

RMB 
5,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

5,000,000 5,000,000 100 100 — —  
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Name
Place of 

incorporation
Issued and fully 

paid capital
Registered  

capital

Ownership interest held by  
the Group

Ownership interest held by  
non-controlling interests Principal activities and 

place of operation2024 2023 2024 2023
 

% % % %
         

Tangshan TEDA Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
37,869,400

RMB 
37,869,400

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

37,869,400 37,869,400
100 100 — —  

 

Jizhou Binhai Gas Company Limited 
(“Jizhou BH”)

PRC HK$ 
10,500,000

HK$ 
10,500,000

98 98 2 2 Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

10,500,000 10,500,000 98 98 2 2  
 

Anxin TEDA Gas Company Limited PRC RMB 
5,000,000

RMB 
5,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

5,000,000 5,000,000 100 100 – –  
 

Qingyuan Binhai Gas Company 
Limited

PRC HK$ 
10,000,000

HK$ 
10,000,000

99.82 99.82 0.18 0.18 Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

10,000,000 10,000,000 99.82 99.82 0.18 0.18

Liuyang Binhai Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
15,000,000

RMB 
15,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

15,000,000 15,000,000
100 100 – –  
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Name
Place of 

incorporation
Issued and fully 

paid capital
Registered  

capital

Ownership interest held by  
the Group

Ownership interest held by  
non-controlling interests Principal activities and 

place of operation2024 2023 2024 2023
 

% % % %
         

Fengxian Binhai Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
12,690,230

RMB 
12,690,230

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

12,690,230 12,690,230
100 100 — —  

 

Gaoan TEDA Gas Company Limited PRC RMB 
44,470,481.50

RMB 
44,470,481.50

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

44,470,481.50 44,470,481.50
100 100 — —  

 

Tianjin Taigang Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
13,000,000

RMB 
13,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

13,000,000 13,000,000
100 100 — —  

 

Tianjin BinMing Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
3,000,000

RMB 
10,000,000

80 80 20 20 Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

3,000,000
10,000,000

80 80 20 20  
 

Tianjin BinNing Gas Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
3,000,000

RMB 
10,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

3,000,000
10,000,000

100 100 – –  
 

Tianjin Bintou Xinzhi Technology 
Company Limited (Formerly 
known as “Tianjin Tairan 
Technology Company Limited”) 
(“Bintou Xinzhi”)

PRC — RMB 
63,230,000

100 100 — — Research and 
development of clean 

energy, PRC

 
–

63,230,000
100 100 — —  
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Name
Place of 

incorporation
Issued and fully 

paid capital
Registered  

capital

Ownership interest held by  
the Group

Ownership interest held by  
non-controlling interests Principal activities and 

place of operation2024 2023 2024 2023
 

% % % %
         

Hainan Teda New Energy Company 
Limited

PRC — RMB 
10,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

–
10,000,000

100 100 — —  
 

Nanjing Lvyuan Gas Company 
Limited (“Nanjing Lvyuan”)

PRC RMB 
6,600,000

RMB 
6,600,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

 6,600,000 6,600,000 100 100 – –  
 

Tianjin Taihe Heating Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
71,000,000

RMB 
100,000,000

51 51 49 49 Heating supply services, 
PRC

71,000,000 100,000,000
51 51 49 49

Taicheng Clean Energy Company 
Limited (“Taicheng Engergy”)

PRC RMB 
220,000,000

RMB 
400,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

 
220,000,000 400,000,000

100 100 — —  
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Name
Place of 

incorporation
Issued and fully 

paid capital
Registered  

capital

Ownership interest held by  
the Group

Ownership interest held by  
non-controlling interests Principal activities and 

place of operation2024 2023 2024 2023
 

% % % %
         

Nanjing Jinping Gas Company 
Limited (“Nanjing Jinping”)

PRC RMB 
3,000,000

RMB 
3,000,000

100 100 — — Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 

service and sales of  
piped natural gas, PRC

 
3,000,000

 
3,000,000

100 100 — —  
 

Shenzhen Binhai Energy Company 
Limited

PRC RMB 
5,000,000

RMB 
20,000,000

100 100 — — Energy storage 
technology service, PRC

 
5,000,000 20,000,000

100 100 — —

None of the subsidiaries issued any debt securities as 
at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Directors considered 
that none of the subsidiaries with non-control l ing 
shareholders are material to the Group.

(i)	 The Group disposed of the equity in Funing TEDA 
on 25 April 2024.

(ii)	 The Group l iqu idated the equi ty  in Haiyang 
Company in 2024 and Haiyang Company was 
closed on 6 November 2024.

(i) 

(ii) 
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13.	INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 
JOINT VENTURES

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement 
of financial position are set out below:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interests in associates 282,370 274,636
Interests in joint ventures 20,411 22,266

  

302,781 296,902
    

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of profits of associates 15,200 11,518
Share of losses of joint ventures (597) (749)

  

14,603 10,769
    

13. 



Annual Report 2024  193

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
合併財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Interests in associates and joint ventures

Set out below are the associates and joint ventures of 
the Group as at 31 December 2024. The proportion 
of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of 
voting rights held.

Name of entity
Registered 

capital % of ownership interest
Nature of 

relationship Share of profits/(losses) Carrying amounts

(RMB’000) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Sinopec Binhai Investment 
(Tianjin) Natural Gas 
Utilization Co., Ltd. 40,000 50 50 Joint venture (4,232) (1,739) 995 11,390

40,000 50 50 (4,232) (1,739) 995 11,390
Tianjin Airport Economic Area 

Gas Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin 
Airport Gas”) (ii) 30,000 50 40 Joint venture 3,635 990 19,416 10,876

(ii) 30,000 50 40 3,635 990 19,416 10,876
Qinhuangdao Taixing Gas  

Co., Ltd. 30,000 45 45 Associate 11,678 7,589 67,277 57,267
30,000 45 45 11,678 7,589 67,277 57,267

Haiyan Zhongran Tiantai 
Energy Limited Company (iii) 10,000 27 27 Associate 3,399 4,390 6,709 7,348

 (iii) 10,000 27 27 3,399 4,390 6,709 7,348
Sinopec Tianjin LNG Co., Ltd. 

(“Sinopec LNG”) (i) (iii) 4,874,200 2 2 Associate 123 (461) 208,384 210,021
 

(i) (iii) 4,874,200 2 2 123 (461) 208,384 210,021
        

14,603 10,769 302,781 296,902
         

(i)	 On 20 March 2023, the Group has acquired 2% 
equity interest in Sinopec LNG. In accordance 
with the articles of incorporation, the Group has a 
significant influence on Sinopec LNG as it assigns 
one of five directors and one of three supervisors.

(i) 

2%
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On 27 September 2024, the shareholders of 
Sinopec LNG jointly increased their investment by 
RMB400 million in proportion to their ownership 
percentages. The Group increased its investment 
in Sinopec LNG by RMB8,000,000. After the 
capital contribution, the investment cost of the 
Group rose from RMB190,951,000 (equivalent to 
HK$210,021,000) to RMB198,951,000 (equivalent 
to HK$211,493,000).

(ii)	 On 15 November 2024, the Group increased 
i t s  i n v e s t m e n t  i n  T i a n j i n  A i r p o r t  G a s  b y 
RMB4,525,000, raising the investment cost from 
RMB10,475,000 (equivalent to HK11,521,000) to 
RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to HK$15,946,000) 
and increasing its equity interest from 40% to 
50%.

(iii)	 The Group has received dividends from Haiyan 
Zhongran Tiantai Energy Limited Company and 
Sinopec LNG, amount ing to RMB3,514,000 
(equ iva lent  to  approx imate ly  HK3,735,000) 
(2023: RMB698,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$778,000)) and RMB2,620,000 (equivalent 
t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y  H K $ 2 , 7 8 5 , 0 0 0 )  ( 2 0 2 3 : 
RMB6,327,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$7,059,000)), respectively.

400,000,000

8,000,000

190,951,000
210,021,000

198,951,000
211,493,000

(ii) 

4,525,000
10,475,000

11,521,000
15,000,000

15,946,000
40% 50%

(iii) 

3,514,000
3,735,000

698,000
778,000

2,620,000
2,785,000

6,327,000
7,059,000



Annual Report 2024  195

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
合併財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024

14.	INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current income tax 95,852 83,417
Deferred taxation (Note 21) 21 5,246 7,859

  

101,098 91,276
    

14. 
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The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax 
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the applicable corporate income tax rate of the 
PRC, the principal place of the Group’s operations, is 
as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax 310,359 354,698
  

Tax at the PRC statutory 
corporate income tax rate of 
25%

25%
77,590 88,675

Tax effect of preferential tax 
rates on income of certain 
subsidiaries (41,857) (30,568)

Tax effect of additional income 
tax deduction granted 
to subsidiaries for their 
research and development 
expenditures

 

(14,595) (16,113)
Tax effect of share of results of 

associates and joint ventures
 

(4,074) (2,866)
Tax effect of expenses not 

deductible for the tax purpose
 

62,845 35,220
Tax on distributed earnings of 

PRC subsidiaries from PRC to 
HK

 

9,459 —
Tax effect of deductible 

temporary difference not 
recognised 584 669

Tax effect of tax losses not 
recognised 6,628 8,632

Utilisation of tax losses 
previously unrecognised (3,003) (1,577)

Reversal of tax losses previously 
recognised 2,116 4,472

Recognition of previously 
unrecognised deductible tax 
losses

 

— (2,815)
Deferred tax liabilities on 

undistributed profits of PRC 
subsidiaries

 

5,405 7,547
  

Income tax expenses 101,098 91,276
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Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first 
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity 
are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million are 
taxed at 16.5%. The profits not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed at a 
flat rate of 16.5%.

Binhai HK is a resident of the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region under the “Arrangement between 
the Mainland of China and the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double 
Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with 
respect to Taxes on Income” for the calendar year 2022 
to 2024.

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law 
(the “CIT Law”), the dividends as declared by PRC 
incorporated subsidiaries to their foreign immediate 
holding companies (incorporated outside Mainland 
China) relating to the profits made subsequent to 
1 January 2008 are subject to withholding income 
tax on dividend (“Dividend Tax”) at the rate of 10% 
with reduced rates available under certain conditions 
according to relevant international tax treaties.

The Group is l iable to Dividend Tax on dividends 
actually declared and distributed from the unremitted 
earnings of the PRC incorporated subsidiaries as 
accumulated subsequent to 1 January 2008. As Binhai 
HK has acquired Certificate of Resident Status for year 
2023, the reduced rate of Dividend Tax was applied.

In accordance with the “Notice of the State Tax Bureau 
of the Ministry of Finance Regarding Certain Preferential 
Treatment Policies on Corporate Income Tax”, New and 
High Technical Enterprise was subject to income tax at 
a preferential tax rate of 15%. Tianjin Clean Energy was 
recognised as a New and High Technical Enterprises 
on 19 December 2022 in accordance with the CIT Law 
for 3 years and is subject to the preferential tax rate of 
15% for the years from 2022 to 2024.

2,000,000
8.25%

2,000,000 16.5%

16.5%

10%

15%

15%
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Other subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject 
to income tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 25%).

The Company was established in Bermuda, which is a 
tax free country.

15.	EARNINGS PER SHARE

(i)	 Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

•	 the prof i t  at t r ibutable to owners of  the 
Company, excluding any costs of servicing 
equity other than ordinary shares,

•	 by the weighted-average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial year, 
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary 
shares issued during the year.

2024 2023

Profit attributable to owners 
of the Company (HK$’000) 199,775 256,612

Weighted-average number 
of ordinary shares for 
basic earnings per share 
(thousand) 1,368,949 1,352,422

Basic earnings per share 
(HK$ cents)

 
14.6 19.0

    

25% 25%

15. 

(i) 

• 

• 
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(ii)	 Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures 
used in the determination of basic earnings per 
share to take into account:

•	 the after-income tax effect of interest and 
other financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares, and

•	 the weighted-average number of additional 
o rd inary  shares  that  wou ld  have been 
outstanding assuming the conversion of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2024 2023

Profit attributable to owners 
of the Company (HK$’000) 199,775 256,612

Weighted-average number 
of ordinary shares for 
diluted earnings per share 
(thousand) 1,368,949 1,356,254

Diluted earnings per share 
(HK$ cents) 14.6 18.9

    

(ii) 

• 

• 
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(iii)	 Weighted-average number of shares used as 
the denominator

2024 2023
In thousands share

Weighted-average number of 
ordinary shares used as the 
denominator in calculating 
basic earnings per share

 

1,368,949 1,352,422
Adjustment for share options 

granted to employee — 3,832
    

Weighted-average number 
of ordinary shares and 
potential ordinary shares 
used as the denominator in 
calculating diluted earnings 
per share 1,368,949 1,356,254

    

No diluted earnings per share for the year ended 
31 December  2024 is  ca lcu la ted s ince the 
exercise price of share option is higher than the 
average market price of ordinary shares during 
the year.

(iii) 
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16.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

Gas 

pipelines

Buildings 

and 

constructions

Machinery 

and 

equipment

Office 

equipment 

and motor 

vehicles

Construction 

in progress Total

 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2023

Cost 4,929,896 367,972 280,628 87,255 1,474,567 7,140,318

Accumulated depreciation (897,544) (93,289) (95,396) (57,359) — (1,143,588)

Accumulated impairment (25,389) (22,975) (51,379) (1,197) (50,395) (151,335)
      

Carrying values 4,006,963 251,708 133,853 28,699 1,424,172 5,845,395
      

Year ended 31 December 2023

1 January 2023 4,006,963 251,708 133,853 28,699 1,424,172 5,845,395

Additions 7,451 556 904 7,161 534,930 551,002

Transfers 495,780 17,894 10,452 3,056 (527,182) —

Transfers to investment 

properties — (1,359) — (35) — (1,394)

Acquisition of subsidiaries  

(Note 36)

36

269 6,419 2,764 1,620 — 11,072

Disposals (7,802) (2,827) (108) (1,383) — (12,120)

Depreciation charges (157,891) (15,884) (13,383) (13,195) — (200,353)

Impairment loss (3,007) (4,184) (412) (19) (9,148) (16,770)

Currency translation differences (116,027) (7,842) (4,323) (688) (40,383) (169,263)
      

31 December 2023 4,225,736 244,481 129,747 25,216 1,382,389 6,007,569
      

At 31 December 2023  

Cost 5,281,835 373,112 289,617 88,602 1,440,851 7,474,017

Accumulated depreciation (1,029,150) (105,388) (109,388) (62,474) — (1,306,400)

Accumulated impairment (26,949) (23,243) (50,482) (912) (58,462) (160,048)
      

Carrying values 4,225,736 244,481 129,747 25,216 1,382,389 6,007,569
      

16. 
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Gas 

pipelines

Buildings 

and 

constructions

Machinery 

and 

equipment

Office 

equipment 

and motor 

vehicles

Construction 

in progress Total

 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2024

1 January 2024 4,225,736 244,481 129,747 25,216 1,382,389 6,007,569

Additions 53,838 — 9,065 4,718 347,487 415,108

Transfers upon completion 145,044 5,607 7,219 1,787 (159,657) —

Transfers from investment 

properties — 1,247 — — — 1,247

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) 37 (7,225) (118) — (3,756) (9,593) (20,692)

Disposals (5) (2,777) (745) (192) — (3,719)

Depreciation charges (165,543) (11,540) (10,895) (9,964) — (197,942)

Impairment loss (6,760) — — — (5,002) (11,762)

Currency translation differences (140,679) (8,948) (4,797) (811) (49,074) (204,309)
      

31 December 2024 4,104,406 227,952 129,594 16,998 1,506,550 5,985,500
      

At 31 December 2024  

Cost 5,287,261 362,241 292,496 84,664 1,568,056 7,594,718

Accumulated depreciation (1,155,263) (113,922) (114,859) (67,047) — (1,451,091)

Accumulated impairment (27,592) (20,367) (48,043) (619) (61,506) (158,127)
      

Carrying values 4,104,406 227,952 129,594 16,998 1,506,550 5,985,500
        

(i)	 Deprec iat ion expenses of  HK$187,716,000 
(2023: HK$143,430,000) and HK$10,226,000 
(2023: HK$56,923,000) have been charged to 
“Cost of sales and services” and “Administrative 
expenses”, respectively.

(ii)	 The Group is in the process of applying for the 
ownership title certificates of certain buildings 
and constructions which are with net carrying 
amounts of approximately HK$139,099,000 as 
at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$168,012,000). 
The Directors believe that the ownership tit le 
certificates will be obtained in due course without 
any significant additional costs.

(i) 187,716,000
143,430,000

10,226,000
56,923,000

(ii) 

139,099,000
168,012,000
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(iii)	 The Assets Subject to Impairment Review were 
identified to assess their recoverable amounts 
and potent ial  provision or reversal of assets 
impa i rment .  As a t  31 December  2024,  the 
total carrying amount of the Assets Subject to 
Impairment Review amounted to approximately 
HK$116 million (2023: HK$301.9 million).

—	 Assessment using value-in-use method

The recoverable amount of Assets Subject 
to Impairment Review except a property 
under construction is determined based on 
the value-in-use calculations which involve 
the use of discounted cash flow method and 
is assessed at the CGUs level. Management 
regards each subsidiary is an individual CGU.

The key assumptions for the value-in-use 
calculat ion included the growth rates of 
business volume, gross margin and the pre-
tax discount rate. The Group used a growth 
rate of business volume ranging from 2% 
to 6% (2023: 2% to 15%) for those CGUs 
which are consistent with the histor ical 
performance of the respective CGUs.

(iii) 

116
301.9

 

2%
6% 2%
15%
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For  the  CGUs under  assessment ,  the 
assumed gross margin for sales of piped 
natural gas is 3% to 19% (2023: 5% to 
19%) and the assumed gross margin for 
construction and gas pipeline installation 
service is 45% to 60% (2023: 45% to 60%). 
The Group used a pre-tax discount rates 
ranging from 14% to 16% (2023: 12.30% 
to  16.37%)  to  d iscount  the  es t imated 
future cash flows from the relevant CGUs. 
The Group performed sensitivity analysis 
around the above key assumptions without 
mater ia l  var iances ident i f ied. Based on 
the  management ’s  assessment  on  the 
impairment of Assets Subject to Impairment 
Review except a property under construction, 
the impairment loss as recognised amounted 
to approx imate ly HK$6,760,000 (2023: 
HK$2,477,000), and no impairment has been 
reversed for the year ended 31 December 
2024 (2023: Nil).

3%
19%

5% 19%

45% 60%
45% 60%

14% 16%
12.30%

16.37%

6,760,000
2,477,000
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—	 Assessment using replacement cost

The management reviewed the carry ing 
amount of a property under construction 
with reference to a valuation carried out on 
31 December 2024, with the assistance 
from an external valuer. The recoverable 
amount of the property under construction 
was determined based on the replacement 
cost  method.  The key  assumpt ions  o f 
the rep lacement  cost  method inc ludes 
construction and instal lat ion costs, pre-
construction expenses, capital costs, and 
the remaining economic life of the assets. 
Based on the results of the impairment 
a s s e s s m e n t s ,  t h e  G ro u p  re c o g n i s e d 
impairment loss provision of HK$5,002,000 
in current year (2023: HK$9,148,000) on the 
property under construction with total costs 
of HK$98,422,000 (2023: HK$101,832,000) 
during the year ended 31 December 2024 
and the accumulated impairment losses as 
of that date amounted to HK$53,605,000 
(2023: HK$50,373,000).

 

98,422,000
101,832,000

5,002,000
9,148,000

53,605,000
50,373,000
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(iv)	 Movements of the impairment of property, plant 
and equipment are set out below:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 160,048 151,335
Impairment loss recognised 

during the year 11,762 16,770
Write off of impairment upon 

disposals (753) (1,399)
Write off of impairment upon 

disposal of subsidiaries
 

(6,550) –
Currency translation 

differences (6,380) (6,658)
  

At 31 December 158,127 160,048
    

(v)	 Gas pipelines with carrying value of approximately 
HK$638,256,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 
HK$701,867,000) are pledged as security for the 
Group’s bank borrowing, details of which are set 
out in Note 31(c).

(vi)	 Depreciation methods and useful lives

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate their cost, net of their residual 
values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Gas pipelines 30 years
Buildings and constructions 30 years
Machinery and equipment 20 years
Office equipment and motor vehicles 5 years

(iv) 

(v) 
638,256,000

701,867,000

31(c)

(vi) 

30
30
20

5
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17.	LEASES

(i)	 Amounts recognised in the statement of 
financial position

The statement of financial position shows the 
following amounts relating to leases:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Right-of-use assets
— Land use rights  178,173 181,970
— Leased buildings  11,299 12,454

  

189,472 194,424
  

Lease liabilities
— Current  5,066 7,145
— Non-current  7,270 6,412

  

12,336 13,557
    

Additions to land use rights and leased buildings 
dur ing  the  year  ended 31 December  2024 
amounted to approximately HK$2,815,000 and 
HK$8,135,000 (2023:  HK$14,736,000 and 
HK$1,419,000), respectively.

No disposals of  land use r ights and leased 
buildings during the year ended 31 December 
2024 (2023: HK$445,000 and HK$2,676,000), 
respectively.

Disposal of land use rights attributable to the 
disposal of subsidiaries amounted to HK$227,000 
(2023: Nil).

17. 

(i)  

2,815,000
8,135,000

14,736,000 1,419,000

445,000
2,676,000

227,000
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The Group is in the process of applying for the 
ownership title certificates of certain land use 
rights with carrying amounts of HK$6,086,000 
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$8,946,000). 
The Directors believe that the ownership tit le 
certificates will be obtained in due course without 
any significant costs.

The carrying value of land use right transferred 
f rom investment  proper t ies  to  r igh t -o f -use 
assets in 2024 amounted to HK$4,924,000 
(2023:Nil), and there was no land use right and 
leased buildings transferred from right-of-use 
assets to investment properties in 2024 (2023: 
HK$5,394,000).

(ii)	 Amounts recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss

The statement of profit or loss shows the following 
amounts relating to leases:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation charge of right-
of-use assets

— Land use rights  5,179 4,820
— Leased buildings  12,212 12,011

  

17,391 16,831
  

Interest expense (included in 
finance costs) 967 1,030

Expense relating to short-
term leases (included in 
cost of sales and services 
and administrative 
expenses) 5,285 5,713

    

6,086,000
8,946,000

4,924,000

5,394,000

(ii)  
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The  to ta l  cash  ou t f l ow fo r  l eases  i n  2024 
was  approx imate l y  HK$19,987,000 (2023: 
HK$18,792,000).

(iii)	 The Group’s leasing activities and how these 
are accounted for

The Group’s land use rights represent prepaid 
lease payments for land located in the PRC which 
are with lease terms from 30 to 50 years.

The Group a lso leased var ious o f f ices and 
warehouses and the  lease  te rm is  rang ing 
from 2 to 5 years without extension options or 
termination options.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and 
a corresponding liability at the date at which the 
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis 
and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose 
any covenants other than the security interests 
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. 
Except for land use rights, leased assets will not 
be used as security for borrowing purposes.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, 
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at 
the lease commencement date if the interest rate 
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. 
The incremental borrowing rate is the rate that the 
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value 
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment with simi lar terms, security and 
conditions.

19,987,000
18,792,000

(iii) 

30 50

2 5
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To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the 
Group:

•	 where possible, uses recent th ird-party 
financing received by the individual lessee as 
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes 
in f inancing condit ions since third party 
financing was received;

•	 uses a build-up approach that starts with a 
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk 
for leases held by the Group, which does not 
have recent third-party financing, and

•	 makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. 
term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is 
available to the individual lessee (through recent 
f inancing or market data) which has a similar 
payment profi le to the lease, then the Group 
ent i t ies use that  rate as a star t ing point  to 
determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Payments associated with short-term leases of 
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value 
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as 
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases 
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less 
without a purchase option. As at 31 December 
2024, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar 
to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the 
short-term lease expense disclosed above.

• 

• 

• 

12
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18.	INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 12,561 6,301
Depreciation charge (243) (233)
Transfer (to)/from property, 

plant and equipment (1,247) 1,394
Transfer (to)/from right-of-use 

assets (4,924) 5,394
Currency translation differences (315) (295)

  

At 31 December 5,832 12,561
    

The carry ing values of the investment propert ies 
approximated their fair values.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment 
properties

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental income 699 2,462
Direct operating expenses from 

property that generated rental 
income

 

(243) (233)
    

18. 
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(i)	 How the Group’s investment properties are 
accounted for

Investment properties are office buildings held 
for long-term rental yields and are not occupied 
by the Group. Investment property is init ial ly 
measured at cost, including related transaction 
costs. Subsequently, they are stated at cost 
less  subsequent  accumulated deprec ia t ion 
and accumulated impairment losses ( i f  any). 
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the 
cost of investment properties over their estimated 
useful lives and after taking into account of their 
estimated residual value, using the straight-line 
method.

An investment property is derecognised upon 
disposal or when it is permanently withdrawn from 
use and no future economic benefits are expected 
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the property (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 
profit or loss in the period in which the property is 
derecognised.

The est imated useful l ives of the investment 
properties are 30 to 50 years.

Lease income from operating leases where the 
Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct 
costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the underlying 
asset and recognised as expense over the lease 
term on the same basis as lease income. The 
respective leased assets are included in the 
statement of f inancial position based on their 
nature.

(i)  

30 50
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(ii)	 The investment properties are leased to tenants 
under operating leases with rentals receivable 
monthly.

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Minimum lease payments 
receivable on leases of 
investment properties 
are as follows:

Within 1 year 1 540 559
Between 1 and 2 years 1 2 540 751
Between 2 and 3 years 2 3 447 944
Between 3 and 4 years 3 4 354 1,136
Between 4 and 5 years 4 5 354 1,329
Later than 5 years 5 1,825 2,255

  

4,060 6,974
    

(iii)	 The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk 
as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases 
are denominated in the respective functional 
currencies of group entities. The lease contracts 
do not contain residual value guarantee and/or 
lessee’s option to purchase the property at the 
end of lease term.

(ii) 

(iii) 
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19.	INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Operating 
rights Goodwill Software Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2023  

Cost 43,513 13,090 25,055 81,658
Accumulated amortisation 

and impairment (11,124) (13,090) (6,442) (30,656)
    

Carrying values 32,389 — 18,613 51,002
    

Year ended 31 December 
2023

Opening carrying values 32,389 — 18,613 51,002
Acquisition of business 

(Notes 36)
36

— 24,186 — 24,186
Additions — — 2,926 2,926
Amortisation charge (1,147) — (3,180) (4,327)
Currency translation 

differences (737) (341) (589) (1,667)
    

Closing carrying values 30,505 23,845 17,770 72,120
    

At 31 December 2023  

Cost 42,203 36,566 27,031 105,800
Accumulated amortisation 

and impairment (11,698) (12,721) (9,261) (33,680)
    

Carrying values 30,505 23,845 17,770 72,120
    

19. 
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Operating 
rights Goodwill Software Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 
2024

Opening carrying values 30,505 23,845 17,770 72,120
Reassessment of business 

acquired (Notes (ii)) (ii) 23,845 (23,845) — —
Additions — — 2,776 2,776
Amortisation charge (2,461) — (2,711) (5,172)
Currency translation 

differences (747) — (699) (1,446)
    

Closing carrying values 51,142 — 17,136 68,278
    

At 31 December 2024  

Cost 64,772 12,295 28,591 105,658
Accumulated amortisation 

and impairment (13,630) (12,295) (11,455) (37,380)
    

Carrying values 51,142 — 17,136 68,278
      

Notes:

(i)	 The goodwill was arisen from the Group’s acquisition of 
100% equity interest in Nanjing Lvyuan Gas Company 
Limited (“Najing Lvyuan”) in March 2019.

(i) 

100%



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
合併財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Binhai Investment Company Limited 216

A full provision for impairment charge on the goodwill 
was recognised in 2020 due to the slowdown of the 
Nanjing Lvyuan CGU’s business expansion and the 
bankruptcy or shutdown of some of its customers 
(collectively the “Business Slowdown”). The Group 
has also reassessed the depreciation and amortisation 
pol icies of the property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets (other than goodwill) of Nanjing Lvyuan 
and concluded that estimated useful l ives of these 
assets will not be affected by the Business Slowdown 
and none of these assets (other than goodwill) are 
considered as impaired.

(ii)	 In 2023, the Group obtained control of Nanjing Jinping 
(Note 36). The init ia l  accounting for this business 
combination was incomplete by the end of the reporting 
period in which the combination occurs, thus, this 
business combination was recognised on a provisional 
basis in prior year. The provisional amounts are adjusted 
during the year ended 31 December 2024 when the 
f inal purchase price al location was completed and 
supported with the finalised valuation report prepared 
by an external valuer.

(iii)	 The Group’s intangible assets and their amortisation 
methods and periods

(a)	 Operating rights

Separately acquired operating rights of piped 
natura l  gas sa les are in i t ia l ly  recognised at 
historical cost. Operating rights of piped natural 
gas sales acquired in a business combination are 
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Operating rights are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the terms of operation rights as stated 
in the respective industry licenses ranging from 25 
to 30 years.

(b)	 Software

Acquired computer software programmes are 
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and bring to use the specific software. 
These costs are amortised over the estimated 
useful l ives of 5 to 10 years on a straight-line 
basis.

(ii) 
36

(iii) 

(a) 

25
30

(b) 

5 10
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20.	PREPAYMENTS

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments for natural gas 
purchases 247,884 379,487

Prepayments for construction 
projects 56,865 58,913

Prepayments for others 6,915 84,859
  

311,664 523,259
Less: Provision for impairment (2,416) (2,590)

  

309,248 520,669
  

Representing:
— Non-current portion  15,720 87,476
— Current portion  293,528 433,193

  

309,248 520,669
    

The non-current portion of prepayments represented 
the prepayments for the constructions of the gas 
pipeline network of the Group.

20. 
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21.	DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax 
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is 
the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial 
reporting purposes:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax assets 30,773 33,394
Deferred tax liabilities (12,264) (9,639)

  

18,509 23,755
    

21. 
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The movement on deferred taxation during the year is 
set out below:

Deferred 
income

Impairment 
provisions

Accrued 
expenses Tax losses

Withholding 
tax on 

unremitted 
earnings

Accelerated 
depreciation 

of 
equipments Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2023 25,892 9,223 5,010 9,992 — (16,387) — 33,730
Credited/

(charged) to 
profit or loss 1,407 3,169 (830) (246) (4,660) (6,699) — (7,859)

Acquisition of a 
subsidiary — — — — — — (1,294) (1,294)

Currency 
translation 
differences (749) (304) (130) (278) 66 555 18 (822)

        

At 31 December 
2023

 
26,550 12,088 4,050 9,468 (4,594) (22,531) (1,276) 23,755

Credited/
(charged) to 
profit or loss 1,601 1,899 (272) (210) (5,405) (7,454) 800 (9,041)

Release to profit 
or loss upon 
payment of 
withholding 
tax — — — — 4,516 — — 4,516

Currency 
translation 
differences (916) (437) (132) (314) 168 880 30 (721)

        

At 31 December 
2024

 
27,235 13,550 3,646 8,944 (5,315) (29,105) (446) 18,509
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(i)	 Defer red tax assets  are  recogn ised for  tax 
losses carry forwards to the extent that the 
realisation of the related tax benefit through future 
taxable profits is probable. The Group did not 
recognise deferred tax assets of HK$19,494,000 
( 2023 :  HK$28 ,628 ,000 )  i n  re spec t  o f  t a x 
losses amount ing to HK$77,976,000 (2023: 
HK$114,511,000) due to the unpredictabi l i ty 
of future profit streams of the respective group 
entities.

The amount of unrecognised tax loss will expire in 
the following years:

Year 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

2024 — 52,008
2025 2,288 2,459
2026 972 1,005
2027 15,305 24,998
2028 32,901 34,041
2029 26,510 —

  

77,976 114,511
    

(i) 

77,976,000
114,511,000

19,494,000
28,628,000
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(ii)	 No deferred tax asset is recognised in respect of 
deductible temporary differences amounting to 
HK$193,249,000 (2023: HK$207,027,000) due 
to the unpredictable of the util isation of these 
temporary difference in the future.

Details of unrecognised deductible temporary 
differences is set out below:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss allowance of trade 
receivables 44,942 46,334

Loss allowance of other 
receivables 1,043 719

Loss allowance of 
prepayments 69,655 72,245

Impairment losses of 
property, plant and 
equipment 75,103 85,135

Others 2,506 2,594
  

193,249 207,027
    

(iii)	 According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, 
the dividends as declared by PRC incorporated 
subsidiaries to their foreign immediate holding 
companies (incorporated out of Mainland China) 
relat ing to the profits made subsequent to 1 
January 2008 are subject to withholding income 
tax (“WHT”) at the rate of 5%. The Group is 
therefore l iab le to WHT on d iv idends to be 
distributed from the unremitted earnings of the 
PRC incorporated subsidiaries as accumulated 
subsequent to 1 January 2008.

(ii) 

193,249,000
207,027,000

(iii) 

5%
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22.	INVENTORIES

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Pipeline and other materials for 
construction and gas pipeline 
installation service 95,603 104,816

Gases 1,663 3,047
  

97,266 107,863
    

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and 
included in the cost of sales amounted to approximately 
HK$5,192,381,000 (2023: HK$5,188,354,000).

22. 

5,192,381,000
5,188,354,000
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23.	TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables from third 
parties (Note b) :

 
b

— Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 
service

 

249,682 241,940
— Sales of piped natural gas  47,930 98,994
— Gas passing through service  1,150 8,124

  

298,762 349,058
Less: Provision for impairment (95,950) (90,186)

  

202,812 258,872
  

Trade receivables from related 
parties (Note b) :

 
b

— Construction and gas 
pipeline installation 
service

 

11,093 9,924
  

11,093 9,924
Less: Provision for impairment (4,883) (6,049)

  

6,210 3,875
  

Other receivables
— Value-added tax recoverable  32,953 24,814
— Deposits (Note c)  c 14,473 16,524
— Others  57,084 48,621

  

104,510 89,959
Less: Provision for impairment (8,930) (4,364)

  

95,580 85,595
  

Total trade and other receivables
304,602 348,342

    

23. 
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(a)	 Classification as trade receivables

Tr a d e  re c e i v a b l e s  a re  a m o u n t s  d u e  f ro m 
customers for goods sold or services performed 
in  the  o rd ina ry  cou rse  o f  bus iness .  Trade 
receivables are recognised initially at the amount 
of consideration that is unconditional, unless 
they contain significant financing components. 
The Group holds the trade receivables with the 
objective of collecting the contractual cash flows 
and therefore measures them subsequent ly 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Details about the Group’s impairment 
policies and the calculation of the loss allowance 
are provided in Note 3.1(b).

(b)	 The Group grants credit period of 90 days for 
its customers of piped natural gas sales and 
customers of  gas pass ing through serv ice, 
whereas a longer credit period of 180 days after 
the completion of relevant stage of contract work 
is granted to customers of construction and gas 
pipeline installation service. A longer credit period 
may be granted on a discretionary basis to certain 
selected customers with good repayment histories 
or settlement by bills.

(a) 

3.1(b)

(b) 

90

180
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The ageing analysis of trade receivables presented 
based on the revenue recognition date is set out 
below:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 90 days 90 65,725 125,991
91 – 180 days 91 180 20,059 32,192
181 – 365 days 181 365 27,778 29,705
Over 365 days 365 196,293 171,094

309,855 358,982

The Group app l ies  the HKFRS 9 s impl i f ied 
approach in measuring expected credit losses 
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for 
all trade receivables and contract assets.

Note 3.1(b) provides details about the calculation 
of impairment loss allowance for trade and other 
receivables.

(c)	 As at 31 December 2024, deposits primari ly 
comprised of performance deposits paid by 
the Group for operating r ights and purchase 
of gas of approximately HK$6,592,000 (2023: 
HK$6,198,000) and certain pipeline construction 
projects of approximately HK$5,470,000 (2023: 
HK$5,856,000).

(d)	 A s  a t  3 1  D e c e m b e r  2 0 2 4  a n d  2 0 2 3 ,  t h e 
carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other 
receivables were all denominated in RMB. The 
carrying amounts of trade and other receivables 
approximated their fair values.

9

3.1(b)

(c) 

6,592,000
6,198,000

5,470,000
5,856,000

(d) 
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As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables, net 
of  a l lowance for  credi t  losses amounted to 
HK$239,322,000.

24.	RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Restricted bank deposits for 
land restoration 5,553 5,736

Restricted bank deposits for 
operating rights 5,013 5,181

Restricted bank deposits for 
pipeline construction project 305 8

Others 236 —

11,107 10,925

Al l  o f  the Group’s  rest r ic ted bank depos i ts  are 
denominated in RMB.

25.	CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at bank and in hand:
— Denominated in RMB  375,252 784,459
— Denominated in US$  77 16,361
— Denominated in HK$  8,716 7,544

384,045 808,364

239,322,000

24. 

25. 
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For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash on hand and deposits held at call with 
banks and financial institutions.

26.	TERM DEPOSITS

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank deposits:
— Denominated in US$  15,467 —
— Denominated in RMB  4,506 127,035

Total 19,973 127,035
Less: Non-current portion of 

term deposits
 

(19,016) —

Current portion 957 127,035

The term deposits of current portion are with terms of 
over three months and less than one year.

26. 
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27.	SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares

2024 2023

Number of 
shares

Number of 
shares 

’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 per 

share
0.1

2,280,000 228,000 2,280,000 228,000

Fully paid:
As at 1 January 1,352,993 135,299 1,352,025 135,203
Exercise of employee share 

options — — 968 96
Stock dividend (Note 30) 30 30,262 3,026 — —

    

As at 31 December 1,383,255 138,325 1,352,993 135,299

Redeemable preference 
shares

Redeemable preference shares 
of HK$50.00 each, issued 
and fully paid

50.00

3,900 195,000 4,840 242,000
Redeemed during the year  

(Note a)
a

(1,020) (51,000) (940) (47,000)

2,880 144,000 3,900 195,000

Total 282,325 330,299

27. 
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(a)	 The Company issued 8.6 mil l ion redeemable 
preference shares, which the Company has its 
discretion rights to determine the redeem time and 
amount, on 4 May 2009 to Cavalier Asia Limited, 
all of which were subsequently transferred to the 
largest immediate shareholder of the Company, 
TEDA HK, in August 2011. These redeemable 
preference shares are:

•	 not entitled to dividend,

•	 non-voting,

•	 non-convertible and at zero coupon, and

•	 redeemable into their full nominal amount 
after the fulf i lment of certain redemption 
conditions.

Dur ing the year  ended 31 December 2024, 
the Company exercised i ts d iscret ion r ights 
to redeem from TEDA HK 1,020,000 (2023: 
940,000) preference shares which amounted to 
HK$51,000,000 (2023: HK$47,000,000) at the 
following redemption conditions agreed on the 
subscription agreement signed on 28 May 2008 
were satisfied:

•	 t h e  C o m p a n y  h a s  d e c l a re d  a n d  p a i d 
f inal dividends in respect of at least two 
consecutive financial years since the date 
the shares of the Company resumes trading 
on the HKEx.

•	 the  aggrega te  p r i nc ipa l  amount  o f  a l l 
redeemable preference shares redeemed 
in a financial year of the Company shall not 
exceed 50% of the total amount of dividend 
declared and paid to shareholders in that 
financial year of the Company.

(a) 
Cavalier Asia Limited

8,600,000

• 

• 

• 

• 

51,000,000
47,000,000

1,020,000
940,000

• 

• 

50%
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(b)	 Treasury stocks:

Month of 

No.of 
ordinary 

shares of 
HK$0.1 

Price per share Aggregate 
consideration 

Repurchase each Highest Lowest paid

0.1  

HK$ HK$ HK$’000

September 2024 256,000 1.04 1.02 265
October 2024 1,994,000 1.24 1.08 2,330
November 2024 928,000 1.22 1.02 1,034
December 2024 3,344,000 1.15 1.00 3,638

Total 6,522,000 7,267

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the 
Company repurchased 6,522,000 of i ts own 
ordinary shares for an aggregate consideration 
of HK$7,267,000 (including transaction costs), 
u t i l i s ing  in te rna l  sources  o f  f inanc ing.  The 
Company intended to hold these shares as 
treasury shares.

28.	SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 13 January 2021, the holders of ordinary shares 
o f  the  Company ( the  “Shareho lders” )  approved 
the adoption of a share option scheme (the “2021 
Scheme”) at the special general meeting.

(b) 

6,522,000
7,267,000

28. 
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Pursuant to the 2021 Scheme, on 13 January 2021, 
the Company granted 27,040,503 share options (the 
“First share options”) with a fair value on the grant date 
of approximately HK$9,804,000 to the Directors, the 
senior management personel, core technical personel 
and key management personel of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. The options are exercisable upon certain 
vesting conditions and shall be vested in proportions of 
40%, 30%, 30% after the second year anniversary, the 
third year anniversary and the fourth year anniversary 
from the grant date respectively. The exercise price 
of all options is HK$1.32 per share and the exercise 
period ends up after 7 years commencing from the 
grant date.

On 24 April 2023, the Company granted 39,833,234 
share opt ions ( the “Second share opt ions”)  with 
a  fa i r  va lue on the grant  date o f  approx imate ly 
H K $ 1 7 , 7 4 6 , 0 0 0  t o  t h e  D i r e c t o r s ,  t h e  s e n i o r 
management personel, core technical personel and 
key management personel of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. The options are exercisable upon certain 
vesting conditions and shall be vested in proportions of 
40%, 30%, 30% after the second year anniversary, the 
third year anniversary and the fourth year anniversary 
from the grant date respectively. The exercise price 
of all options is HK$1.69 per share and the exercise 
period ends up after 7 years commencing from the 
grant date.

On  14  December  2023 ,  the  Company  g ran ted 
4,005,503 share options (the “Third share options”) 
with a fair value on the grant date of approximately 
HK$1,202,000 to the senior management personel, 
core technical personel and key management personel 
of the Company and its subsidiaries. The options are 
exercisable upon certain vesting conditions and shall 
be vested in proportions of 40%, 30%, 30% after the 
second year anniversary, the third year anniversary 
and the fourth year anniversary from the grant date 
respect ive ly.  The exercise pr ice of a l l  opt ions is 
HK$1.38 per share and the exercise period ends up 
after 7 years commencing from the grant date.

27,040,503

9,804,000

40% 30% 30%

1.32

7

39,833,234

17,746,000

40%
30% 30%

1.69

7

4,005,503

1,202,000

40% 30%
30%

1.38

7
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(a)	 Details of the First share options pursuant to 
the 2021 Scheme are as follows:

Grantee Date of grant Exercise Period
Exercise 

Price

Number of 
ordinary shares 

subject to 
outstanding 

options as at 
1 January 2024

Number of 
options forfeited 

during the year

Number of 
ordinary shares 

subject to 
outstanding 

options as at 
31 December 2024

HK$

A Director 13 January 2021 12 January 2028 1.32 1,174,143 — 1,174,143

Employees 13 January 2021 12 January 2028 1.32 19,356,618 (1,809,353) 17,547,265

20,530,761 (1,809,353) 18,721,408
   

Exercisable at the end of the 
year 12,775,000

The share options outstanding at 31 December 
2 0 2 4  h a d  a  w e i g h t e d  a v e r a g e  re m a i n i n g 
contractual life of 3 years (2023: 4 years).

(a) 

3
4
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The fair value of the share option granted in the 
First share options is calculated according to the 
binomial option pricing model. The fair value and 
the main parameters of the model are as follows:

Tranche Grant date Vesting date

Fair Value 

per Option

Share 

price on 

grant date

Exercise 

price of 

options

Expected 

volatility of 

share price

Expected 

dividend 

yield 

(consecutive)

Risk-free 

rate 

(consecutive)

HK$ HK$ HK$ (Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)

i ii iii

First Tranche 13 January 2021 13 January 2023 0.3610 – 0.3703 1.32 1.32 44.94% 5.81% 0.54%

  

Second Tranche 13 January 2021 13 January 2024 0.3570 – 0.3656 1.32 1.32 44.94% 5.81% 0.54%

  

Third Tranche 13 January 2021 13 January 2025 0.3480 – 0.3554 1.32 1.32 44.94% 5.81% 0.54%
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(b)	 Details of the Second share options pursuant 
to the 2021 Scheme are as follows:

Grantee Date of grant
Exercise 
Period

Exercise 
Price

Number of 
ordinary shares 

subject to 
outstanding 

options as at 
1 January 2024

Number of 
options forfeited 

during the year

Number of 
ordinary shares 

subject to 
outstanding 

options as at 
31 December 2024

HK$

A Director 24 April 2023 23 April 2030 1.69 1,912,301 — 1,912,301

Employees 24 April 2023 23 April 2030 1.69 36,008,632 (5,736,918) 30,271,714

37,920,933 (5,736,918) 32,184,015

The share options outstanding at 31 December 
2 0 2 4  h a d  a  w e i g h t e d  a v e r a g e  re m a i n i n g 
contractual life of 5.33 years (2023: 6.33 years).

(b) 

5.33
6.33
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The fair value of the share option granted in the 
Second share options is calculated according to 
the binomial option pricing model. The fair value 
and the main parameters of the model are as 
follows:

Tranche Grant date Vesting date

Fair Value 

per Option

Share 

price on 

grant date

Exercise 

price of 

options

Expected 

volatility of 

share price

Expected 

dividend 

yield 

(consecutive)

Risk-free 

rate 

(consecutive)

HK$ HK$ HK$ (Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)

i ii iii

First Tranche 24 April 2023 24 April 2025 0.4502 1.69 1.69 39.20% 5.75% 3.09%

  

Second Tranche 24 April 2023 24 April 2026 0.4471 1.69 1.69 39.20% 5.75% 3.09%

  

Third Tranche 24 April 2023 24 April 2027 0.4376 1.69 1.69 39.20% 5.75% 3.09%

  



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
合併財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Binhai Investment Company Limited 236

(c)	 Details of the Third share options pursuant to 
the 2021 Scheme are as follows:

Grantee Date of grant
Exercise 
Period

Exercise 
Price

Number of 
ordinary shares 

subject to 
outstanding 

options as at 
1 January 2024

Number of 
options forfeited 

during the year

Number of 
ordinary shares 

subject to 
outstanding 

options as at 
31 December 2024

HK$

Employees 14 December 2023 13 December 2030 1.38 4,005,503 (436,005) 3,569,498

The share options outstanding at 31 December 
2 0 2 4  h a d  a  w e i g h t e d  a v e r a g e  re m a i n i n g 
contractual life of 6 years (2023: 7 years).

(c) 

6 7
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The fair value of the share option granted in the 
Third share options is calculated according to the 
binomial option pricing model. The fair value and 
the main parameters of the model are as follows:

Tranche Grant date Vesting date

Fair Value 

per Option

Share 

price on 

grant date

Exercise 

price of 

options

Expected 

volatility of 

share price

Expected 

dividend 

yield 

(consecutive)

Risk-free 

rate 

(consecutive)

HK$ HK$ HK$ (Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)

i ii iii

First Tranche 14 December 2023 14 December 2025 0.3059 1.34 1.38 39.04% 7.20% 3.20%

  

Second Tranche 14 December 2023 14 December 2026 0.3010 1.34 1.38 39.04% 7.20% 3.20%

  

Third Tranche 14 December 2023 14 December 2027 0.2909 1.34 1.38 39.04% 7.20% 3.20%
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(d)	 The expenses arising from share-based payment 
t ransact ion  recogn ised  in  2024 as  par t  o f 
employee benefit expense were HK$4,925,000 
(2023: HK$5,093,000).

Note:

(i)	 T h e  e x p e c t e d  v o l a t i l i t y  o f  s h a re  p r i c e  i s 
determined by the historical stock price volatility 
of the Company.

(ii)	 The expected dividend yield is determined by 
management’s best estimate on the valuation 
base date.

(iii)	 The risk-free rate is based on the yield of Hong 
Kong government bonds.

(d) 

4,925,000
5,093,000

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
合併財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Annual Report 2024  239

29.	SHARE PREMIUM, CONTRIBUTED 
SURPLUS AND OTHER RESERVES 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS 
OF THE COMPANY

Other reserves

Share 
premium

Contributed 
surplus

Exchange 
reserve

Statutory 
reserves

Employee 
share 

option 
reserve Others

Total of 
other 

reserves

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note i) (Note ii)
i ii

Year ended 31 December 2024  

Balance at 1 January 2024 1,536 40,102 (360,818) 273,555 11,430 5,013 (70,820)
Other comprehensive expenses for 

the year — — (82,089) — — — (82,089)
Dividends provided for and paid – (40,102) – – – – –
Fullfilment of specialised reserve 

(Note iii)
iii

— — — — — (11,269) (11,269)
Stock dividend (Note 30) 30 35,104 — — — — — —
Recognition of equity-settled share-

based payment (Note 28)
 

28 — — — — 4,896 — 4,896
Appropriation of statutory reserves — — — 49,199 — — 49,199

       

At 31 December 2024 36,640 — (442,907) 322,754 16,326 (6,256) (110,083)
       

Year ended 31 December 2023  

At 1 January 2023 175,305 — (292,117) 221,460 6,350 (6,256) (70,563)
Other comprehensive expenses for 

the year — — (68,701) — — — (68,701)
Appropriation of specialised reserve 

(Note iii)
iii

— — — — — 11,269 11,269
Exercise of employee share options 

(Note 28)
28

1,536 — — — — — —
Conversion of share premium to 

contributed surplus (Note iv)
 

iv (175,305) 175,305 — — — — —
Dividend provided for and paid  

(Note 30)
30

— (135,203) — — — — —
Recognition of equity-settled share-

based payment (Note 28)
 

28 — — — — 5,080 — 5,080
Appropriation of statutory reserves — — — 52,095 — — 52,095

       

At 31 December 2023 1,536 40,102 (360,818) 273,555 11,430 5,013 (70,820)
         

29. 
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(i)	 The exchange reserve arose upon translation of 
the consolidated financial statements from the 
functional currency to the presentation currency.

(ii)	 In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations, 
the subsidiaries of the Company established in the 
PRC are required to transfer a certain percentage 
(as determined by the board of directors of each 
of the subsidiaries) of their profits after tax (as 
determined in accordance with the PRC generally 
accepted accounting principles), if any, to the 
statutory reserves. The statutory reserves can be 
used to offset accumulated losses or to increase 
capital upon approval by their respective board 
of  d i rectors.  The statutory reserves are not 
distributable unless the respective subsidiaries in 
the PRC are dissolved.

(iii)	 Pursuant to “Regulations for Withdrawal and 
Use of Expenses for Safety Production Funds of 
Enterprises”, the Company is required to provide 
safety production funds as specialised reserve 
based on revenue from sales of piped natural 
gas and gas passing through serv ice of the 
previous year. These funds were used for repair, 
maintenance and installing safety facilities and 
others. The movement of specialised reserve in 
current year refers to fulfilment of the amount, 
which provided according to relevant laws and 
regulations in previous year. In accordance with 
HKFRS, expenses incurred and recognised to 
this reserve should be recognised as an expense 
in prof i t  or loss. Consequent ly, the f inancial 
performance for the year should be reduced by 
the corresponding amount.

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 
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(iv)	 As at 31 December 2022, the amount standing 
to the credit of the share premium account was 
approximately HK$175,305,000. On 12 May 
2023, the shareholders of the Company approved 
the transfer from share premium account to the 
contributed surplus account which may be utilised 
and applied by the Directors in such manner as 
they consider appropriate from time to time in 
accordance with the applicable laws of Bermuda 
and the Bye-laws.

30.	DIVIDENDS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividend for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 of 
HK$0.076 (2022: HK$0.1) per 
ordinary share declared and 
paid

0.076

0.1 102,827 135,203
    

The f inal dividend of HK$102,827,000 relat ing to 
the year ended 31 December 2023, representing 
HK$7.6 cents per ordinary share was approved by the 
shareholders of the Company at the annual general 
meeting on 10 May 2024. Shareholders was given 
the option to elect to receive the final dividend entirely 
in new ordinary shares, partly in new ordinary shares 
and partly in cash, or entirely in cash. Based on the 
approvement, 30,262,000 ordinary shares was issued 
for a total consideration of HK$38,130,000, and the 
remaining was paid in cash.

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, a dividend 
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 of 
HK$7.6 cents per ordinary share is proposed by the 
Directors in March 2025. This proposed dividend 
is subject to approval by the shareholders of the 
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting. 
These consolidated financial statements do not reflect 
this proposed dividend.

(iv) 

175,305,000

30. 

102,827,000
7.6

30,262,000
38,130,000

7.6
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31.	BORROWINGS

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current
Secured,

— Bank borrowings (Note b)   
b 291,825 1,510,973

— Other borrowings  
(Notes c)

  
c 398,258 548,413

  

690,083 2,059,386
  

Unsecured,
– Syndicated borrowing  

(Note a)
  

a 853,007 —
– Bank borrowings (Note b)   

b 715,082 —
  

1,568,089 —
  

Total non-current borrowings 2,258,172 2,059,386
  

Current
Secured,

— Syndicated borrowing 
(Note a)

  
a — 889,342

— Bank borrowings (Note b)   
b 707,685 631,952

— Other borrowings  
(Note c)

  
c 132,821 189,950

  

840,506 1,711,244
  

Unsecured,
— Syndicated borrowing 

(Note a)
  

a 29,217 —
— Bank borrowings (Note b)   

b 201,629 135,000
  

230,846 135,000

Total current borrowings 1,071,352 1,846,244
  

Total borrowings 3,329,524 3,905,630
    

31. 
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The weighted-average annual interest rate on the 
borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2024 was 
5.14% (2023: 5.48% per annum).

(a)	 Syndicated borrowing

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Syndicated borrowings
— Principal  891,527 892,810
— Unrecognised finance 

fees
 

(9,303) (3,468)

882,224 889,342

In June 2024, the Group’s syndicated borrowing 
in the amount of US$114 mi l l ion (equivalent 
to  approx imate ly  HK$893 mi l l ion )  was due 
and fully repaid. In March 2024, the Company 
entered into a new syndicated term loan facility 
agreement, and subsequently, in June 2024, the 
Company drew down a syndicated borrowing 
of US$85 mil l ion (equivalent to approximately 
HK$664 million) and RMB220 million (equivalent 
to  approx imate ly  HK$235 mi l l i on ) ,  bear ing 
interest at the Secure Overnight Financing Rate 
(“SOFR”) plus 2.35% per annum and fixed at 6% 
per annum, respectively. The new syndicated 
borrowing is guaranteed by Tianjin Clean Energy, 
Binhai T ianjin, Taicheng Energy. Interests are 
payable quarterly and the principal will be due for 
repayment by instalments until June 2026.

5.14%
5.48%

(a) 

114 893

85
664 220

235

SOFR 2.35%
6%
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(b)	 Bank borrowings

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current:
Secured (i) (i) 291,825 1,510,973
Unsecured 715,082 –

1,006,907 1,510,973
  

Current:
Secured (i) (i) 707,685 631,952
Unsecured 201,629 135,000

909,314 766,952

1,916,221 2,277,925

(i)	 The details of secured bank borrowings are 
as below:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

Collateral security or 
guarantor

 

HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured by the rights to 
the earnings of certain 
subsidiaries and certain 
trade receivables 999,510 1,045,754

Guaranteed by subsidiaries 
of the Group

 
– 1,097,171

    

999,510 2,142,925
    

(b) 

(i) 
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(c)	 The details of secured other borrowings are as 
below:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

Collateral security
HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured by equity interest of 
one subsidiary (Note 38)  

38 319,354 329,960
Secured by gas pipeline 

assets with carrying value 
of approximately HK$638 
million (2023: HK$702 
million) (Note*)

638

702

* 211,725 408,403
  

531,079 738,363
    

(c) 
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Note *:

In Apri l and December 2022, T ianj in Clean Energy 
s i g n e d  t w o  f i n a n c e  l e a s e  c o n t r a c t s  w i t h  t w o 
independent financial leasing companies. Pursuant to 
which, Tianjin Clean Energy sold and leased back its 
gas pipeline assets from the financial leasing companies 
with termination options. Details of the transactions are 
as follows:

Net carrying 
values of the 

pipeline assets 
transferred Consideration Lease period Interest rate Lease-back rental

RMB million RMB million RMB million % RMB million

Contract 1 301 300 19 April 2022 to  
19 April 2025

3.8% RMB25 million 
per quarter

1  
 

 

 
25

Transaction 2 337 300 30 December 2022 to 
30 December 2026

4% RMB18.75 million 
per quarter

2  
 

 
18.75

      

638 600       

As the transfer of the pipeline assets does not 
satisfy the requirement to be accounted for as a 
sale of the related assets, the Group continued to 
recognise the transferred assets and recognised a 
financial liability of borrowing equal to the transfer 
proceeds. The financial liability was recognised as 
borrowings and secured by Tianjin Clean Energy 
with the gas pipeline assets.

*
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(d)	 At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s 
borrowings are repayable as follows:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 1 1,071,352 1,846,244
1 to 2 years 1 2 1,430,495 1,008,884
2 to 5 years 2 5 309,582 796,854
Over 5 years 5 518,095 253,648

  

3,329,524 3,905,630
    

(e)	 The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings 
are denominated in the following currencies:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 2,678,406 2,881,288
HK$ — 135,000
US$ 651,118 889,342

  

3,329,524 3,905,630
    

(f)	 The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings 
approximated their fair values.

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 
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32.	DEFERRED INCOME

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Government grants (Note a) a 57,433 56,670
Grants for construction projects 

(Note b)
b

87,832 86,051
  

145,265 142,721
    

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, 
deferred income of HK$13,084,000 and HK$8,121,000 
were recognised to other income, respectively.

(a)	 As at 31 December 2024, government grants 
received by certain subsidiaries of the Group 
o f  a p p ro x i m a t e l y  H K $ 5 7 , 4 3 3 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 2 3 : 
HK$56,670,000) are all relating to certain gas 
pipeline construction projects in improving energy 
use efficiency. Accordingly, the government grants 
are classified as deferred income and released 
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of the relevant gas pipelines 
assets of 30 years.

(b)	 As at 31 December 2024, government grants 
received by certain subsidiaries of the Group for 
gas pipeline construction projects and heating 
construction projects total l ing approximately 
HK$87,832,000 (2023: HK$86,051,000). The 
relevant assets belong to aforesaid subsidiaries 
of the Group, therefore the grants are classified 
as deferred income and will be released to profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of the relevant assets.

32. 

13,084,000 8,121,000

(a) 

57,433,000
56,670,000

30

(b) 

87,832,000
86,051,000
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33.	TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables (Note a) a 647,310 663,227
  

Other payables
— Other payables for property, 

plant and equipment
 

372,595 408,262
— Provisions for legal claim 

(Note b)
 

b — 7,228
— Other tax payables  5,200 9,663
— Payroll payables  29,392 10,516
— Others  143,298 163,578

  

550,485 599,247
Accrued expenses 6,617 62,032

  

Total trade and other payables
1,204,412 1,324,506

Less: Non-current portion 
of trade and other 
payables — (113)

  

Current portion 1,204,412 1,324,393
    

33. 
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(a)	 As at 31 December 2024, the ageing of the trade 
payables based on suppliers’ invoice date is set 
out below:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 90 days 90 174,303 178,588
91-180 days 91 180 51,766 53,039
181-365 days 181 365 101,772 104,275
Over 365 days 365 319,469 327,325

  

647,310 663,227
    

A s  a t  31  December  2024 ,  t r ade  payab les 
o f  app rox ima te l y  HK$319 ,469 ,000  (2023 : 
HK$327,325,000) were aged over one year, 
which are mainly payables in connection with the 
construction and gas pipeline installation projects. 
The balances had yet to be sett led as those 
projects and their final accounts have not yet 
been completed.

(b)	 In October 2023, an unfavourable judgement 
was handed down against the Group in respect 
o f  a  lega l  c la im made by T ian j in  Por t  F ree 
Trade Zone Planning Land and Construct ion 
Transportation Bureau (the “Plaintiff”) in relation 
to a grant contract of land use right. The Group 
has recognised a provision of HK$7,228,000 
during the year ended 31 December 2023 as the 
outcome of the appeal is pending. In June 2024, 
the Group made the payment according to the 
judge.

(a) 

319,469,000
327,325,000

(b) 

7,228,000
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(c)	 The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and 
other payables are denominated in the following 
currencies:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 1,200,573 1,317,310
HK$ 3,839 7,196

  

1,204,412 1,324,506
    

(c) 
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34.	CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a)	 Cash generated from operations

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax 310,359 354,698

Adjustments for:
— Depreciation of property, 

plant and equipment
 

197,942 200,353
— Depreciation of right-of-

use assets
 

17,391 16,831
— Amortisation of 

investment properties
 

243 233
— Amortisation of 

intangible assets
 

5,172 4,327
— Amortisation of deferred 

income
 

(13,084) (8,121)
— Impairment loss on 

property, plant and 
equipment

 

11,762 16,770
— Impairment loss on 

investment in join 
venture

 

5,730 —
— Net gains from 

compensation 
for damaged gas 
stations and pipelines

 

(49,811) (20,367)
— Net gains (loss) on 

disposal of property, 
plant and equipment

 

2,389 (24)
— Net impairment loss 

on financial assets, 
contract assets and 
prepayments

 

11,882 17,548
— Net gains on disposal of 

subsidiaries
 

(1,964) —
  

34. 

(a) 
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2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

— Share of results of an 
associate and joint 
ventures

 

(14,603) (10,769)
— Finance costs  138,559 163,012
— Net foreign exchange 

losses
 

26,610 32,251
— Interest income  (17,862) (6,612)
— Share-based payment 

expenses on grant of 
share options

 

4,925 5,093

Operating cash flows before 
movements in working 
capital:
— Decrease in inventories  3,493 27,578
— Decrease (increase) 

in trade and other 
receivables

 

30,778 (33,281)
— Decrease (increase) in 

contract assets
 

11,775 (2,521)
— Decrease in contract 

liabilities
 

(116,061) (41,325)
— Decrease (increase) 

in trade and other 
payables

 

(27,698) 81,850
— Increase in notes 

receivable
 

(2,943) (28,901)
— Decrease in 

prepayments
 

127,471 118,593
  

Cash generated from 
operations 662,456 887,216
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(b)	 Major non-cash operating activities

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Endorsement and 
assignment of notes 
receivable to suppliers 
for settlement of payable 
balances 24,340 43,872

    

(c)	 Net debt reconciliation

The analysis of net debt is set out below:

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and cash 
equivalents 25 384,045 808,364

Term deposits 26 19,973 127,035
Borrowings — 

repayable within one 
year

 

31 (1,071,352) (1,846,244)
Borrowings — 

repayable after one 
year

 

31 (2,258,172) (2,059,386)
Lease liabilities 17 (12,336) (13,557)

  

Net debt (2,937,842) (2,983,788)
  

Cash and cash 
equivalents 384,045 808,364

Term deposits 19,973 127,035
Gross debts (3,341,860) (3,919,187)

  

Net debt (2,937,842) (2,983,788)
     

(b) 

(c) 
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The movements in net debt for each of the years 
are presented as follows:

Other assets  
Liabilities from   

financing activities  

Cash and 
equivalents

Term 
deposits Borrowings

Lease 
liabilities Total

 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2024  
808,364 127,035 (3,905,630) (13,557) (2,983,788)

Cash flows (397,188) (104,744) 623,627 14,702 136,397
Interest expenses — — (204,609) (967) (205,576)
Increase due to new leases — — — (10,710) (10,710)
Foreign exchange losses — — (26,457) — (26,457)
Currency translation 

differences (27,131) (2,318) 129,291 (1,804) 98,038
Other non-cash movements — — 54,254 — 54,254

     

As at 31 December 2024  
384,045 19,973 (3,329,524) (12,336) (2,937,842)

     

As at 1 January 2023  
845,250 — (3,904,259) (27,584) (3,086,593)

Cash flows (7,022) 128,849 74,773 13,079 209,679
Interest expenses — — (161,982) (1,030) (163,012)
Increase due to new leases — — — (1,419) (1,419)
Foreign exchange losses — — (33,101) — (33,101)
Currency translation 

differences (29,864) (1,814) 145,674 3,397 117,393
Other non-cash movements — — (26,735) — (26,735)

     

As at 31 December 2023  
808,364 127,035  (3,905,630)  (13,557) (2,983,788)
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35.	COMMITMENTS

(a)	 Capital commitments

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided 
for

— Property, plant and 
equipment

 
307,959 403,409

    

Except for the commitment disclosed above, the 
Company entered a letter of intent for a potential 
acquis i t ion in October 2024, and the deta i l 
information is included in the announcement 
dated 10 March 2025.

36.	BUSINESS COMBINATION

Acquisition of businesses during the year ended 
31 December 2023

On 29 December 2022, a wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Company, Lishui BH, entered into an equity 
transaction agreement with the equity owners (the 
“Sel lers”)  of  Nanj ing J inping, pursuant to which, 
L i shu i  BH ag reed  to  acqu i re  the  en t i re  equ i t y 
interests of Nanjing Jinping at a total consideration 
of  RMB26,981,065 (equiva lent  to approx imate ly 
HK$30,099,000). Nanjing Jinping is primarily engaged 
in piped natural gas supply and construction and gas 
pipeline installation services in the Nanjing area.

35. 

(a) 

36. 

26,981,065

30,099,000
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Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets 
acquired are as follows:

HK$’000

Purchase consideration:
Cash paid 30,099

   

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the 
acquisition are as follows:

Fair value

HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 11,072
Inventories 111
Trade and other receivables 2,433
Prepayments 892
Trade and other payables (7,301)
Deferred tax liabilities (1,294)
Operating rights 24,186

 

Net identifiable assets acquired 30,099
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37.	DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 
December 2024

Disposal date Company disposed

Registered 
capital 

disposed Consideration

HK$’000

25 April 2024 Funing TEDA 100.00% 10,878

100.00% 10,878
6 November 2024 Haiyang Company (i) 100.00% —

(i) 100.00% —

The net assets of Funing TEDA at the date of disposal 
were as follows:

HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 20,692
Right-of-use assets 227
Inventories 1,005
Trade and other receivables 4,730
Cash and cash equivalents 158
Trade and other payables (17,898)

 

Net assets disposed of 8,914
   

37. 
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The gain on disposal of subsidiaries recognised in profit 
or loss was calculated as below:

HK$’000

Consideration received 10,878
Less: Net assets disposed of (8,914)

 

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 1,964
 

Net cash inflow arising from the 
disposal:

Cash consideration received 10,878
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed 

of (158)
 

10,720
   

(i)	 Ha i yang  Company  was  de reg i s te red  on  6 
November 2024.

(i) 
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38.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The ultimate parent of the Group’s largest shareholder, 
TEDA HK, is TEDA, a state-owned enterprise under 
superv i s ion  o f  the  T ian j i n  S ta te-owned Asse ts 
Supervision and Administrat ion Commission. The 
u l t ima te  pa ren t  o f  the  Group ’s  second l a rges t 
shareholder, Great Wall Energy HK is China Petroleum 
& Chemical Corporation (“Sinopec”), a state-owned 
enterprise under supervision of the State-owned Assets 
Supervision and Administrat ion Commission. The 
Group operates in an economic environment currently 
predominated by entities controlled, jointly controlled 
or significantly influenced by the PRC government (the 
“government-related entities”).

Accordingly, the Group is a government-related entity in 
accordance with HKAS 24 Related Parties Disclosures. 
In addition to those mentioned elsewhere in these 
consolidated financial statements, the followings are 
signif icant related party transactions entered into 
between the Group, its related parties and other PRC 
government-related entities.

38. 

24
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(a)	 The Company’s two largest shareholders and their 
ultimate parents are as follow:

Relationship with 
the Company

Place of 
incorporation

Ownership interest

Name 2024 2023

% %

TEDA HK The largest 
shareholder

PRC 37.87 36.24

37.87 36.24

TEDA The ultimate parent of 
TEDA HK

PRC 42.08 40.32

42.08 40.32

Great Wall Energy HK The second largest 
shareholder

Hong Kong SAR 29.45 29.97

29.45 29.97

Sinopec The ultimate parent of 
Great Wall Energy 
HK

PRC 29.45 29.97

29.45 29.97

     

(a) 
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(b)	 Transactions with related parties

(i)	 Sales of piped natural gas

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
TEDA 172,244 212,109

Associates 160,896 24,181
Entities controlled by 

Sinopec 1,666 1,709
Joint ventures — 9,814
Other related parties 3,559 4,302

  

338,365 252,115
    

(ii)	 Construction and gas pipeline 
installation service income

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
TEDA 2,919 24,385

Entities controlled by 
Sinopec — 14

Other related parties 5,583 133
  

8,502 24,532
    

(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 
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(iii)	 Gas passing through service income

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Joint ventures — 68
    

(iv)	 Rental income

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
TEDA — 453

Joint ventures 595 354
  

595 807
    

(v)	 Purchases of gas

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
Sinopec 1,228,894 2,131,360

Joint ventures — 486
  

1,228,894 2,131,846
    

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 
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(vi)	 Purchases of gasoline and others

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
Sinopec 1,689 1,702

    

(vii)	 Interest expenses

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
Sinopec 13,024 21,600

    

(viii)	Other service expenses

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
TEDA 25,337 8,888

Joint ventures — 193
Associates 23 22
Other related parties 510 45

  

25,870 9,148
    

The Group’s pricing on sales and purchases 
of piped natural gas with related parties are 
based on the reference price stipulated by 
the local government. Other transactions 
were entered into at terms as agreed with 
the related parties in the ordinary course of 
business.

(vi) 

(vii) 

(viii) 
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(c)	 Balances with related parties

(i)	 Trade and other receivables

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
TEDA 5,467 10,916

Entities controlled by 
Sinopec 342 2,834

Associates 411 4
Joint ventures 21 11
Other related parties 5,325 55

  

11,566 13,820
    

(ii)	 Prepayments

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
Sinopec 43,494 131,555

Entities controlled by 
TEDA 3,730 —

  

47,224 131,555
    

(c) 

(i) 

(ii) 
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(iii)	 Trade and other payables

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
TEDA 6,165 46

Entities controlled by 
Sinopec 1,897 21

Joint ventures — 2,940
Other related parties 139 2

  

8,201 3,009
    

(iv)	 Contract liabilities

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
TEDA 13,125 19,061

Associates 2,380 1
Entities controlled by 

Sinopec 263 2,009
Other related parties 644 72

  

16,412 21,143
    

(iii) 

(iv) 
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(v)	 Borrowings

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Entities controlled by 
Sinopec

 
319,354 329,960

    

(d)	 Transactions/balances with other state-
owned enterprises in the PRC

Apart from transactions with related parties as 
disclosed in Note 38(b), the Group also has 
transactions with other state-controlled entities 
which include, but are not limited to, the following:

—	 sales and purchases of piped natural gas;

—	 construction and gas pipeline installation 
service;

—	 lease of assets, purchase of pipe materials 
and property, plant and equipment;

—	 placing deposits and obtaining finance; and

—	 use of public utilities

(v) 

(d) 

38(b)

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 
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These transactions are conducted in the ordinary 
cou rse  o f  t he  G roup ’s  bus iness  on  t e rms 
comparable to those with other entities that are 
not state controlled. The Group has established 
its procurement policies, pricing strategy and 
approval process for purchases and sales of 
products and services which do not depend on 
whether the counterparties are state-controlled 
entities or not.

(e)	 Compensation of key management personnel

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term employee 
benefits 7,321 6,856

Share-based payments 1,299 873
Retirement benefits 252 245

  

8,872 7,974
    

(e) 
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39.	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION AND RESERVE 
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 1,510,298 1,570,173
Amounts due from 

subsidiaries 459,645 315,014
  

1,969,943 1,885,187
  

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 28,009 20,646

  

Total assets 1,997,952 1,905,833
  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 282,325 330,299

— Ordinary shares  138,325 135,299
— Redeemable 

preferences shares
 

144,000 195,000

Treasury stock (7,267) —
Share premium (a) 36,640 1,536
Contributed surplus (a) — 40,102
Other reserves (a) (87,501) (99,962)
Accumulated losses (a) (141,508) (315,580)

  

Total equity/(Deficit on 
total equity)

 
82,689 (43,605)

  

39. 
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31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 853,007 618,323

  

Current liabilities
Borrowings 29,217 1,252,333
Trade and other payables  

58,037 78,782
Amount due to subsidiaries 975,002 —

  

1,062,256 1,331,115
  

Total liabilities 1,915,263 1,949,438
  

Total equity and liabilities 1,997,952 1,905,833
     

The statement of financial position of the Company was 
approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 
21 March 2025 and was signed on its behalf:

  

Zhang Wang Gao Liang

Director Director
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(a)	 Share premium, contributed surplus, other 
reserves and accumulated losses movements 
of the Company

Other reserves

Share 
premium

Contributed 
surplus

Exchange 
reserve

Employee 
share 

option 
reserve Others Total

Accumulated 
losses

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 
December 2023

At 1 January 2023
175,305 — (114,948) 6,393 4,091 (104,464) (188,418)

Loss for the year — — — — — — (127,162)
Other comprehensive 

income — — (591) — — (591) —
Grant of employees 

share options — — — 5,093 — 5,093 —
Exercise of employee 

share options 1,536 — — — — — —
Conversion of 

share premium to 
contributed surplus 
(Note 29)

 
 

29
(175,305) 175,305 — — — — —

Dividends provided for 
and paid

 
— (135,203) — — — — —

       

At 31 December 2023  
1,536 40,102 (115,539) 11,486 4,091 (99,962) (315,580)

Profit for the year – – – – – – 236,797
Other comprehensive 

income – – 7,565 – – 7,565 –
Recognition of equity-

settled share-based 
payment – – – 4,896 – 4,896 –

Stock dividend 35,104 – – – – – (38,130)
Dividends provided for 

and paid
 

– (40,102) – – – – (24,595)
– (40,102) – – – – (24,595)

At 31 December 2024  
36,640 – (107,974) 16,382 4,091 (87,501) (141,508)

(a) 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
合併財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Binhai Investment Company Limited 272

40.	BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES 
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF 
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES 
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES 
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 
ABOUT BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) 
REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK 
LISTING RULES)

(a)	 The Directors’ and senior management’s 
emoluments

Name of Directors Fees Salary
Discretionary 

bonuses

Employer’s 
contribution 

retirement 
benefit 

scheme
Other 

benefits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2024
Executives
Mr. Hu Hao (ii) (ii) 393 — — — — 393
Mr. Zhang Wang (iii) (iii) 10 — — — — 10
Mr. Wang Xin (iv) (iv) 400 — — — — 400
Mr. Gao Liang (v) (v) 200 259 651 50 533 1,693

      

1,003 259 651 50 533 2,496
      

Non-executive
Mr. Wang Gang (vi) (vi) 47 — — — — 47
Mr. Shen Hong Liang 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Yu Ke Xiang 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Zhang Chang 

Liang (vii)
(vii)

73 22 — 6 21 122
      

520 22 — 6 21 569
      

Independent non-
executive

Mr. IP Shing Hing, 
B.B.S., J.P. 264 — — — — 264

Mr. Lau Siu Ki, Kevin 264 — — — — 264
Professor Japhet 

Sebastian Law 264 — — — — 264
Dr. Tang Lai Wah (viii) (viii) 264 — — — — 264

      

1,056 — — — — 1,056
      

Total 2,579 281 651 56 554 4,121

40. 
622

383

622G
 

 
 
 

(a) 
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Name of Directors Fees Salary
Discretionary 

bonuses

Employer’s 
contribution 

retirement 
benefit 

scheme
Other 

benefits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2023
Executives
Mr. Hu Hao (ii) (ii) 400 — — — — 400
Mr. Zuo Zhi Min (ix) (ix) 221 — — — — 221
Mr. Wang Xin (iv) (iv) 182 — — — — 182
Mr. Gao Liang (v) (v) 200 404 309 49 466 1,428

      

1,003 404 309 49 466 2,231
      

Non-executive
Mr. Wang Gang (vi) (vi) 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Shen Hong Liang 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Yu Ke Xiang 200 — — — — 200

      

600 — — — — 600
      

Independent non-
executive

Mr. IP Shing Hing, 
B.B.S., J.P. 264 — — — — 264

Mr. Lau Siu Ki, Kevin 264 — — — — 264
Professor Japhet 

Sebastian Law 264 — — — — 264
Dr. Tang Lai Wah (viii) (viii) 168 — — — — 168

      

960 — — — — 960
      

Total 2,563 404 309 49 466 3,791

(i)	 Certain Execut ive Directors are ent i t led 
to bonus which is determined based on 
a formula that takes into considerat ion 
the prof i t  attr ibutable to the Company’s 
shareholders after certain adjustment.

(ii)	 Mr. Hu Hao resigned as the Chairman of 
the Board and an executive director of the 
Company on 23 December 2024.

(i) 

(ii) 
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(iii)	 Mr.  Zhang Wang was appointed as the 
Chairman of the Board and an executive 
director of the Company on 23 December 
2024.

(iv)	 Mr. Wang Xin was appointed as the Vice 
Chairman of the Board and an executive 
director of the Company on 19 July 2023.

(v)	 Mr. Gao Liang is also the chief executive of 
the Company and his emolument as chief 
executive is included in above.

(vi)	 Mr. Wang Gang resigned as a non-executive 
director of the Company on 25 March 2024.

(vii)	 Mr. Zhang Chang Liang was appointed as a 
non-executive director of the Company on 
21 August 2024.

(viii)	 Dr.  Tang Lai  Wah was appointed as an 
independent non-executive director of the 
Company on 12 May 2023.

(ix)	 Mr.  Zuo  Zh i  M in  res igned  as  the  V ice 
Chairman of the Board and an executive 
director of the Company on 19 July 2023.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments or 
received any compensation for loss of office in 
connection with the management of the affairs of 
any member of the Group or as inducement to 
join the Company during both years.

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) 

(vii) 

(viii) 

(ix) 
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41.	SUMMARY OF OTHER MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
INFORMATION

The following other accounting policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

41.1	Principles of consolidation and equity 
accounting

(i)	 Subsidiaries

The conso l idated f inanc ia l  s ta tements 
incorporate the financial statements of the 
Company and ent i t ies control led by the 
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is 
achieved where the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the 
investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect 
its returns.

T h e  G r o u p  r e a s s e s s e s  w h e t h e r  o r 
not  i t  contro ls  an investee i f  facts and 
c i rcumstances  ind ica te  tha t  the re  a re 
changes  to  one  o r  more  o f  t he  t h ree 
elements of control listed above.

41. 
 

41.1  

(i) 

• 

• 

• 
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Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when 
the Group obtains control over the subsidiary 
and ceases when the Group loses control 
o f  the subs id iary .  Spec i f ica l l y ,  income 
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included 
in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income from 
the date the Group gains control until the 
date when the Group ceases to control the 
subsidiary.

P ro f i t  o r  l oss  and  each  i t em o f  o the r 
comprehensive income are attributed to the 
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive 
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the 
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in 
the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to 
the financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies in line with the 
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, 
income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group 
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Non-control l ing interests in subsidiar ies 
are presented separately from the Group’s 
equity therein, which represent present 
ownership interests entitling their holders to 
a proportionate share of net assets of the 
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

(ii)	 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the 
Group has significant influence. Significant 
influence is the power to participate in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of 
the investee but is not control or joint control 
over those policies.

(iii)	 Joint vetures

A jo in t  ven tu re  i s  a  jo in t  a r rangement 
whereby the parties that have joint control 
of the arrangement have rights to the net 
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control 
is the contractually agreed sharing of control 
of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control.

(ii) 

(iii) 
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(iv)	 Equity method

The results and assets and l iabi l i t ies of 
associates or joint ventures are incorporated 
in these consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of account ing. 
The financial statements of associates and 
joint ventures used for equity accounting 
pu rposes  a re  p repa red  us ing  un i fo rm 
accounting policies as those of the Group 
for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances. Under the equity method, an 
investment in an associate or a joint venture 
is init ial ly recognised in the consolidated 
statement  o f  f inanc ia l  pos i t ion at  cost 
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the 
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of the associate or 
joint venture. Changes in net assets of the 
associate or joint venture other than profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income 
are not accounted for unless such changes 
resulted in changes in ownership interest 
he ld  by  the  Group.  When the  Group’s 
share of losses of an associate or a joint 
venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that 
associate or joint venture (which includes 
any long-term interests that, in substance, 
form part of the Group’s net investment in 
the associate or joint venture), the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further 
losses. Additional losses are recognised only 
to the extent that the Group has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate or joint 
venture.

(iv) 
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An investment in an associate or a joint 
venture is accounted for using the equity 
method from the date on which the investee 
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On 
acquisition of the investment in an associate 
or a joint venture, any excess of the cost 
of the investment over the Group’s share of 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets 
and liabilities of the investee is recognised 
as goodwil l, which is included within the 
carry ing amount of the investment. Any 
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 
over  the  cost  o f  the  investment ,  a f te r 
reassessment, is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss in the period in which the 
investment is acquired.

When a group ent i ty  t ransacts wi th an 
associate or a joint venture of the Group, 
p r o f i t s  o r  l o s s e s  r e s u l t i n g  f r o m  t h e 
transact ions with the associate or jo int 
venture are recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements only to the extent of 
interests in the associate or joint venture that 
are not related to the Group.

The carrying amount of the interest in an 
associate or a joint venture is tested for 
impairment in accordance with the policy 
described in Note 42.4.

42.4



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
合併財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Binhai Investment Company Limited 280

41.2	Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for 
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct 
attributable costs of investment. The results of 
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company 
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

41.3	Foreign currency translation

(i)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements 
of each of the group entities are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the 
“functional currency”).

(ii)	 Transactions and balances

In preparing the f inancial  statements of 
each individual group entity, transactions 
in  currenc ies other  than the funct iona l 
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) 
are recognised at the rates of exchanges 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. 
At the end of the reporting period, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that 
date.

E x c h a n g e  d i f f e re n c e s  a r i s i n g  o n  t h e 
se t t lement  o f  monetary  i tems,  and on 
the retranslat ion of monetary i tems, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise.

41.2 

41.3 

(i) 

(ii) 



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
合併財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Annual Report 2024  281

(iii)	 Group companies

F o r  t h e  p u r p o s e s  o f  p r e s e n t i n g  t h e 
consolidated financial statements, the assets 
and liabilities of the Group’s operations are 
translated into the presentation currency 
of the Group ( i .e. HK$) using exchange 
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting 
period. Income and expenses i tems are 
translated at the average exchange rates for 
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate 
signif icantly during that period, in which 
case the exchange rates at the date of 
transactions are used. Exchange differences 
ar is ing,  i f  any,  are recognised in  other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity under the heading of other reserves 
(attributed to non-controll ing interests as 
appropriate).

41.4	Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired.

Other assets are tested for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately 
ident i f i ab le  cash  in f lows wh ich  a re  la rge ly 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets 
or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets 
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment 
a re  re v i ewed  f o r  poss ib l e  re ve r sa l  o f  t he 
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(iii) 

41.4 
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41.5	Investments and other financial assets

(i)	 Classification

Financial assets that meet the fol lowing 
conditions are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost:

•	 the f inancia l  asset is held with in a 
business model whose objective is to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractua l  terms g ive r ise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.

(ii)	 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial 
asse ts  a re  recogn ised  on  t rade-da te , 
the date on which the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets 
are derecognised when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the 
Group has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership.

41.5 

(i) 

• 

• 

(ii) 
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(iii)	 Measurement

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the 
effective interest method for financial assets 
measured subsequently at amortised cost. 
Interest income is calculated by applying 
the effect ive in terest  rate to the gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset, except 
for financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit-impaired (see below). For 
f inancial  assets that have subsequent ly 
become credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest 
rate to the amortised cost of the financial 
asset from the next reporting period. If the 
credit-risk on the credit impaired financial 
instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest 
i ncome i s  recogn ised  by  app ly ing  the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of  the f inanc ia l  asset  f rom the 
beginning of the reporting period following 
the determination that the asset is no longer 
credit-impaired.

(iv)	 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking 
basis the expected credit losses associated 
with its financial assets carried at amortised 
cost and contract assets.

For trade receivables and contract assets, 
the Group applies the simplified approach 
permit ted by HKFRS 9,  which requi res 
expected lifetime losses to be recognised 
from initial recognition of the receivables and 
contract assets, see Note 3.1(b) for further 
details.

(iii) 

(iv) 

9

3.1(b)



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
合併財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Binhai Investment Company Limited 284

41.6	Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has 
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group 
will be required to settle that obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the 
best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 
When a provision is measured using the cash 
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows (when the effect of the time value of 
money is material).

41.7	Employee benefits

(i)	 Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries that are 
expected to be sett led whol ly within 12 
months after the end of the period in which 
the employees render the related service are 
recognised in respect of employees’ services 
up to the end of the reporting period and 
are measured at the amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The 
liabilities are presented as current employee 
benef i t  ob l igat ions in  the statement  of 
financial position.

41.6 

41.7 

(i) 

12
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(ii)	 Accounting policies of retirement 
benefits

In accordance with the rules and regulations 
in the PRC, the PRC based employees of 
the Group part icipate in various defined 
con t r i bu t i on  re t i remen t  bene f i t  p l ans 
organised by the relevant municipal and 
provincial governments in the PRC under 
wh ich  the  Group  and  the  PRC based 
employees are required to make monthly 
contributions to these plans calculated as a 
percentage of the employees’ salaries.

The municipal and provincial governments 
undertake to assume the retirement benefit 
obligations of all existing and future retired 
PRC based employees’ payable under the 
plans described above. The assets of these 
plans are held separately from those of the 
Group in independently administrated funds 
managed by the PRC government.  The 
Group also provide an commercial annuity 
insurance for i ts employees from 2020. 
Other than the monthly contributions and 
the commercial contributions, the Group 
has no further obligation for the payment of 
retirement and other post-retirement benefits 
of its employees.

(ii)  
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41.8	Property, plant and equipment

Property ,  p lant  and equipment  is  s tated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment (if any). Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the items.

Construction in progress represents property, 
p lant  and equipment under construct ion or 
pending installation, and is stated at cost less 
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs 
o f  const ruct ion,  inc lud ing bor rowing costs 
attributable to the construction during the period 
of construction. No provision for depreciation is 
made on construction in progress until such time 
as the relevant assets are completed and ready 
for intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of any component accounted for as a 
separate asset is derecognised when replaced. 
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 
profit or loss during the reporting period in which 
they are incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.

An asset’s carry ing amount is wr i t ten down 
immediately to i ts recoverable amount i f  the 
asset ’s  car ry ing amount  is  greater  than i ts 
estimated recoverable amount (Note 42.4).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These 
are included in profit or loss.

41.8 

42.4
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41.9	Leases

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group 
recognises and measures the lease liability at the 
present value of lease payments that are unpaid 
at that date.

The lease payments include:

•	 f ixed payments ( inc luding in-substance 
fixed payments), less any lease incentives 
receivable,

•	 variable lease payments that are based on 
an index or a rate, initially measured using 
the index or rate as at the commencement 
date, and

•	 amounts expected to be payable by the 
Group under residual value guarantees.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities 
are adjusted by interest accret ion and lease 
payments.

41.9 

• 

• 

• 
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The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes 
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use assets) whenever:

•	 the lease term has changed or there is a 
change in the assessment of exercise of a 
purchase option, in which case the related 
lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

•	 the lease payments change due to changes 
in market rental rates following a market 
rent review, in which cases the related lease 
liabil ity is remeasured by discounting the 
revised lease payments using the in i t ia l 
discount rate.

The cost of right-of-use assets:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of 
lease liability,

•	 any lease payments made at  or  before 
the commencement date less any lease 
incentives received, and

•	 any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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41.10	Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current 
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit 
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before 
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
because of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liabil ity for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period.

De f e r red  t a x  i s  recogn i sed  on  t empo ra r y 
differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial 
statements and the corresponding tax base used 
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary 
difference to the extent that is probable that 
taxable profits wil l be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition (other than in 
a business combination) of assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable 
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time 
of the transaction does not give rise to equal 
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In 
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised 
if the temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill.

41.10 
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable 
temporary difference associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and interests in associates and 
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 
tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and 
interests are only recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable 
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the 
temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liability is settled or the asset 
is recognised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.
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The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and 
assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
fo l low f rom the manner in which the Group 
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 
recover or sett le the carrying amounts of i ts 
assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legal ly enforceable r ight to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and when they relate to income taxes levied to 
the same taxable entity by the same taxation 
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit 
or loss, except when it relates to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or 
direct ly in equity, in which case, the current 
and deferred tax are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or  d i rect ly  in  equi ty 
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax 
ar ises from ini t ia l  account ing for a business 
combination, the tax effect is included in the 
accounting for the business combination.
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41.11	Inventories

Inventories mainly comprising pipeline and other 
mater ia ls  for  construct ion and gas p ipe l ine 
installation service and gases, are stated at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, being 
cost of purchase, is determined on a weighted-
ave rage  bas i s .  Ne t  rea l i sab le  va lue  i s  the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale.

41.12	Trade and other receivables

Tr a d e  re c e i v a b l e s  a re  a m o u n t s  d u e  f ro m 
customers for goods sold or services performed 
in the ordinary course of business. If collection 
of trade and other receivables is expected in 
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle 
of the business if longer), they are classified as 
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised 
initially at the amount of consideration that is 
uncondit ional unless they contain signif icant 
f inancing components. The Group holds the 
trade and other receivables with the objective of 
collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore 
measures them subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

41.11 

41.12 
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41.13	Share-based payments

E q u i t y - s e t t l e d  s h a re - b a s e d  p a y m e n t s  t o 
employees and others providing similar services 
(the “Share Option Scheme”) are measured at the 
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant 
date.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the Share 
Option Scheme is recognised as an employee 
benefits expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity. The total amount to be expensed is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the 
options granted:

•	 including any market performance conditions 
(e.g. the entity’s share price)

•	 excluding the impact of any service and 
non-market performance vesting conditions 
(e.g. profitability, sales growth targets and 
remaining an employee of the entity over a 
specified time period), and

•	 including the impact of any non-vesting 
c o n d i t i o n s  ( e . g .  t h e  r e q u i r e m e n t  f o r 
employees to save or hold shares for a 
specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting 
period, which is the period over which all of the 
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. 
At the end of each period, the entity revises 
its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting 
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of 
the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or 
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

41.13 

• 

• 

• 
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41.14	Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. 
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities 
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan 
to the extent that it is probable that some or all of 
the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the 
fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To 
the extent there is no evidence that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, 
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity 
services and amortised over the period of the 
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of 
financial position when the obligation specified in 
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
The difference between the carrying amount of 
a financial liability that has been extinguished or 
transferred to another party and the consideration 
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss 
as finance costs.

Borrowings are classif ied as current l iabil it ies 
unless the Group has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the l iabil ity for at least 12 
months after the reporting period.

41.14 

12
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41.15	Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs d i rect ly  at t r ibutable to the 
acqu is i t i on ,  cons t ruc t ion  o r  p roduct ion  o f 
q u a l i f y i n g  a s s e t s ,  w h i c h  a re  a s s e t s  t h a t 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to 
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added 
to the cost of those assets until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended 
use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding 
after the related asset is ready for its intended use 
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool 
for calculation of capitalisation rate on general 
borrowings.Investment income earned on the 
temporary investment of specif ic borrowings 
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred.

41.16	Government grants

Government grants are not recognised unt i l 
there is reasonable assurance that the Group will 
comply with the conditions attaching to them and 
that the grants will be received.

41.15 

41.16 
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41.17	Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other 
payables are presented as current l iabil it ies if 
payment is due within one year or less (or in the 
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). 
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 
They are recognised initially at their fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

41.18	Business combination

A business is an integrated set of activities and 
assets which includes an input and a substantive 
process that together signif icantly contribute 
to the abil ity to create outputs. The acquired 
processes are considered substantive i f they 
are critical to the ability to continue producing 
outputs, including an organised workforce with 
the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to 
perform the related processes or they significantly 
contribute to the ability to continue producing 
outputs and are considered unique or scarce 
or cannot be replaced without significant cost, 
effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing 
outputs.

Acquisit ions of businesses are accounted for 
using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured 
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of 
the acquisit ion-date fair values of the assets 
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by 
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree 
and the equity interests issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or 
loss as incurred.

The identif iable assets acquired and liabil it ies 
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset 
and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) 
except for transactions and events within the 
scope o f  HKAS 37 Prov is ions ,  Cont ingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 Levies, in which the Group applies HKAS 
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual 
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed 
in a business combination. Contingent assets are 
not recognised.

41.17 

41.18 
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets 
a c q u i re d  a n d  t h e  l i a b i l i t i e s  a s s u m e d  a re 
recognised at their fair value, except that:

•	 deferred tax assets or liabilities, and liabilities 
o r  asse ts  re la ted  to  emp loyee  bene f i t 
arrangements are recognised and measured 
in accordance with HKAS 12 and HKAS 19 
Employee Benefits respectively;

•	 l iab i l i t ies  or  equ i ty  inst ruments re lated 
to share-based payment ar rangements 
of the acquiree or share-based payment 
arrangements of the Group entered into to 
replace share-based payment arrangements 
of the acquiree are measured in accordance 
with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date;

•	 assets (or disposal groups) that are classified 
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations are measured in 
accordance with that standard; and

•	 lease liabilities are recognised and measured 
at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if 
the acquired leases were new leases at the 
acquisition date, except for leases for which 
the lease term ends within 12 months of 
the acquisition date. Right-of-use assets 
are recognised and measured at the same 
amount as the re levant lease l iabi l i t ies, 
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable 
terms of the lease when compared with 
market terms.

• 

12
19

• 

2

• 
5

• 

16
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Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum 
of the consideration transferred, the amount of 
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and 
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the 
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired 
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. 
If, after re-assessment, the net amounts of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, 
the amount of any non-controll ing interests in 
the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the 
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss 
as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-con t ro l l i ng  i n te res ts  tha t  a re  p resen t 
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s 
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially 
measured a t  the  non-cont ro l l i ng  in te res ts ’ 
proportionate share of the recognised amounts 
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair 
value. The choice of measurement basis is made 
on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group 
in a business combination includes a contingent 
cons iderat ion ar rangement ,  the cont ingent 
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date 
fair value and included as part of the consideration 
transferred in a business combination. Changes 
in the fair value of the contingent consideration 
that qualify as measurement period adjustments 
are  ad justed re t rospect ive ly .  Measurement 
period adjustments are adjustments that arise 
from additional information obtained during the 
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one 
year from the acquisition date) about facts and 
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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If the initial accounting for a business combination 
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period 
in which the combinat ion occurs, the Group 
reports provisional amounts for the items for 
which the account ing is  incomplete.  Those 
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively 
during the measurement period (which cannot 
exceed one year from the acquisition date), and 
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to 
reflect new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date 
that, if known, would have affected the amounts 
recognised at that date.
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Five-Year Financial Summary
五年財務摘要

The following table summarized the results, assets and 
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December 
2024.

Year ended 
31 December 

2024

Year ended 
31 December 

2023

Year ended 
31 December 

2022

Year ended
31 December

2021

Year ended
31 December

2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 6,197,801 6,406,681 6,102,638 4,842,926 3,653,866
     

Profit attributable to owners 
of the Company

 
199,775 256,612 325,833 399,659 354,904

       

31 December 
2024

31 December 
2023

31 December 
2022

31 December
2021

31 December
2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 7,749,788 8,590,782 8,570,664 8,179,625 7,094,864

Total liabilities 5,445,642 6,270,231 6,284,678 5,856,838 5,095,089

Equity attributable to owner 
of the Company

 
2,221,739 2,233,390 2,220,970 2,252,351 1,941,824

Non-controlling interest 82,407 87,161 65,016 70,436 57,951
     



(Incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability)
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